

# **Original** Article(s)

<b>Evaluation of consistency rate between clinical and histopathological diagnosis of oral soft tissue lesions</b> Negin Ronasi, Setareh Shojaei, Ghodratollah Roshanaiee, Reza Taghiollahi, Shokoofeh Jamshidi219-225
<b>Lifestyle and hypertension in rural population of Tangestan town, Iran</b> Mohamad Yandarani, Morteza Mansourian, Akram Ansarifar, Fatemeh Mohamadi, Omid Safari, Javad Yousefi, Razieh Pirouzeh226-232
The frequency of substance abuse tendency and its related factors among high school students in Divandarreh City, Iran, in year 2018 Pooya Valizadeh-Ardalan, Hero Yazdanpanah, Karo Servatyari, Nabi Mardani, Milad Parkalian
<b>Cutaneous reactions to carbamazepine in children with epilepsy</b> Asma Zamiri, Sepide Amoiyan, Sina Mostafavi-Toroghi, Mahdi Babaei-Hatkehlouei, Amirhossein Moaddabi, Mehran Ebrahimzadeh-Hassanabadi, Tahereh Bakhshi
Hope measurement questionnaire for family members of patients admitted to intensive care units Fouad Rahimi, Abbas Ebadi, Fatemeh Oskoie
<b>The comparison of executive functions between active users of methamphetamine and those in abstinence phase</b> Bijan Pirnia, Mona Moradi, Rahman Sheikhi, Parastoo Malekanmehr, Fahimeh Mardan, Paria Sadeghi252-257
Early maladaptive schema, emotion regulation, and general health in prisoner and non-prisoner men: A comparative study Reza Davoodi, Shahrbanoo Ghahari
Saphenous vein versus total arterial graft in coronary artery bypass graft Karzan Saieamend Hamad Palani, Bashar Hanna Azar, Chalak Abdulsamad Ismael
Reducing chronic medical complications due to failure of patient safety using Standardized Plant Analysis Risk-Human Reliability Analysis (SPAR-H) method
Monammad Reza Modabber, Batoul Anmadi, Ali Monammad Mosadeghrad       2/2-2/8         The approach of futures studies based on scenario planning: A case study of health services in Sanandaj City, Iran         Kumars Ahmadi, Farid Yousefinejad, Rozhin Mehrabani, Mehran Amini       279-287
Short Communication(s)
The relationship between handedness and academic achievement in high school students of Sanandaj City, Iran Boshra Vahabi, Ahmad Vahabi, Masoud Moradi, Sirvan Sayyad, Mahin Ahmadian, Abdolvahed Narmashiri

# Images in Clinical Medicine

Gastric varices: Endoscopic view	
Mohsen Rajabnia, Jalal Naghshbandi	

Indexes NLM Catalog Islamic World Science Citation Database (ISC) **Index Copernicus** Google Scholar

# Jour Informatics Magiran Directory of Research Journals Indexing Barakatkins **Research Bible**

# Chronic Diseases Journal Chronic Diseases





# 2019 / eISSN: 2345-2226/ pISSN: 2588-7297



Kurdistan Univercity of Medical Sciences



# Editorial Team

Fariba Farhadifar

Professor, Social Determinates of Health

Research Center AND Department of

Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kurdistan

University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran SCIENTIFIC CONSULTANT

### CHAIRMAN

Tayeb Ghadimi Associate Professor, Department of Surgery, Vice Deputy and General Manager, Deputy of Treatment, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Alireza Gharib

PhD, Deputy of Research and Technology, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Mohammad Aziz Rasouli

MSc in Epidemiology, Vice Chancellor for Education and Research,

Kowsar Hospital, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences,

Sanandaj, Iran

MANAGING EDITOR Azad Shokri

Assistant Professor, Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Research Institute for Health Development, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

### Shahram Sadeghi

MSc, Spiritual Health Research Center, Research Institute for Health Development, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

### STATISTICAL ADVISERS

EXECUTIVE COLLEAGUE

**Bushra Zareie** 

MSc in Statistics, Chancellor for Educational and Research, Kowsar Hospital and Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Research Institute for Health Development, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Samaneh Rouhi

PhD, Cellular & Molecular Research Center, urdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Roonak Rezaei

MSc in Clinical Psychology, Vice Chancellor for Research and Technology, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran Mohsen Sohrabi Student of Medicine, Student Research Committees, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Farshid Gholami

Student of Medicine, Student Research Committees, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

### EDITORIAL BOARD

Laleh Ardeshirpour, Professor, Department of Pediatrics, School of Medicine, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA

Ahmad Ali Hanafi-Bojd, Associate Professor, Department of Medical Entomology and Vector Control, School of Public Health, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Shahriar Alian, Associate Professor, Antimicrobial Resistance Research Center, Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences, Sari, Iran

Saman Esmaeilnejad, PhD, Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Tarbiat Modares University, Tehran, Iran

Akindayo O. Akinyamoju, Senior Lecturer, Department of Oral Pathology, Faculty of Dentistry, College of Medicine, University of Ibadan, Ibadan, Nigeria

Fardin Fathi, Professor, Cellular and Molecular Research Center AND Department of Anatomy, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Rajib Mondal, Assistant Professor, Bangladesh University of Health Sciences (BUHS), Dhaka, Bangladesh

Fariba Farhadifar, Professor, Social Determinants of Health Research Center AND Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kurdistan university of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Rashid Ramazanzadeh, Professor, Cellular and Molecular Research Center, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Payam Khomand, Assistant Professor, Department of Neurology, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran Ahmad Vahabi, Assistant Professor, Department of Medical Laboratory Sciences, Faculty of Paramedical, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Ghobad Moradi, Associate Professor, Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Samaneh Rouhi, PhD, Cellular & Molecular Research Center, Lung Diseases and Allergy Research Center, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Bahram Nikkhoo, Associate Professor, Department of Pathology, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Farokh Rad, Associate Professor, Department of Dermatology, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

**Ebrahim Ghaderi,** Associate Professor, Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Daem Roshani, Associate Professor, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Faculty of Medicine, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Shole Shahgheibi, Professor, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Fatemeh Ahangarkani, PhD, Invasive Fungi Research Center, Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences, Sari, Iran

Vahid Yousefinejad, Assistant Professor, Liver and Digestive Research Center, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Yadollah Zarezadeh, Associate Professor, Medical Education Development Center, Faculty of Medicine, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

**Publisher:** Vesnu Publications **Tel/fax:** +98 31 32 22 43 35, +98 31 32 22 43 82

http://vesnupub.com Email: farapublications@gmail.com

Address: Chronic Diseases Journal Office, Deputy of Research, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Pasdaran Ave., Sanandaj, Iran Postal Code: 6617713446

Email: cdjournal@muk.ac.ir/cdjourn@gmail.com Tel:

ljourn@gmail.com **Tel:** +98 87 33 66 00 89 **Interval:** Quarterly

eISSN: 2345-2226, pISSN: 2588-7297

# **Information for Authors**

# AIM AND SCOPE

The *Chronic Diseases Journal* is a biannual peer-reviewed scientific journal published by Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences. The manuscripts on the topic of chronic and subacute medical and health conditions and diseases will be published in this journal. This contains all aspects of the chronic and subacute diseases such as control, planning, treatment, patient education, managing guides, policymaking, and biopsychosocial-spiritual factors.

# **Instruction to Authors**

# MANUSCRIPTS

Manuscripts containing original material are accepted for consideration if neither the article nor any part of its essential substance, tables, or figures has been or will be published or submitted elsewhere before appearing in the *Chronic Diseases Journal*. This restriction does not apply to abstracts or press reports published in connection with scientific meetings. Copies of any closely related manuscripts must be submitted along with the manuscript that is to be considered by the *Chronic Diseases Journal*. Authors of all types of articles should follow the general instructions given below.

# STUDY DESIGN

We strongly advise authors to design their clinical trial studies based on the appropriate guidelines. In randomized controlled trials, CONSORT guideline (link), in systematic reviews and meta-analyses, PRISMA (formally QUOROM) guideline (link), in meta-analyses of observational studies in epidemiology, MOOSE guideline (link), in studies of diagnostic accuracy, STARD guideline (link), and in observational studies in epidemiology, STROBE guideline (link) should be used.

# HUMAN AND ANIMAL RIGHT'S

The research involves human beings or animals must adhere to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki (<u>link</u>, <u>link</u>).

# **Types of Articles**

- Original article which reports the results of an original scientific research should be less than 3000 words.
- *Review article* which represents the researches and works on a particular topic.

• *Brief communication* is a short research article and should be limited to 1500 words. This article contains all sections of an original article.

• *Case report* is a detailed report of an individual patient that may represent a previously non-described condition and contains new information about different aspects of a disease. It should be less than 2000 words.

• *Letter to the Editor* must be less than 400 words in all cases.

• Other types of articles only could be submitted by *Chronic Diseases Journal* Editorial Board.

# SUBMISSION

- Only online submission is acceptable. Please submit online at: <u>http://cdjournal.muk.ac.ir</u>
- This manuscripts should be divided into the following sections: (1) Title page, (2) Abstract and Keywords, (3) Introduction, (4) Methods, (5) Results, (6) Discussion, (7) Acknowledgements, (8) References, (9) Figure legends, (10) Appendices, (11) Tables and (12) Figures (figures should be submitted in separate files).
- Please supply a word count in title page.
- Use normal page margins (2.5 cm), and double-space throughout.
- Prepare your manuscript text using a Word processing package using times new roman 12 font, (save in .doc or .rtf format). Submissions of text in the form of PDF files are not permitted.

### COVER LETTER

A covering letter signed by all authors should identify the corresponding author (include the address, telephone number, fax number, and e-mail address). Please make clear that the final manuscript has been seen and approved by all authors, and that the authors accept full responsibility for the design and conduct of the study, had access to the data, and controlled the decision to publish.

### AUTHORSHIP

As stated in the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals (<u>link</u>), credit for authorship requires substantial contributions to: 1. Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; AND 2. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; AND 3. Final approval of the version to be published; AND 4. Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. Each author must sign authorship form attesting that he or she fulfills the authorship criteria. There should be a statement in manuscript explaining contribution of each author to the work. Acknowledgments will be limited to one page of *Chronic Diseases Journal* space, and those acknowledged will be listed only once.

Any change in authorship after submission must be approved in writing by all authors.

# ASSURANCES

In appropriate places in the manuscript please provide the following items:

- If applicable, a statement that the research protocol was approved by the relevant institutional review boards or ethics committees and that all human participants gave written informed consent
- The source of funding for the study
- The identity of those who analyzed the data
- Financial disclosure, or a statement that none is necessary

# TITLE PAGE

With the manuscript, provide a page giving the title of the paper; titles should be concise and descriptive (not declarative). Title page should include an abbreviated running title of 40 characters, the names of the authors, including the complete first names and no more than two graduate degrees, the name of the department and institution in which the work was done, the institutional affiliation of each author. The name, post address, telephone number, fax number, and e-mail address of the corresponding author should be separately addressed. Any grant support that requires acknowledgment should be mentioned on this page. Word count of abstract and main text as well as number of tables and figures and references should be mentioned on title page. If the work was derived from a project or dissertation, its code should also be stated.

Affiliation model: Academic Degree, Department, Institute, City, Country.

Example: Associate Professor, Department of Radiology, School of Medicine, Kerman University of Medical Sciences, Kerman, Iran.

# ABSTRACT

Provide on a separate page an abstract of not more than 250 words. This abstract should consist of four paragraphs, labeled Background, Methods, Results, and Conclusions. They should briefly describe the problem being addressed in the study, how the study was performed, the salient results, and what the authors conclude from the results, respectively. Three to 10 keywords may be included. Keywords are preferred to be in accordance with MeSH (link) terms.

# **CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

Authors of research articles should disclose at the time of submission any financial arrangement they may have with a company whose product is pertinent to the submitted manuscript or with a company making a competing product. Such information will be held in confidence while the paper is under review and will not influence the editorial decision, but if the article is accepted for publication, a disclosure will appear with the article.

Because the essence of reviews and editorials is selection and interpretation of the literature, the *Chronic Diseases Journal* expects that authors of such articles will not have any significant financial interest in a company (or its competitor) that makes a product discussed in the article.

# **REVIEW AND ACTION**

Submitted papers will be examined for the evidence of plagiarism using some automated plagiarism detection service. Manuscripts are examined by members of the editorial staff, and two thirds are sent to external reviewers. We encourage authors to suggest the names of possible reviewers, but we reserve the right of final selection. Communications about manuscripts will be sent after the review and editorial decision-making process is complete. After acceptance, editorial system makes a final language and scientific edition. No substantial change is permitted by authors after acceptance. It is the responsibility of corresponding author to answer probable questions and approve final version.

### COPYRIGHT

*Chronic Diseases Journal* is the owner of all copyright to any original work published by the *Chronic Diseases Journal*. Authors agree to execute copyright transfer forms as requested with respect to their contributions accepted by the Journal. The *Chronic Diseases Journal* have the right to use, reproduce, transmit, derive works from, publish, and distribute the contribution, in the *Journal* or otherwise, in any form or medium. Authors will not use or authorize the use of the contribution without the Journal Office' written consent

# JOURNAL STYLE

# Tables

Double-space tables and provide a title for each. **Figures** 

Figures should be no larger than 125 (height) x 180 (width) mm (5 x 7 inches) and should be submitted in a separate file from that of the manuscript. The name of images or figures files should be the same as the order that was used in manuscript (fig1, fig2, etc.). Only JPEG, tif, gif and eps image formats are acceptable with CMYK model for colored image at a resolution of at least 300 dpi. Graphs must have the minimum quality: clear text, proportionate, not 3 dimensional and without disharmonic language. Electron photomicrographs should have internal scale markers.

If photographs of patients are used, either the subjects should not be identifiable or the photographs should be accompanied by written permission to use them. Permission forms are available from the Editorial Office.

Medical and scientific illustrations will be created or recreated in-house. If an outside illustrator creates the figure, the *Chronic Diseases Journal* reserves the right to modify or redraw it to meet our specifications for publication. The author must explicitly acquire all rights to the illustration from the artist in order for us to publish the illustration. Legends for figures should be an editable text as caption and should not appear on the figures.

# References

The Vancouver style of referencing should be used. References must be double-spaced and numbered as superscripts consecutively as they are cited. References first cited in a table or figure legend should be numbered so that they will be in sequence with references cited in the text at the point where the table or figure is first mentioned. List all authors when there are six or fewer; when there are seven or more, list the first six, then "et al." The following are sample references:

1. Perlman AI, Sabina A, Williams AL, Njike VY, Katz DL.

Massage therapy for osteoarthritis of the knee: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Intern Med 2006; 166(22): 2533-8.

2. Buckwalter JA, Marsh JL, Brown T, Amendola A, Martin JA. Articular cartilage injury. In: Robert L, Robert L, Joseph V, editors. Principles of Tissue Engineering. 3rd ed. Burlington, MA: Academic Press; 2007. p. 897-907.

3. Kuczmarski RJ, Ogden CL, Grammer-Strawn LM, Flegal KM, Guo SS, Wei R, et al. CDC growth charts: United States. Advance data from vital and health statistics. No. 314. Hyattsville, Md: National Center for Health Statistics, 2000. (DHHS publication no. (PHS) 2000-1250 0-0431)

4. World Health organization. Strategic directions for strengthening nursing and midwifery services [online]. Available from: URL:http://www.wpro.who.int/themesfocuses/theme3/focus2/nursingmidwifery. pdf2002

# Units of Measurement

Authors should express all measurements in conventional units, with Système International (SI) units given in parentheses throughout the text. Figures and tables should use conventional units, with conversion factors given in legends or footnotes. In accordance with the Uniform Requirements, however, manuscripts containing only SI units will not be returned for that reason.

# Abbreviations

Except for units of measurement, abbreviations are discouraged. Consult Scientific Style and Format: The CBE Manual for Authors, Editors, and Publishers (Sixth edition. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1994) for lists of standard abbreviations. Except for units of measurement, the first time an abbreviation appears, it should be preceded by the words for which it stands.

# Drug Names

Generic names should generally be used except for studies on comparative effects of different brands. When proprietary brands are used in research, include the brand name and the name of the manufacturer in parentheses in the Methods section.

For any more detail about the writing style for your manuscripts refer to: http://cdjournal.muk.ac.ir

# **Authorship Form**

Title of the manuscript:		
We, the undersigned, certify that we take rest and interpretation of the data. We wrote thi Each of us meets the definition of an author Editors (see <u>http://www.icmje.org/icmje-recon</u> manuscript. Neither the article nor any essen or submitted elsewhere before appearing in form or an equivalent letter.]	onsibility for the conduct of this study and for the manuscript and are responsible for the decision stated by the International Committee of Medic <u>hendations.pdf</u> ). We have seen and approved al part of it, including tables and figures, will be the <i>Chronic Diseases Journal</i> . [All authors must	te analysis s about it. cal Journal the final published t sign this
Name of Author	Signature	

Please scan this form and upload it as a supplementary file in "Step 4" of submitting articles.

# Table of Contents

# **Original** Article(s)

Evaluation of consistency rate between clinical and histopathological diagnosis of oral soft tissue lesions Negin Ronasi, Setareh Shojaei, Ghodratollah Roshanaiee, Reza Taghiollahi, Shokoofeh Jamshidi
Lifestyle and hypertension in rural population of Tangestan town, Iran Mohamad Yandarani, Morteza Mansourian, Akram Ansarifar, Fatemeh Mohamadi, Omid Safari, Javad Yousefi, Razieh Pirouzeh
The frequency of substance abuse tendency and its related factors among high school students in Divandarreh City, Iran, in year 2018
Pooya Valizadeh-Ardalan, Hero Yazdanpanah, Karo Servatyari, Nabi Mardani, Milad Parkalian
Cutaneous reactions to carbamazepine in children with epilepsy Asma Zamiri, Sepide Amoiyan, Sina Mostafavi-Toroghi, Mahdi Babaei-Hatkehlouei, Amirhossein Moaddabi, Mehran Ebrahimzadeh-Hassanabadi, Tahereh Bakhshi
Hope measurement questionnaire for family members of patients admitted to intensive care units Fouad Rahimi, Abbas Ebadi, Fatemeh Oskoie
The comparison of executive functions between active users of methamphetamine and those in abstinence phase Bijan Pirnia, Mona Moradi, Rahman Sheikhi, Parastoo Malekanmehr, Fahimeh Mardan, Paria Sadeghi252-257
Early maladaptive schema, emotion regulation, and general health in prisoner and non-prisoner men: A comparative study Reza Davoodi, Shahrbanoo Ghahari
Saphenous vein versus total arterial graft in coronary artery bypass graft Karzan Saieamend Hamad Palani, Bashar Hanna Azar, Chalak Abdulsamad Ismael
Reducing chronic medical complications due to failure of patient safety using Standardized Plant Analysis Risk-Human Reliability Analysis (SPAR-H) method Mohammad Reza Modabber, Batoul Ahmadi, Ali Mohammad Mosadeghrad
The approach of futures studies based on scenario planning: A case study of health services in Sanandaj City, Iran Kumars Ahmadi, Farid Yousefinejad, Rozhin Mehrabani, Mehran Amini

# <u>Short Communication(s)</u>

The relationship between handedness and academic achievement in high school students of Sanandaj City, Iran Boshra Vahabi, Ahmad Vahabi, Masoud Moradi, Sirvan Sayyad, Mahin Ahmadian, Abdolvahed Narmashiri ......288-292

# Images in Clinical Medicine

Gastric varices: Endoscopic view	
Mohsen Rajabnia, Jalal Naghshbandi .	

**DOI:** 10.22122/cdj.v7i4.416

**Published by** Vesnu Publications

chron c

# Evaluation of consistency rate between clinical and histopathological diagnosis of oral soft tissue lesions

# Negin Ronasi<sup>1</sup>, Setareh Shojaei<sup>2</sup>, Ghodratollah Roshanaiee<sup>3</sup>, Reza Taghiollahi<sup>4</sup>, Shokoofeh Jamshidi<sup>5,6</sup>

1 Department of Oral Medicine, School of Dentistry, Hamedan University of Medical Sciences, Hamedan, Iran

- 2 Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology, School of Dentistry, Hamedan University of Medical Sciences, Hamedan, Iran
- 3 Department of Epidemiology, Hamedan University of Medical Sciences, Hamedan, Iran

4 School of Dentistry, Hamedan University of Medical Sciences, Hamedan, Iran

5 Dental Research Center, Hamedan University of Medical Sciences, Hamedan, Iran

6 Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology, School of Dentistry, Hamedan University of Medical Sciences, Hamedan, Iran

# **Original Article**

# Abstract

**BACKGROUND:** Some of the oral lesions including malignant tumors of mesenchymal and epithelial origin have same clinical features. Most of them are white or red patches with undermined edge. Also, in some cases, the microscopic view of histopathologic examination is not diagnostic. So, the integration of clinical and pathological information leads to the correct diagnosis. The aim of this study was the evaluation of consistency rate between clinical and histopathological diagnosis of oral malignant tumors of mesenchymal and epithelial origin.

**METHODS:** This cross-sectional retrospective study was performed in four centers of oral pathology of Hamedan University of Medical Sciences, Hamedan, Iran, during January to June, 2016. The data were collected using the archived files of patients. Collected data from the files included age, sex, lesion location, lesion type, and first and second clinical and histopathologic diagnosis. Finally, histopathological findings were compared with the first and second clinical diagnosis. Data were analyzed using SPSS software.

**RESULTS:** Ninety-one and seventy-nine of studied files were related to men and women, respectively. Most frequent malignant lesion was related to squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) (52.9%), followed by melanoma (29.4%). The consistency rate of first and second clinical and histopathologic diagnosis was 68.2% and 15.2%, respectively. Higher consistency rate was observed in melanoma, SCC, and fibrosarcoma lesions.

**CONCLUSION:** High inconsistency rate between clinical and histopathological diagnosis was found in some cases which may have originated from low diagnostic knowledge of clinicians or their misconception from misdiagnosis. Therefore, the improvement of knowledge and awareness of clinicians by conducting retraining courses is necessary. **KEYWORDS:** Clinical Laboratory Techniques, Histopathology, Oral Soft Tissue Lesions

# Date of submission: 25 July 2018, Date of acceptance: 17 Sep. 2018

**Citation:** Ronasi N, Shojaei S, Roshanaiee G, Taghiollahi R, Jamshidi S. **Evaluation of consistency rate between clinical and histopathological diagnosis of oral soft tissue lesions.** Chron Dis J 2019; 7(4): 219-25.

# Introduction

Mucosal lesions of the mouth include a wide range of benign, malignant, and pre-cancerous lesions.<sup>1</sup> Oral malignancies include epithelial or mesenchymal lesions.<sup>2</sup> Based on epidemiologic

**Corresponding Author:** Shokoofeh Jamshidi Email: dr.jamshidi39@gmail.com studies, the epithelial lesions could lead to most malignancies.<sup>2</sup> When epithelial cells gain mesenchymal phenotype, they acquire motility and metastasis potential. This process is named epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT).<sup>2</sup> Oral cancer accounts for about 3% of malignancies and is the eighth and fifteenth most common cancer in men and women, respectively in the United States and the United Kingdom.<sup>3</sup> Also,

oral cancer is a common malignancy among Iranian population.<sup>4</sup> In a study at the Cancer Institute in Iran, 2.9% of the cases were related to oral lesions.<sup>5</sup> Oral lesions have multiple complications and their early diagnosis has a significant role in reducing complications, successful treatment, and good prognosis.6-8 Clinical diagnosis principles of oral diseases include medical history and patient main evaluation physical complaints and examinations.9,10 Physical examinations of the oral cavity are performed using a set of principles such as inspection, palpation, percussion, and auscultation. In oral lesions, histopathologic examinations of biopsy specimens confirm the final results of clinical diagnosis.<sup>4</sup> An important issue for many clinicians is diagnosis of lesions with similar clinical features and those without known characteristics. Most of the oral lesions are white or red patches on the gums having a undermined edge, and pain is the most frequent presentation.11

So, clinical evidence alone is not sufficient for the final diagnosis. Microscopic view of lesions is often diagnostic, but in some cases the histopathologic criteria are not pathognomonic and the pathologist needs clinical evidence for ultimate diagnosis.<sup>4</sup> Therefore, proper collaboration between clinician and pathologist is a necessity for accurate diagnosis.<sup>4</sup>

Clinical findings establish the primary diagnosis and the final diagnosis is given by pathologic report.<sup>12</sup> Sometimes, the differences in primary (clinical) and final diagnosis (histopathological) lead to re-surgery or losing surgery chance. The relationship between clinical and histopathologic diagnosis has been a longtime favorite of physicians and dentists.<sup>13</sup> By assessing the relationship between clinical and histopathologic findings, a solution can be found to resolve inconsistency cases. So, the aim of this study was the evaluation of consistency rate between clinical and histopathologic diagnosis of

oral malignant tumors.

# Materials and Methods

This cross-sectional multi-central retrospective study was performed in Department of Oral Pathology, School of Dentistry, Shahid Beheshti, Farshchian, and Besat Hospitals of Hamedan University of Medical Sciences, Hamedan, Iran, from January to June, 2016. The data were collected through archived files. Sampling was done by census method and all files (from 1996 to 2016) in the archives of oral pathology department of dentistry school and listed hospitals were investigated. Since this study was conducted on existing data, patient information was collected and maintained confidentially. Patients with clinical and microscopic diagnosis of oral soft tissue lesions, epithelial or mesenchymal, verified by maxillofacial pathologist, were included in study. Files with incomplete or inadequate information were excluded from the study. Data collected from the files included age, sex, lesion location, lesion type, and first and second clinical and histopathologic diagnosis. The lesions were divided into various types of squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), melanoma, fibrosarcoma, rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS), liposarcoma, and leiomyosarcoma (LMS). Finally, histopathological findings were compared with the first and second clinical diagnosis. The expertise of physicians who performed the first and second clinical diagnosis and took biopsy was also extracted from the files. Patient information was available only for the researcher and such information was confidentially collected by patient's identification number (ID) without name.

After data collection completion, they were analyzed via SPSS software (version 20, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). Qualitative values were expressed as frequency and percentage. Statistical analyses were performed using chi-square test and Cohen's kappa coefficient ( $\kappa$ ). P < 0.050 was considered as a significant level.

**Results** 

In this study, 170 patients including 91 men (53.53%) and 79 women (46.47%) with age range of 27-90 years were evaluated. Table 1 shows the frequency distribution of various lesions types that most abundant lesion (90 lesions) was related to SCC (52.9%).

Table 1. Frequency distribution of various malignant types of oral lesions

Lesion type	n (%)
SCC	90 (52.9)
Melanoma	50 (29.4)
Fibrosarcoma	11 (6.5)
RMS	9 (5.3)
LMS	6 (3.5)
Liposarcoma	4 (2.4)
Total	170 (100)

SCC: Squamous cell carcinoma; RMS: Rhabdomyosarcoma; LMS: Leiomyosarcoma

Sixty-seven lesions (39.4%) were related to dentistry school and 38 (22.4%), 36 (21.2%), and 29 (17.0%) lesions were related to Farshchian, Besat, and Shahid Beheshti Hospitals, respectively. Table 2 shows the distribution of lesions in terms of anatomical position and table 3 shows the age distribution of lesions.

 Table 2. Anatomical distribution of malignant

 oral lesions

Anatomical position	n (%)
Lower lip	35 (20.6)
Palate	32 (18.8)
Buccal mucosa	26 (15.3)
Tongue	19 (11.2)
Upper ridge	14 (8.2)
Lower ridge	11 (6.5)
Gums	11 (6.5)
Upper lip	10 (5.9)
Tongue and palate	5 (3.0)
Lower lip and upper lips	4 (2.3)
Tongue and gums	3 (1.7)
Total	170 (100)

Table 3. Age distribution of malignant oral lesions

Age groups (year)	n (%)
27-34	9 (5.3)
35-42	10 (5.9)
43-50	12 (7.1)
51-58	28 (16.5)
59-66	34 (20.0)
67-74	48 (28.2)
75-82	25 (14.7)
83-90	4 (2.3)
Total	170 (100)

Table 4 shows that distribution of different lesions between men and women was not statistically significant (P = 0.733).

Table 4. Distribution of different lesion	ns
between men and women	

Lesion type	Sex Frequ	D	
	Male	Female	1
SCC	51	39	0.733
RMS	5	4	
Fibrosarcoma	7	4	
Liposarcoma	1	3	
LMS	3	3	
Melanoma	24	26	
Total	91	79	

SCC: Squamous cell carcinoma; RMS: Rhabdomyosarcoma; LMS: Leiomyosarcoma

The present study findings showed that oral lesions frequency generally increased with age (except for the age group of 75 to 90 years). SCC in age group of 59-74 years (48.88%), RMS and fibrosarcoma in 27-42 years age group (88.88% and 90.90%, respectively), liposarcoma and LMS in 51-58 years age group (50.00% and 33.33%, respectively) and melanoma in 67-74 years age group (48.00%) were the most frequent lesions. The results of the statistical test showed that the distribution of different lesions in the age groups was significant (P = 0.001).

Anatomically, the most lesions were in the lower lip (20.6%), palate (18.8%), and buccal mucosa (15.3%), respectively. The findings also showed that SCC lesions in the lower lip (33.33%), RMS and LMS in upper ridge (33.33%) and 66.66%, respectively), fibrosarcoma and melanoma in palate (45.45%)

rabie er concreterie) rate er met ennea and metepatrologie alagineele				
Pathology center	Consistency rate <sup>*</sup>	к	Р	
Dentistry school <sup>**</sup>	92.5	0.645	0.001	
Besat hospital <sup>£</sup>	55.6	0.401	< 0.001	
Shahid Beheshti hospital <sup>£</sup>	48.3	0.341	< 0.001	
Farshchian hospital <sup>£</sup>	52.6	0.351	< 0.001	

Table 5. Consistency rate of first clinical and histopathologic diagnosis	Table 5. Consistency	rate of first	clinical and	histopathologic	diagnosis
---	----------------------	---------------	--------------	-----------------	-----------

<sup>\*</sup> Consistency rate = the number of same diagnosis/total number; <sup>\*\*</sup> Clinical diagnosis done by endodontist and periodontist; <sup>£</sup>Clinical diagnosis done by oral maxillofacial surgeon

and 34.00%, respectively) and liposarcoma in the tongue (50.00%) were the most frequent lesions. The distribution of different lesions in terms of anatomical position showed a statistically significant difference (P = 0.003).

The first clinical diagnosis had 68.2% consistency with histopathology report. All cases of clinical agreement with pathology report were related to melanoma (90.0%) and SCC (78.9%). The consistency of histopathologic diagnosis with first clinical diagnosis of melanoma and SCC lesions was statistically significant ( $\kappa = 0.531$ , P < 0.001). Table 5 shows that highest consistency rate between the first clinical and histopathologic diagnosis was related to dentistry school.

In the second clinical diagnosis, 15.2% of cases had agreement with pathology report. All cases of clinical diagnosis agreement with pathology report were related to fibrosarcoma (70.0%) and SCC (11.8%). The consistency of histopathologic diagnosis with first clinical diagnosis of fibrosarcoma and SCC lesions was statistically significant ( $\kappa = 0.235$ , P < 0.001). Table 6 shows that highest consistency rate between second clinical and histopathologic diagnosis was observed in Shahid Beheshti Hospital. The accurate diagnosis is the key of successful treatment.<sup>8</sup> Accurate diagnosis depends on good consistency between clinical and histopathologic diagnosis.<sup>14</sup> The aim of this study was the evaluation of consistency rate between clinical and histopathologic diagnosis of oral malignant tumors.

Discussion

Based on our findings, SCC, RMS, and fibrosarcoma were more common in men compared to women. On the other hand, melanoma, LMS, and liposarcoma were more common in women compared to men. Along with our study, Lopez-Graniel et al. reported higher incidence of malignant melanoma in women<sup>15</sup> and Hollows et al. reported a higher incidence of SCC in men.<sup>16</sup> In contrast to the present study, Nascimento et al. reported a higher incidence of liposarcoma in men<sup>17</sup> and Yan et al. reported the incidence of primary oral LMS in men.<sup>18</sup>

In the present study, the most common place of SCC, RMS, fibrosarcoma, liposarcoma, LMS, and melanoma was lower lip, upper ridge, palate, tongue, upper ridge, and palate, respectively.

Pathology center	Consistency rate <sup>*</sup>	к	Р
Dentistry school <sup>**</sup>	5.7	-0.129	0.081
Besat hospital <sup>£</sup>	15.4	0.176	0.010
Shahid Beheshti hospital <sup>£</sup>	28.6	0.298	< 0.001
Farshchian hospital <sup>£</sup>	23.8	0.268	< 0.001

Table 6. Consistency	rate of	second	clinical	and	histo	patholo	gic dia	gnosis
----------------------	---------	--------	----------	-----	-------	---------	---------	--------

\* Consistency rate = the number of same diagnosis/total number; \*\* Clinical diagnosis done by endodontist and periodontist; <sup>£</sup> Clinical diagnosis done by oral maxillofacial surgeon

According to Lopez-Graniel et al.<sup>15</sup> study, hard palate was the most commonly occurring place for intraoral melanoma, which is consistent with our study results.

In contrast to our study, Fowler et al. reported frequent incidence of fibrosarcoma in buccal and tongue mucus.<sup>19</sup> The most common place for RMS occurrence in Peters et al.<sup>20</sup> study was upper alveolar ridge and maxillary sinus, in Nascimento et al.<sup>17</sup> study was tongue, and in Yan et al.<sup>18</sup> study was maxilla and mandible. These studies were consistent with our study.

The highest incidence age (90 years) was related to SCC and the lowest incidence age (27 years) was related to fibrosarcoma lesions. According to Neville et al. study, fibrosarcoma is more common in young adults and children, but SCC and melanoma are seen in the elderly.<sup>21</sup>

In our study, the highest consistency rate of the first clinical and histopathologic diagnosis was related to melanoma and SCC, and physicians were unable to diagnose other lesions, because of difficult detection and rare nature of these lesions. The high correct diagnosis of melanoma lesions may be due to the typical appearance of this lesion, usually as a brown to black-colored macula with irregular edges.<sup>21,22</sup> In addition, four out of five oral melanoma cases are found on the hard palate and maxillary alveolus,<sup>21</sup> which can help physicians and dentists to diagnose this lesion more accurately and quickly.

The highest consistency rate between second clinical and histopathologic diagnosis was related to fibrosarcoma and SCC. These lesions are often in the form of tumors that grow slowly and sometimes reach to a significant size even before pain.<sup>16</sup> Such symptoms make it easier for physicians and surgeons to recognize this lesion compared to other lesions.<sup>21</sup> Musavi et al. showed that the agreement between the clinical and histopathologic diagnosis in all lesions other than peripheral ossifying fibroma (POF) and pemphigus was more than 70%.<sup>12</sup>

In Saghravanian et al. study, the overall consistency rate between clinical diagnosis and histopathology report in oral cavity lesions was 69.3%.9 This measure in Hashemipoor et al. study was 65%23 and in the other similar study by Deyhimi and Ferdowsi was 57%.24 In our study, there was 21.1% inconsistency (78.9% consistency) between the first clinical diagnosis and histopathology report of SCC that the most common cause of this inconsistency was the diagnosis of verrucous carcinoma (VC) instead of SCC. In some cases, the VC lesion was transformed into SCC due to the late referral of the patient after clinical diagnosis. VC usually is observed in men over 50 years old and is a low-grade type of SCC. But in areas where women are the main consumers of chewing tobacco, the incidence of VC in older women may be higher.4

In this study, we performed a multi-central research. An important study limitation was the incomplete recording of some patients' information. According to our findings, more information, accuracy, education, and careful physical examination are necessary. Physicians must be stimulated to cautiously explore oral lesions to decrease inconsistency rates between clinical and histopathologic diagnosis.

# Conclusion

In this study, a high rate of inconsistency was found between clinical and histopathologic diagnosis in cases of fibrosarcoma, RMS, LMS, and liposarcoma lesions. These results indicate two important points: 1) the lack of adequate clinical diagnostic information in clinicians and 2) inadequate understanding of clinicians about the importance of clinical findings. Therefore, it is necessary to raise the awareness of doctors and dentists about the consequences of misdiagnosis. Conducting courses for retraining also can be helpful in raising diagnostic knowledge of clinicians.

# **Conflict of Interests**

Authors have no conflict of interests.

# Acknowledgments

This article has been extracted from a dentistry professional doctorate thesis (No. 9410225822) at Hamedan University of Medical Sciences. The authors thank the Vice Chancellor for Research and Technology of Hamedan University of Medical Sciences for operational and financial support.

# References

- 1. Molania T, Nahvi A, Delrobaee M, Salehi M. Frequency of oral mucosal lesions and awareness of these lesions in patients attending oral and maxillofacial clinic in Sari Dental School, Iran. J Mazandaran Univ Med Sci 2017; 26(1446): 80-7. [In Persian].
- Shirani S, Kargahi N, Razavi SM, Homayoni S. Epithelial dysplasia in oral cavity. Iran J Med Sci 2014; 39(5): 406-17.
- 3. Shiva A, Mousavi SJ. Epidemiologic study of oral and paraoral malignancies in Sari, Iran. J Mashad Dent Sch 2014; 38(4): 337-46.
- Shiva A, Sobouti F. Comparative Study of Histopathological Reports and Clinical Diagnosis of Oral Biopsies. J Mazandaran Univ Med Sci 2017; 26(144): 57-64. [In Persian].
- Shahsavari F, Fereidouni F, Farzane Nejad R. The prevalence of oral mucosal lesions and associated factors in pathology department of Tehran Cancer Institute of Imam Khomeini Hospital since 2000 to 2010. J Res Dent Sci 2012; 9(2): 111-5. [In Persian].
- Zare Mahmoodabadi R, Salehinejad J, Khajehahmadi S, Saghafi S, Javan A, Taherymoghadam S. Consistency Rates of Clinical and Histopathologic Diagnoses of Mucocutaneous Lesions in Oral Cavity. J Mashad Dent Sch 2012; 36(4): 309-16. [In Persian].
- Ghaznavi A, Abdal K, Abbasi L, Mostafazadeh S. Consistency rates of clinical and radiological diagnosis with histopathological reports of intraosseous lesions in maxillofacial region in patients referred to Imam Khomeini Hospital since 2010 to 2016. J Urmia Univ Med Sci 2017; 28(6): 373-80. [In Persian].
- Hoseinpour Jajarm H, Mohtasham N. A comparative study on the clinical diagnosis and pathology report of patients undergone biopsy at department of Oral Medicine of Mashhad Dental School from 2002 until 2004. J Mashad Dent Sch 2006; 30: 47-54. [In Persian].

- Saghravanian N, Hosseinpour Jajarm H, Salehinejad J, Afzal Aghaie M, Ghazi N. A 30-year comparison of clinical and histopathological diagnoses in salivary gland lesions, odontogenic cysts and tumors in Mashhad Dental School-Iran. J Mashad Dent Sch 2010; 34(4): 299-308. [In Persian].
- Shiva A, Giahpur A. Awareness of dentists and finalyear dental students on transport and processing of oral biopsies. J Mazandaran Univ Med Sci 2016; 26(142): 231-21. [In Persian].
- 11. Mortazavi H, Safi Y, Baharvand M, Rahmani S. Diagnostic features of common oral ulcerative lesions: An updated decision tree. International Journal of Dentistry 2016; 2016: 7278925.
- 12. Musavi A, Bagheri A, Hamzeheil Z, Soruri M, Varkesh B, Razavi A, et al. Assessment of agreement between clinical diagnosis and pathologic report in the soft tissue lesions of the patients referring to pathology department of dental school, Tehran and Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences During 2005-2008. J Shaheed Sadoughi Univ Med Sci 2013; 20(5): 639-47. [In Persian].
- Ali M, Baughman RA. Maxillary odontogenic keratocyst: A common and serious clinical misdiagnosis. J Am Dent Assoc 2003; 134(7): 877-83.
- 14. Jones AV, Franklin CD. An analysis of oral and maxillofacial pathology found in adults over a 30year period. J Oral Pathol Med 2006; 35(7): 392-401.
- 15. Lopez-Graniel CM, Ochoa-Carrillo FJ, Meneses-Garcia A. Malignant melanoma of the oral cavity: Diagnosis and treatment experience in a Mexican population. Oral Oncol 1999; 35(4): 425-30.
- 16. Hollows P, McAndrew PG, Perini MG. Delays in the referral and treatment of oral squamous cell carcinoma. Br Dent J 2000; 188(5): 262-5.
- Nascimento AF, McMenamin ME, Fletcher CD. Liposarcomas/atypical lipomatous tumors of the oral cavity: a clinicopathologic study of 23 cases. Ann Diagn Pathol 2002; 6(2): 83-93.
- Yan B, Li Y, Pan J, Xia H, Li LJ. Primary oral leiomyosarcoma: A retrospective clinical analysis of 20 cases. Oral Dis 2010; 16(2): 198-203.
- 19. Fowler CB, Hartman KS, Brannon RB. Fibromatosis of the oral and paraoral region. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1994; 77(4): 373-86.
- 20. Peters E, Cohen M, Altini M, Murray J. Rhabdomyosarcoma of the oral and paraoral region. Cancer 1989; 63(5): 963-6.
- 21. Neville BV, Damm DD, Bouquot J, Allen CM. Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Science Health Science p. 316-497; 2015.
- 22. Wenig BM. Laryngeal mucosal malignant melanoma. A clinicopathologic, immunohistochemical, and

# Consistency of oral diagnosis

ultrastructural study of four patients and a review of the literature. Cancer 1995; 75(7): 1568-77.

23. Hashemipoor M, Morad M, Mojtahedi A. Comparative evaluation of clinical and histological findings in oral and maxillofacial diseases. J Dent Shiraz Univ Med Sci 2009; 10(1): 31-7. [In Persian]. 24. Deyhimi P, Ferdowsi M. Correspondence of clinical diagnosis with histopathologic diagnosis of oral lesions in patients referring to oral pathology department of Isfahan Dentistry School from 1991 to 2000. J Dent Sch Shahid Beheshti Univ Med Sci 2004; 22(1): 38-48. [In Persian].

Chron Dis J, Vol. 7 No. 4, Autumn 2019 225

DOI: 10.22122/cdj.v7i4.461

**Published by** Vesnu Publications

chron c

# Lifestyle and hypertension in rural population of Tangestan town, Iran

# Mohamad Yandarani<sup>1</sup><sup>®</sup>, Morteza Mansourian<sup>2</sup>, Akram Ansarifar<sup>1</sup>, Fatemeh Mohamadi<sup>1</sup>, Omid Safari<sup>3</sup>, Javad Yousefi<sup>4</sup>, <u>Razieh Pirouzeh</u><sup>4</sup><sup>®</sup>

- 1 Department of Public Health, School of Health, Bushehr University of Medical Sciences, Iran
- 2 Health Management and Economics Research Center, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran
- 3 Departments of Pediatrics, School of Medicine, Alborz University of Medical Sciences, Iran
- 4 Department of Education and Health Promotion, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

# Abstract

**Original Article** 

**BACKGROUND:** Hypertension is an important health problem in developed countries and the risk factors of this complication are related to the individuals' lifestyle, with most of them being modifiable. The present study was conducted with the aim to investigate the relationship between lifestyle and primary hypertension among the people referring to health centers of Tangestan Town, Iran, in 2017.

**METHODS:** This study was a case-control study carried out on 100 patients with hypertension and 100 subjects as the control group living in the villages of Tangestan who had a health record in health centers. Data were collected through the international health promoting behaviors (HPLP-II) questionnaire and were analyzed using descriptive and analytical statistics in SPSS software.

**RESULTS:** The mean and standard deviation (SD) of the body mass index (BMI) scores were  $26.27 \pm 4.09$  and  $26.20 \pm 4.30$  in the case and control groups, respectively, and there was no significance difference between the two groups (P > 0.050). The mean total score of overall health promotion behavior in the case and control groups was respectively  $133.27 \pm 29.72$  and  $135.84 \pm 29.39$  out of 208. In the case and control groups, the highest and lowest scores in the subgroups were associated with the nutritional status and physical activity, respectively. However, there was no significant difference between the lifestyle dimensions of the two groups (P > 0.050). **CONCLUSION:** Regarding overweight and lack of activity among the studied participants, it is necessary to perform

the intervention based on psychological principles for the people prone to hypertension, especially those having positive history among their family members.

KEYWORDS: Hypertension, Lifestyle, Risk Factors, Behavior, Health

### Date of submission: 12 Sep. 2018, Date of acceptance: 25 Dec. 2018

**Citation:** Yandarani M, Mansourian M, Ansarifar A, Mohamadi F, Safari O, Yousefi J, et al. **Lifestyle and hypertension in rural population of Tangestan town, Iran.** Chron Dis J 2019; 7(4): 226-32.

# Introduction

Hypertension is a chronic problem in the global health field<sup>1</sup> requiring a significant global responsibility in developed and developing countries.<sup>2</sup> It is also related directly to cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) leading to death. Moreover, hypertension is known as one of the causes of physical disabilities due to its connection to CVDs.<sup>1</sup>

**Corresponding Author:** Razieh Pirouzeh Email: r\_pirouzeh@yahoo.com The incidence risk of CVDs, cardiac failure, and cerebrovascular stroke in the patients with hypertension is respectively two, four, and seven times more than that in the healthy people.<sup>3</sup> According to the statistical figures issued by the Ministry of Health, Treatment, and Medical Education, 20 out of 100 thousand adult individuals suffer from hypertension, with half of them being unaware of their disease and only five of these people receive treatments. In other words, 75% of individuals with hypertension do not receive any

226 Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019

treatment and this is not limited to Iran, rather it is the case even in developing countries.<sup>4</sup> However, the burden of this disease is more prominent in the countries with low and average income and in middle age period.<sup>5</sup> Todays, most of health problems such as obesity, cancers, hypertension, and the resulting mortality are caused by the changes in lifestyles and, consequently, made by the people's behaviors.<sup>6</sup>

In Iran, in decades, recent the socioeconomic changes and lifestyle modification have led to high prevalence of CVDs' risk factors such as smoking, hyperlipidemia, and hypertension, so that the mortality caused by CVDs have increased drastically.7 High salt consumption, imbalance in taking calorie and its subsequent obesity are called as hypertension's risk factors, which can deteriorate the situation towards death when it is accompanied by smoking and high calorie food consumption.8

Since most of these risk factors are related to the lifestyle and hypertension can be modified,<sup>9</sup> changing the factors associated with the lifestyle is known as the best way to control and prevent this disease.<sup>10</sup> So, precise recognition of this connection results in taking effective measures to manage this disease.<sup>11</sup> Regarding the importance of lifestyle modification and its role in health promotion and preventing hypertension, this study was performed to investigate the relation between lifestyle and primary hypertension among the people referring to health centers of Tangestan town.

# **Materials and Methods**

This is a case-control study which was carried out in 2017 on 100 patients suffering from hypertension (case group) and 100 people as control group living in Tangestan town with a health chart in the health centers. The multistage random sampling method was used to select the samples, so that ten health centers in the region was selected randomly and, then, ten records of the patients with hypertension were chosen randomly. It should be noted that if the selected record was not accessible or did not dissatisfy the researcher, another patient was replaced randomly.

The inclusion criteria of the case group included having a blood pressure of 140/90 or higher and affirmation of the disease by the doctor, receiving medicines reducing blood pressure, an age of more than 30 years old, and lack of suffering from kidney disease, CVDs, and diabetes mellitus (DM). In addition, 100 people from the same village were selected as the control group members and both groups were the same in respect of age, gender, and place of living. They were supposed not to consume any blood pressure reducing medicines or have blood pressure less than 140/90.

An experienced and trained interviewer collected the data using the health promoting behaviors (HPLP-II) questionnaire by direct referring to health centers and patients' homes after receiving oral consent from the participants. The questionnaire included two parts. The first part consisted of demographic information and general characteristics with 30 questions including age, gender, marital status, education level, occupation, income, weight and height, smoking, physical activity, nutrition circumstance, mood situation, and the history of hypertension.

The second part the HPLP-II was questionnaire containing 52 questions and 6 dimensions including health accountability questions), spiritual development (9 (9 questions), physical activity (8 questions), nutrition (9 questions), interpersonal communication (9 questions), and stress management (8 questions). The questionnaire was set by the Likert-type scale. The scores 1, 2, 3, and 4 were defined as never, sometimes, often, and always options, respectively. The total score of the dimensions was obtained summing up of all scores. Therefore, the range of the health promotion behavior total score was between 52 to 208.

The sub-scales of nutrition, responsibility, spiritual excellence, and interpersonal relationships were possible from a minimum of 9 to a maximum of 36, and the two sub-scales of physical activity and stress control were possible within the range of 8 to 32 scores. The sub-scales were categorized into three classes of poor, moderate, and good with score ranges of less than 18, 19 to 27, and above 27, respectively.<sup>12</sup>

Regarding the lifestyle score range, the scores below 100, 100 to 150, and 150 to 208 indicated a poor, moderate, and good lifestyle, respectively.

Higher scores represented better health condition. Although the validity and reliability of the questionnaire has been confirmed by Morvati Sharifabad et al.<sup>13</sup> (Cronbach's alpha coefficient = 0.87), its reliability was measured by the internal consistency or Cronbach's alpha coefficient (0.75) among 20 cases of the studied population before starting the main project. This was performed due to the lack of use of the original questionnaire among the people living in Bushehr province, Iran. Data were analyzed using descriptive and analytical statistics such as t-test and chi-square in the SPSS software (version 20, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA).

# Results

The mean and SD of age was  $52.70 \pm 11.23$  and  $51.60 \pm 10.53$  in the case and control groups, respectively. Moreover, 61 (61%) cases from each of the case and control groups were women. Both the studied groups were the same in terms of demographic characteristic including age, gender, marital status, and occupation. No significant difference was observed between the two groups regarding the mentioned variables (Table 1).

The mean weight of the cases in the case and control groups were  $71.24 \pm 11.28$  and  $70.21 \pm 11.69$  kg, respectively. The mean body mass index (BMI) of the cases in the two groups was  $26.27 \pm 4.09$  and  $26.20 \pm 4.30$ , respectively. There was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of the afore-mentioned variables (P > 0.050).

Statistical tests showed no significant difference between the two studied groups about the factors related to blood pressure such as smoking, physical activity, and fat intake (P > 0.050). However, there was a significant difference between the two groups regarding salt intake and mood condition (P < 0.050) (Table 2).

Variable		Case group Frequency (%)	Control group Frequency (%)	Р
Sex	Male	37 (37)	39 (39)	0.880
	Female	63 (63)	61 (61)	
Age group (years)	30-40	15 (15)	17 (17)	0.940
	40-50	27 (27)	28 (28)	
	50-60	28 (28)	29 (29)	
	$\geq 60$	30 (30)	26 (26)	
Marital status	single	6 (6)	4 (4)	0.120
	Married	79 (79)	85 (85)	
	Divorced	15 (15)	13 (13)	
Educational level	Illiterate	35 (35)	16 (16)	0.001
	Elementary education	33 (33)	28 (28)	
	High school	23 (23)	22 (22)	
	Diploma	3 (3)	23 (23)	
Occupation	Employed	96 (96)	95 (95)	0.370
-	Unemployed	4 (4)	5 (5)	

Table 1. Frequency distribution of data of the variables studied among the case and control groups

228 Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019

Variable		Case group Frequency (%)	Control group Frequency (%)	Р
Smoking	Yes	25 (25.2)	22 (22.0)	0.590
	No	74 (74.8)	78 (78.0)	
Physical activity	Yes	43 (43.0)	54 (54.0)	0.199
	No	56 (56.0)	46 (46.0)	
Salt intake	None	31 (31.0)	10 (10.0)	0.001
	A little	34 (34.0)	22 (22.0)	
	Normal	29 (29.0)	58 (58.0)	
	High	6 (6.0)	10 (10.0)	
Fat intake	Low	50 (50.0)	35 (35.4)	0.214
	Normal	37 (37.0)	49 (49.5)	
	High	13 (13.0)	15 (15.1)	
Family history of hypertension	Yes	59 (59.0)	35 (35.0)	0.001
	No	41 (41.0)	65 (65.0)	
Mood condition	Calm	35 (35.0)	52 (52.0)	0.018
	Occasionally tempered	58 (58.0)	38 (38.0)	
	Frequently tempered	7 (7.0)	10 (10)	

# Table 2. Frequency distribution of data of the demographic variables studied among the case and control groups

Table 3 compares the mean level of agreement between the HPLP-II subscales of health promotion, physical activity, nutrition, spiritual growth, interpersonal communication, and stress management. The mean total score of overall health promotion behavior in the case and control groups was 133.27 ± 29.72 and  $135.84 \pm 29.39$  out of 208, respectively. In the case group, the highest and lowest scores in the subgroups were associated with the nutritional status and physical activity, respectively. Furthermore, in the control group, the highest and lowest scores in the subgroups were associated with the nutritional status and physical activity, respectively. According to table 3, none of the dimensions of lifestyle were different significantly in the two studied groups

(P > 0.050).

# Discussion

This study was performed in order to determine the relationship between health promoting lifestyle and hypertension disease. Most of the cases were older than 50 years and aging was considered as a risk factor for hypertension in the present study, which confirms the results of other studies.<sup>14-17</sup> Accordingly, training to prevent high blood pressure since the young ages seems necessary. As mentioned before, no significant difference was found among the demographic characteristics between two groups and a precise consistency was observed between the two groups.

Table 3. Six dimensions and the total score of health promotion behaviors in both case a	and
control groups	

	<u> </u>			
Subscales	Score range	Case group	Control group	Р
		Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	
Health responsibility	9-36	$23.79 \pm 4.76$	$23.66 \pm 4.78$	0.840
Physical activity	8-32	$16.58 \pm 5.25$	$16.88 \pm 6.29$	0.740
Nutrition	9-36	$25.20 \pm 5.21$	$26.41 \pm 4.04$	0.070
Spiritual development	9-36	$24.08 \pm 4.91$	$24.63 \pm 4.60$	0.410
Interpersonal communication	9-36	$24.07 \pm 5.21$	$24.65 \pm 4.78$	0.410
Stress management	8-32	$19.55 \pm 4.46$	$19.61 \pm 4.86$	0.920
Total sum score of health promotion behaviors	52-208	$133.27 \pm 7.29$	$135.84 \pm 35.29$	0.420
CD. Chandrand desciration				

SD: Standard deviation

Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019 229

The number of illiterate people was twice more than the cases in the control group. In addition, there was a significant relationship regarding the education level between the control group cases and their counterparts in the case group. The importance of literacy and its role is prominent in disease prevention and control. Vakili et al studied 320 patients with hypertension among rural population over 30 years old in Islamabad Gharb city, Iran and found that the illiteracy level was high among them and concluded that health literacy was associated with the education level.<sup>18</sup> Eftekhar Ardebili et al. showed in a study that educational programs for blood pressure control were effective. They also regarded training the individuals based on health education models to be necessary for the hypertension prevention and control.<sup>19</sup> These findings show the need for self-care planning and blood pressure management for literate and illiterate people.

35 and 59% of the subjects in the control and case groups reported the history of hypertension in their family, respectively. This is in line with the studies by Mansoorian et al.<sup>11</sup> and Shayesteh et al.<sup>14</sup> Moreover, the history of the afore-mentioned disease was higher among the fathers of the control group's cases.

22 and 52.2% of the subjects in the control and case groups were smoking and used hookah, respectively, and there was no significant difference between them. It should be noted that tobacco is planted in the villages of Tangestan town and this point must be taken into account in present study.

Since smoking is a major contributor to CVDs and stroke, the incidence of stroke and coronary artery diseases (CADs) in patients with hypertension is two to three times higher than that of a non-smoking patient with hypertension, and smoking cessation reduces this risk.<sup>20</sup>

65% of the case group consumed no or lower

salt and there was a significant difference between the case and control groups. This represented regarding of the nutritional points by the patients in present study.

The occasionally tempered mood was more seen among the case group subjects in comparison to the control group in present study. However, no significance difference was observed between the two groups in terms of stress management and interpersonal communication, which could be affected by behavioral manner of the subjects. No significant difference was found between the two groups regarding the total mean scores of all dimensions of the questionnaire. Nevertheless, Mansoorian et al. showed that behavioral habits related to nutrition, stress, and physical activity of the patients suffering from hypertension are more prevalent in rural population of Gorgan, Iran.<sup>11</sup>

The mean BMI of patients in the case and control groups were respectively 26.27 and 26.20, which are near the overweight boundary. This is consistent with the studies by Aghamolaei et al.,<sup>21</sup> Najar et al.,<sup>22</sup> and Ba et al.,<sup>23</sup> as well as the studies by Songc and Dai in China.<sup>24</sup> It seems that encouraging patients to lose weight and interventions for weight loss seem to be necessary for hypertension reduction. On the other hand, half of the people do not have regular physical activity as a factor of hypertension reduction. This is in agreement with the investigations bv Shayesteh et al.,<sup>14</sup> Najar et al.,<sup>22</sup> Sadeghi et al.,<sup>25</sup> Madani et al.<sup>26</sup> and Ahmadi<sup>20</sup>. The first mentioned study indicated that this inactivity among rural population is associated with urban lifestyle and hence it is necessary to modify it among the rural people.

Limitations of the study included the lack of generalizability of the study findings. Besides, the cross-sectional design of the study limited any causal interpretation of the relationships between health promotion activities and hypertension.

# Conclusion

In General, the health-promoting lifestyle in patients with hypertension was in a medium level, but the physical activity scale was in the weak level. Therefore, educational interventions and promotion to provide a suitable basis for physical activity for people with hypertension to control their weight can be an effective step in improving the health level in these patients.

# **Conflict of Interests**

Authors have no conflict of interests.

# Acknowledgments

This study was extracted from a research called "Relationship between lifestyle and primary hypertension among the people referring to health centers of Tangestan city". The study was approved by Bushehr University of Medical Sciences in 2015 with IR-BPVMS.REC.1394.188 grant code and was supported by this university. The authors would like to appreciate the health chancellor, health manager, and the staffs of the university as well as the participants for their cooperation in the present study.

### References

- Alm-Roijer C, Stagmo M, Uden G, Erhardt L. Better knowledge improves adherence to lifestyle changes and medication in patients with coronary heart disease. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2004; 3(4): 321-30.
- 2. Twagirumukiza M, De Bacquer D, Kips JG, de Backer G, Stichele RV, Van Bortel LM. Current and projected prevalence of arterial hypertension in sub-Saharan Africa by sex, age and habitat: An estimate from population studies. J Hypertens 2011; 29(7): 1243-52.
- 3. Saber Moghadam Ranjbar M, Rajabzade R, Nasiry Zarin Ghabaee D. Relationship of lifestyle and hypertension in administrative employees in Bojnurd rural areas. J North Khorasan Univ Med Sci 2014; 5(4): 785-91.
- Lawes CM, Vander Hoorn S, Rodgers A. Global burden of blood-pressure-related disease, 2001. Lancet 2008; 371(9623): 1513-8.

- 5. Zhang XH, Lisheng L, Campbell NR, Niebylski ML, Nilsson P, Lackland DT. Implementation of world health organization package of essential noncommunicable disease interventions (WHO PEN) for primary health care in low-resource settings: A policy statement from the world hypertension league. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) 2016; 18(1): 5-6.
- 6. Edlin G, Golanty E. Health and wellness. 8<sup>th</sup> ed. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett; 2004.
- Sarrafzadegan N, Mohammmadifard N. Cardiovascular Disease in Iran in the Last 40 Years: Prevalence, Mortality, Morbidity, Challenges and Strategies for Cardiovascular Prevention. Arch Iran Med 2019; 22(4): 204-10.
- 8. Stamler J. Blood pressure and high blood pressure. Aspects of risk. Hypertension 1991; 18(3 Suppl): I95-107.
- Baghiani Moghadam MH, Eyvazi S, Mazloumi Mahmoudabad SS, Falahzadeh H. Factors in relation with self- regulation of hypertension, based on the model of goal directed behavior in Yazd city (2006). J Birjand Univ Med Sci 2008; 15(3): 78-87. [In Persian].
- 10. Karimiyar Jahromy M, Yousefi Maghsoudbeiki H, Shamsi A, Sadeghi M, Charkhandaz M. Effect of lifestyle education on the knowledge and performance of patients affected by hypertension. Education & Ethic in Nursing 2013; 2(4): 7-12. [In Persian].
- Mansoorian M, Qorbani M, Shafieyan N, Asayesh H, Rahimzadeh Barzaki H, Shafieyan Z. Association between life style and hypertension in rural population of Gorgan. J Health Promot Manag 2012; 1(2): 23-8. [In Persian].
- Baghianimoghadam M, Ehrampoush M, Ardian N, Soltani T. A research about Health promoting activities (lifestyle) at employees. Tibbi-i-Kar 2013; 5(3): 79-87. [In Persian].
- 13. Morvati Sharifabad MA, Babai GH, Haidarnia A, Ghofranipour F. Perceived religious Support from health promotion life style and situational behavior in elderly 65 years and older of Yazd city. J Shaheed Sadoughi Univ Med Sci 2005; 12(1): 23-9. [In Persian].
- 14. Shayesteh H, Mansoriyan M, Mirzaie A, Sayehmiri K. Survey of the effect of educational intervention on the nutrition physical activity and stress management of patients with hypertension among the rural population of Aligoudarz County of Lorestan Province in 2015. J Ilam Univ Med Sci 2016; 24(2): 54-62. [In Persian].
- 15. Espinoza-Gomez F, Ceja-Espiritu G, Trujillo-Hernandez B, Uribe-Araiza T, Abarca-de HP, Flores-Vazquez DP. Analysis of risk factors for hypertension in Colima, Mexico. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2004; 16(6): 402-7.

- 16. Lee M, Entzminger L, Lohsoonthorn V, Williams MA. Risk factors of hypertension and correlates of blood pressure and mean arterial pressure among patients receiving health exams at the Preventive Medicine Clinic, King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital, Thailand. J Med Assoc Thai 2006; 89(8): 1213-21.
- Mirzaei M, Moayedallaie S, Jabbari L, Mohammadi M. Prevalence of Hypertension in Iran 1980-2012: A Systematic Review. J Tehran Heart Cent 2016; 11(4):159-167.
- 18. Vakili M, Hosseini N, Farzaneh Z, Falahati Aghda M, Fazelpour V, Hosseini A, et al. Factor associated with Hypertension of over 30 years old rural population in Eslamabad Gharb-2013. Toloo e Behdasht 2016; 14(6): 119-25. [In Persian].
- 19. Eftekhar Ardebili H, Fathi S, Moradi H, Mahmoudi M, Mahery AB. Effect of educational intervention based on the health belief model in blood pressure control in hypertensive women. J Mazandaran Univ Med Sci 2014; 24(119): 62-71. [In Persian].
- 20. Ahmadi A, Hasanzadeh J, Rajaefard A. To determine the relative factors on hypertension in Kohrang, Chaharmahal & Bakhtiari province, 2007. Iran J

Yandarani et al.

Epidemiol 2008; 4(2): 19-25. [In Persian].

- 21. Aghamolaei T, Hossaini FS, Farshidi H, Madani A, Ghanbarnejad A. Lifestyle of patients with high blood pressure in rural areas of Jahrom, Iran. Journal of Prevention Medicine 2014; 1(1): 1-9. [In Persian].
- 22. Najar L, Heydari A, Behnam Vashani HR. The relationship between lifestyle and essential hypertension in Sabzevar, Iran. J Sabzevar Univ Med Sci 2004; 11(2): 49-54. [In Persian].
- Ba HO, Camara Y, Menta I, Sangare I, Sidibe N, Diall IB, et al. Hypertension and Associated Factors in Rural and Urban Areas Mali: Data from the STEP 2013 Survey. Int J Hypertens 2018; 2018: 6959165.
- 24. Songe H, Dai LP. Case-control analysis of the risk factor of hypertension among rural population of Henan province. Chinese Journal of Clinical Rehabilitation 2005; 19(35): 26-7.
- 25. Sadeghi M, Roohafza HR, Asgary S, Sadry GH, Bahonar A, Amani A, et al. Prevalence of high blood pressure and its relation with cardiovascular risk factors. J Qazvin Univ Med Sci 2003; 7(2): 46-52. [In Persian].
- 26. Madani A, Hossaini FS, Farshidi H, Aghamolaei T, Ghanbarnejad A. Lifestyle of patients with high blood pressure in rural areas of Jahrom, Iran. Hypertension 2015; 33: e4.

**DOI:** 10.22122/cdj.v7i4.463

Abstract

**Published by** Vesnu Publications

chron c

# The frequency of substance abuse tendency and its related factors among high school students in Divandarreh City, Iran, in year 2018

# Pooya Valizadeh-Ardalan<sup>1</sup>, Hero Yazdanpanah<sup>1</sup>, <u>Karo Servatyari</u><sup>1</sup>, Nabi Mardani<sup>1</sup>, Milad Parkalian<sup>2</sup>

- 1 Student Research Committee, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran
- 2 Department of General Psychology, Faculty of Psychology, Bu-Ali Sina University, Hamedan, Iran

# **Original Article**

**BACKGROUND:** Adolescence is the most risky part of life for beginning of substance abuse. Substance use in adolescence can affect the rest of the person's life in addition to his youth. The purpose of this study was to determine the frequency of substance abuse and its related factors among high school students in the city of Divandarreh, Kurdistan Province, Iran, in 2018.

**METHODS:** This was a cross-sectional study. The statistical population consisted of all high school students (16-18 years old) in Divandarreh City in 2018. The sample size was 386. The instruments of this study were demographic information and Zargar et al. addiction questionnaires. Data were entered into SPSS software and chi-square test was used to evaluate the analytical data.

**RESULTS:** According to the results, 279 (75%) of students had low addiction tendency, 66 (17%) had moderate addiction tendency, and 25 (6%) tended to severe addiction. 117 students (31%) had at least one experience of using alcohol, smoking, drugs, and other substances and 53 (15%) claimed daily consumption of substances and drugs. There was a significant relationship between sex (P = 0.001), father's education (P = 0.028), mother's education (P = 0.011), father's job (P = 0.001), educational grade (P = 0.002), economic status (P < 0.001), and average of study (P = 0.019) with substance abuse tendency.

**CONCLUSION:** According to the results of this study, providing a quiet and full of confidence environment for adolescents should be one of the fundamental priorities of each family. In addition to this result, parents' educational growth leads to less willingness of children to addiction.

**KEYWORDS:** Substance Abuse, Substance-Related Disorders, Mental Disorders, Students

# Date of submission: 11 July 2018, Date of acceptance: 25 Sep. 2018

**Citation:** Valizadeh-Ardalan P, Yazdanpanah H, Servatyari K, Mardani N, Parkalian M. **The frequency of substance abuse tendency and its related factors among high school students in Divandarreh City, Iran, in year 2018.** Chron Dis J 2019; 7(4): 233-9.

# Introduction

Substance abuse is considered as one of the major concerns for global health.<sup>1</sup> According to the World Health Organization (WHO), smoking is among the 20 most common causes of death in the world.<sup>2</sup> According to a research, the annual mortality rate from tobacco abuse is estimated at 4 million people, and it is estimated to increase to 10 million in 2030 and

**Corresponding Author:** Karo Servatyari Email: k.servatyari@muk.ac.ir about 70% in developing countries.<sup>3</sup> This is while the rising trend of drug use in developed countries has declined.<sup>4</sup> Substance abuse and health problems are considered as a global concern and one of the serious behaviors that threatens teenagers and young people.<sup>5</sup>

Iran now has one of the youngest populations in the world, and since addiction mainly threatens the younger generation of any society, according to the demographic structure of our country, about 44 million of the Iranian populations are at risk.<sup>6</sup>

Substance abuse among young people is

one of the health problems facing the world today, which has a direct impact on their health.7 There is also evidence that anti-social and aggressive behaviors in early childhood are one of the most effective and most important risk factors for drug use. In fact, there are ways to diagnose people at risk of substance abuse and having anti-social and aggressive behaviors in childhood and adolescence.8 On the other hand, parenting styles are one of the factors that tend to encourage a person to aggression and using cigarettes and substance. As the level of aggression and addiction tendency in children from families with an authoritative parenting style is less than other children.9

On the other hand, child abuse causes aggression in children, causing a tendency to the substance and cigarette use in them.<sup>10</sup>

Substance abuse begins in many people from high school, so one of the most important ways to reduce drug use in adulthood is to control it at the same age.<sup>11</sup> For most people working with adolescents, the most important danger that threatens this group is that they are responding to frequent occurrences in inappropriate situations such as feeling insecure, pressure, psychological disturbances, feelings of humiliation, rejection and alienation, and conflict with parents in case of using drugs.12

It should be noted that behavioral disorders during childhood and adolescence are less considered and are considered only at the adult level and in the form of antitrust disorder or borderline personality disorder (BPD). It is very important to know that if this disorder is not treated and preventive interventions are not taken, it can often lead to substance abuse disorder and other major psychiatric disorders in adolescence and adulthood.<sup>13</sup>

There has been widespread research on juvenile substance abuse, but the rate of abuse remains high in the country, and new forms of it are constantly emerging. Although scholars and scientific-political organizations have special attention to addiction and adult addiction has been widely studied in the country, addiction in children and adolescents is less at the center of attention.

The purpose of this study was to determine the prevalence of substance abuse and its factors among high school students in Divandarreh City, Kurdistan Province, Iran, in 2018.

# Materials and Methods

This was a cross-sectional study of analytical type. The statistical population consisted of all high school students (16-18 years old) in Divandarreh City in 2018. The sampling was done using cluster sampling method and subjects were randomly selected in each cluster. The sample size was 386 according to Cochran The inclusion criteria included formula. willingness and informed consent as well as complete, correct, and accurate questionnaires, and exit criteria included personal unwillingness or incomplete questionnaires. After obtaining a license from the Education Department of the Kurdistan Province and the approval the school administrators, of researchers met the students, inviting them to participate in this study as well as to preserve the entire information about them.

Trained instructors attended schools according to a pre-determined schedule in one of the classes, and asked the students to mark the answers in the questionnaire; one of the interviewers answered questions that might be asked. The instruments of this study were demographic information questionnaire (including gender, educational age, background, household economic status, parental occupation, parents' education level, history of smoking, having specific disease, addiction, parents' and having other occupations for the student) and Zargar et al. addiction questionnaire. This questionnaire is the Iranian version of Addiction Potential Scale (IAPS) which according to the psychosocial

condition of the Iranian society was created by Zargar et al.<sup>14</sup> The questionnaire consists of two factors, 36 items, and 5 lie detector items.

The questionnaire is a combination of both active and passive readiness. Active readiness is related to antisocial behaviors, desire to use positive attitude towards drugs, drugs. depression, and excitement. In the second factor (passive readiness), the highest number of items are related to the lack of selfexpression and depression, scoring each question on a continuum from zero (totally disagree) to 3 (totally agree). Of course, this grading method will be reversed in questions 6, 12, 15, and 21. This questionnaire is a polygraph operating agent, which includes questions 12, 13, 15, 21, and 33. In order to obtain the general score of the questionnaire, the sum of the points of each single question should be combined. This score will range from 0 to 108. Higher scores mean more readiness of the respondent for addiction. A score between 0 and 36 indicates a low level of readiness for addiction, a score of 36 to 54 indicates an average readiness for addiction, and a score higher than 54 indicates a high level of person's readiness for addiction. In the research of Zargar et al., the reliability of the questionnaire was calculated as 90% using Cronbach's alpha,<sup>14</sup> which is optimal.

Data were analyzed using SPSS software (version 21, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). Chi-square test was also used for statistical analysis. For all tests, the significance level was as P < 0.050.

# Results

In this study, 370 high school students entered the study. 53.5% (198) were boys and 46.5% (172) were girls. Mean and SD of the students' age was  $16.80 \pm 0.71$ .

140 students (37.8%) were at the  $10^{th}$  grade, 177 (47.9%) at  $11^{th}$  grade, and 53 (14.3%) at 12<sup>th</sup> grade.

9 students lacked father and 2 of them had

no mother. The mean and SD of the addiction tendency score was  $39 \pm 18$ .

The demographic characteristics of the students is showed in table 1.

Table 1. Frequency and percentage of
demographic variables in high school students
in Divandarreh City, Iran, in 2018

<b>X7</b> • 11		$\langle 0/\rangle$
variable	Group	n (%)
Father's education	Illiterate	8.2
	Under diploma	63.3
	Diploma	15.5
	Academic	13.0
Mother's education	Illiterate	42.8
	Under diploma	43.6
	Diploma	7.3
	Academic	6.3
Father's job	Unemployed	1.3
5	Self-employed	39.8
	Farmer	29.3
	Employee	20.5
	Worker	9.1
Mother's job	Housewife	91.6
5	Self-employed	0.8
	Farmer	0.8
	Employee	6.8
History of smoking	Yes	31.6
, ,	No	68.4
Having another job	Yes	9.8
6 3	No	90.2
History of the	Yes	7.3
disease	No	92.7
Parental addiction	Yes	11.1
	No	88.9

117 (31%) of students had at least one experience of smoking, alcohol, cigarette, or narcotics, of which 53 (15%) students were addicted to daily smoking, alcohol, or drug.

On the other hand, 279 (75.4%) of students had low addiction tendency, 66 (17.8%) had moderate tendency to addiction, and 25 (6.8%) pointed to severe addiction.

There was statistically significant relationship between sex (P = 0.001), father's education (P = 0.028), mother's education (P = 0.011), father's occupation (P = 0.001), smoking history (P < 0.001), educational grade (P = 0.002), economic status (P = 0.233), average of study (P = 0.019), having or not having a job (P < 0.001), and having or not having a disease (P < 0.001) with a tendency to substance abuse (Table 2).

### Р Variable Addiction Total Low Moderate Severe Gender Boy 151 (76) 26 (13) 21 (11) 198 (100) 0.001 Girl 128 (74) 40 (23) 4 (23) 172 (100) 25 (100) 66 (100) Total 279 (100) 370 (100) Mother's education Illiterate 114 (73) 34 (22) 9 (5) 157 (100) 0.011 Under diploma 30 (19) 10(6) 120 (75) 160 (100) 5 (19) Diploma 20 (74) 2(7) 27 (100) Academic 0(0)23 (100) 23 (100) 0(0)277 (75) Total 24(7)367 (100) 66 (18) Father's education 27 (90) Illiterate 2 (6) 30 (100) 0.028 1(3)Under diploma 167 (73) 51 (23) 11(4)229 (100) Diploma 39 (70) 11 (19) 6(11) 56 (100) 40 (85) Academic 4 (9) 47 (100) 3 (6) Total 273 (75) 66 (19) 23 (6) 362 (100) Father's job Unemployed 2(40)3 (60) 0(0)5 (100) 0.001 26 (18) 106 (74) 12 (8) 144 (100) Self-employed Farmer 82 (77) 17 (17) 7 (6) 106 (100) Employee 65 (88) 6 (8) 3(4)74 (100) Worker 18 (55) 14 (42) 1(3)33 (100) Total 273 (75) 66 (18) 23 (7) 362 (100) 337 (100) 3 (100) Mother's job Housewife 251 (74) 61 (18) 25 (8) 0.136 Self-employed 0(0)2 (66) 1 (34) 1 (34) Farmer Employee 2 (66) 0(0)3 (100) 23 (92) 2 (8) 0(0)25 (100) Total 277 (76) 66 (18) 25 (6) 368 (100) 0.001 History of smoking Yes 63 (54) 35 (29) 19 (18) 117 (100) 216 (85) No 31 (12) 6(3) 253 (100) 66 (17) 25 (6) 370 (100) Total 279 (76) Parental addiction Yes 25 (60) 12 (30) 4 (10) 41 (100) 0.072 254 (77) 54 (16) No 21(7)329 (100) Total 279 (75) 66 (18) 25(7)370 (100) $10^{\text{th}}$ 10(7) 0.002 Educational grade 101 (72) 29 (21) 140 (100) $11^{\text{th}}$ 147 (83) 24 (14) 177 (100) 6(3) 12<sup>th</sup> 31 (58) 279 (750) 13 (92) 9(17) 53 (100) 66 (18) Total 25(7)370 (100) Economic status Poor 143 (71) 44 (22) 14(7)201 (100) 0.233 Moderate 110 (81) 18 (13) 8 (6) 136 (100) 3 (9) Good 26 (79) 4 (12) 33 (100) 279 (75) Total 66 (18) 25 (7) 370 (100) Good 33 (25) 11 (8) 134 (100) Average 90 (67) 0.019 33 (14) Bad 189 (80) 14 (6) 236 (100) 279 (75) 66 (18) 25 (7) 370 (100) Total

# Table 2. Relationship between demographic variables and addiction tendency among high schoolstudents in Divandarreh City, Iran, in 2018

Values are expressed as number (%).

The sum of the willing and tendency to addiction score in boys was 36783 and in girls was 31851. Therefore, the tendency to addiction in boys was significantly higher than that of girls.

88% of the students whose parents were employed inclined to have little addiction, and on the other hand, 9% of those whose parents had a job had a high addiction. 17.% of the  $12^{th}$ -grade students showed a high degree of addiction.

79% of students with a good economic situation tended to be slightly addicted and 56% of those who had a high addiction tended to have an unfavorable economic situation.

15% of students with a specific illness tended to be addicted, while only 6 percent of those who did not have a specific illness

236 Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019

Valizadeh-Ardalan et al.

tended to be addicted.

10% of students with addicted parents tended to be addicted and 60% had a tendency to have little addiction, but 77% of students who did not have addicted parents had a slight tendency to addiction.

75% of students who did not have any other job were less likely to be addicted, and 90% of those who were slightly addicted to the job had no other job.

On the other hand, all students (100%) whose mothers had university education tended to have little addiction.

# Discussion

According to the results of this study, smoking and using alcohol and drugs are affected by a wide range of social factors and are related to economic and social poverty. As a result of increasing socioeconomic and social deficiencies, consumption of alcohol, nicotine, and narcotics has also increased.<sup>15</sup>

Most of the population studied in this study was students from poor families in the community (201 from 370 students); however, there was no significant relationship between economic status and addiction, which was consistent with previous studies regarding the financial and addiction status of students.<sup>16</sup> This finding proves the hypothesis that the economic situation is not a predictor of addiction, so it cannot be said that the tendency to addiction in poor families is more or less than the wealthy families.

In this study, 23.16% of students who had a history of smoking showed a high incidence of addiction, and this percentage was 2.37% for students who did not have such history, which in turn indicated the importance of smoking history. This finding shows that smoking in adolescents is one of the most important risk factors in the tendency of adolescents to use drugs.

The prevalence of drug use at least once in a lifetime (including cigarettes, alcoholic

beverages, and narcotics) among students in the city of Divandarreh in 2018 was 31.6%, which is in line with similar studies on the students of Shiraz, Iran (30.23%)<sup>4</sup> and Rasht, Iran (23.3%)<sup>17</sup> in the past years. A study conducted on high school students in Tehran, Iran, showed that the prevalence of smoking was at least 35.0% in boys and 26.9% in girls.<sup>18</sup>

Sexually, 10.6% of boys (21 of 198 boys) and 2.3% of girls (4 of 172 girls) tended to abuse drugs. The rate of use in boys was significantly higher than that of girls, which is consistent with most of the researches carried out in this field<sup>4,19</sup> and is not consistent with some studies.<sup>20</sup> On the other hand, this study, like Servatyari et al study,<sup>21</sup> there was a significant relationship between gender, educational grade, and average of study with mental disorders; so it seems that mental disorders are related to the addiction tendency in students.

In this study, pre-university students were significantly more likely to be substance abuser than others (17.0% in 12<sup>th</sup> grade vs. 7.1% at 10<sup>th</sup> grade). This predominance of addiction in pre-university students suggests a critical increase in this age that can be a good indicator of need for prevention services at this age.<sup>22</sup>

Other findings from this study include a lack of significant relationship between parents' addiction and addiction in students; this finding can strengthen the hypothesis that parenthood addiction cannot be a reason for students to use drugs or tend to be addicted. In the other words, parenting addiction cannot predict the addiction of their offspring. In this study, 9.7% of the students whose parents were addicted showed a high inclination and 29.2% of them had a moderate tendency to use drugs; these results are inconsistent with the results of the past studies. In some past studies, the influence of healthy parents and, in particular, the father's supporting role in the future character of the children has been proven;<sup>23</sup> the reason for this is perhaps related to the traditionalism of the families of the

present study in comparison to previous studies, as well as to the time and place differences of studies with each other.

Investigating the results of another study also shows that the presence of smokers and drug users in the family is effective in increasing the intent and behavior of substance abuse in individuals, especially adolescents.<sup>24</sup>

In this study, according to the results of table 2, there was a significant relationship between father's education, mother's education, and father's occupation with tendency to substance abuse. It was shown that with increasing parental education, students' unrealistic perceptions about drug dangers have decreased and with increasing father's education, students' attitudes toward drugs are less negative.

Another result of this study is the significant relationship between educational grade and substance abuse tendency. At the twelfth grade, the tendency to addiction was more than other grades, it may be due to the fact that students of this age are mostly affected by the university entrance exam and their future and experience more stress and discomfort, which can lead to tobacco or drug use. On the other hand, due to the sensitivity of this grade, mental, physical, and family discomforts of this age can be a major contributing factor to substance abuse.

On the other hand, Servatyari et al. study shows that traumatic and excessive use of mobile phones is a potential risk factor for drug addiction resulting from mental disorders in students and such disorders are in turn an effective factor in decreasing students' academic performance.<sup>25</sup>

Therefore, identification and elimination of effective factors in the tendency of adolescents to consuming drugs can be effective in preventing drug use in adolescents and reducing the demand for drugs in adults. Providing a suitable environment tailored to the needs of adolescents should be considered as one of the priorities of each family, as well as macro policies for the treatment and protection of addicted persons as well as preventive training, and this is not possible without identifying and modifying related social factors.

# Conclusion

According to the results of this study, provision of a quiet and trusting environment for adolescents should be considered as one of the fundamental priorities of each family. In addition, the parent's educational growth is also based on the results obtained in this study, the lower inclination of children to it has an addiction.

# **Conflict of Interests**

Authors have no conflict of interests.

# Acknowledgments

This project is part of the results of a research project which was approved and supported financially by the Deputy of Research of Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran (number: IR.MUK.1398.015).

The authors of this article also express their gratitude and thanks to all the directors and teachers of the schools in Divandarreh, as well as all the students who have helped to collect the correct data.

# References

- 1. Molina AJ, Fernandez D, Delgado M, Martin V. Sensitivity and specificity of a self-administered questionnaire of tobacco use; Including the Fagerstrom test. Int J Nurs Stud 2010; 47(2): 181-9.
- 2. The alcohol, smoking and substance involvement screening test (ASSIST): development, reliability and feasibility. Addiction 2002; 97(9): 1183-94.
- Murray CJ, Lopez AD. Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990-2020: Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet 1997; 349(9064): 1498-504.
- Ahmadi J, Hasani M. Prevalence of substance use among Iranian high school students. Addict Behav 2003; 28(2): 375-9.

- 5. Farhadinasab A, Allahverdipour H, Bashirian S, Mahjoub H. Lifetime pattern of substance abuse, parental support, religiosity, and locus of control in adolescent and young male users. Iran J Public Health 2008; 37(4): 88-95.
- Barooni S, Mehrdad R, Akbari E. A survey of Ecstasy use among 15-25 year-olds in five areas of Tehran. Tehran Univ Med J 2008; 65(11): 49-54. [In Persian].
- 7. Delavari Heravi M, Ahmadi A, Nouri Sistani M. Knowledge of students from the management faculties of Tehran and Iran university of medical sciences about the effects of taking ecstasy. J Babol Univ Med Sci 2007; 9(3): 43-6. [In Persian].
- 8. Hawkins JD, Catalano RF, Miller JY. Risk and protective factors for alcohol and other drug problems in adolescence and early adulthood: implications for substance abuse prevention. Psychol Bull 1992; 112(1): 64-105.
- 9. Servatyari K, Yousefi F, Kashefi H, Bahmani M, Parvareh M, Servatyari S. The relationship between parenting styles with the aggression of their children in Sanandaj primary students. Int J BioMed Public Health 2018; 1(3): 141-7.
- 10. Servatyari K, Yazdanpanah H, Rasouli M, Yousefi F. Surveying of relationship between child abuse and aggression in primary school students in Sanandaj City-Iran. Int J BioMed Public Health 2018; 1(4): 162-8.
- 11. Bashirian S, Heidarnia A, Allahverdipour H. The relationship between self-control and intention to substance abuse in adolescents. Sci J Hamadan Nurs Midwifery Fac 2012; 20(1): 45-55. [In Persian].
- 12. Rahimi Movaghar A, Sahimi Izadian E. Drug use condition among school students in Iran. Social Welfare Quarterly 2006; 5(19): 9-30. [In Persian].
- 13. Kim-Cohen J, Caspi A, Moffitt TE, Harrington H, Milne BJ, Poulton R. Prior juvenile diagnoses in adults with mental disorder: Developmental followback of a prospective-longitudinal cohort. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2003; 60(7): 709-17.
- 14. Zargar Y, Najarian B, Naami AZ. The relationship of some personality variables, religious attitudes and marital satisfaction with addiction potential in personnel of an industrial factory in Ahvaz. Journal of Education and Psychology 2008; 15(1): 99-120. [In Persian].
- 15. World Health Organization. Social determinants of health: The solid facts. Geneva, Switzerland:

WHO; 2003.

- Zahiredin AR, Kiany A. Childhood risk factors in substance abuse among a group of abuser 20-30 yearold group in Tehran. Avicenna J Clin Med 2004; 10(4): 38-42.
- 17. Najafi K. The prevalence of substance use among highschool students in Rasht City (Iran). Iran J Psychiatry Clin Psychol 2005; 11(2): 233-6. [In Persian].
- Ziayi P, Hatamizade N, Vameghi R. Investigation of cigarret use prevalence and the first age of use cigarret in Tehran studends in 1377-78. Hakim Res J 2002; 2: 6-10. [In Persian].
- 19. Ziaaddini H, Ziaaddini MR. The Household Survey of Drug Abuse in Kerman, Iran. J Appl Sci 2005; 5: 380-2.
- 20. Bayan Zadeh SA, Bou Alhari J, Shahmohammadi D, Nasr Esphahani M, Atef Vahid MK, Dadfar M, et al. Preliminary study on the prevalence of substance abuse in the rural areas of the west of Tehran province (Hashtgerd And Taleghan) using key persons. Hakim Res J 2004; 7(1): 9-17. [In Persian].
- 21. Servatyari K, Valizadeh Ardalan P, Yazdnpanah S, Mardani N, Yazdan Panah H. Frequency of psychological disorders symptoms and their effects on high school students in Divandareh city in 2018. Shenakht Journal of Psychology and Psychiatry 2019; 6(3): 71-82.
- 22. Zia Aldini SH, Zarezadeh A, Heshmati F. The prevalence rate of substance abuse and addiction and some relevant factors among junior and senior high school students in Kerman city (2000-2001). J Kerman Univ Med Sci 2006; 13(2): 84-94. [In Persian].
- 23. Ansari H, Farajzadegan Z, Al-Dirani S, Heidari K, Omidi R, Amini Z, et al. The attitude of high-school students in Isfahan province, Iran, towards addictive substances, and their association with social determinants of health. J Isfahan Med Sch 2018; 36(479): 494-501. [In Persian].
- 24. Tavousi M, Montazeri A, Taremian F, Hajizadeh E, Hidarnia A. Factors associated with substance abuse in adolescents by using the theory of planned behavior. Social Welfare Quarterly 2012; 12(44): 93-109. [In Persian].
- 25. Servatyari K, Valizadeh Ardalan P, Yazdanpanah S, Yazdanpanah H, Parkalian M. The Relationship between Mobile Phone Addiction and Depression and Hopelessness among High School Students in Divandareh city in 2018. Acta Scientific Medical Sciences 2019; 3(10): 58-64.

**Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019** 239

**DOI:** 10.22122/cdj.v7i4.412

Abstract

Published by Vesnu Publications

chron o

# Cutaneous reactions to carbamazepine in children with epilepsy

# Asma Zamiri<sup>1</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, Sepide Amoiyan<sup>1</sup>, Sina Mostafavi-Toroghi<sup>1</sup>, Mahdi Babaei-Hatkehlouei<sup>2</sup>, Amirhossein Moaddabi<sup>3</sup>, Mehran Ebrahimzadeh-Hassanabadi<sup>2</sup>, Tahereh Bakhshi<sup>4</sup><sup>(6)</sup>

1 Student Research Committee, School of Medicine, Golestan University of Medical Sciences, Gorgan, Iran

2 Student Research Committee, Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences, Sari, Iran

3 Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, School of Dentistry, Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences, Sari, Iran

4 Student Research Committee, School of Paramedicine, Golestan University of Medical Sciences, Gorgan, Iran

# **Original Article**

**BACKGROUND:** The main components in controlling and treating seizures are antiepileptic drugs (AEDs). Mostly, the systemic side effects of these drugs are regarded very important; however, these drugs can also cause serious mucocutaneous side effects. Carbamazepine is a drug which is used to treat epilepsy. Side effects of this drug can range from skin rash to toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN) and Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS). The purpose of this study was to evaluate skin complications of carbamazepine in children with epilepsy.

**METHODS:** This study was performed on 99 children, aged 2 months to 11 years, with the diagnosis of skin complications after taking carbamazepine. Records were examined and their initial profiles including their medical skin conditions and rashes were recorded within the checklist. Data were entered into SPSS software. Measures of central tendency and dispersion were achieved. Finally, the relationship between the drug and the cutaneous reactions of these patients was analyzed using the chi-square test.

**RESULTS:** The most common complications among the patients were maculopapular lesions and skin erythroderma, with the prevalence of 37.4% for each. Other types of skin lesions included papules with 14.1%, macules with 8.1%, and SJS with 3.0%. A significant association (P = 0.02) between the types of the skin lesion and the dose of carbamazepine was observed; the more the dosage was, the more severe skin lesions were.

**CONCLUSION:** The most common cutaneous reactions to carbamazepine were erythroderma and maculopapular rash in the patients. The findings of this study also revealed that the lack of drug compliance was of high importance. **KEYWORDS:** Carbamazepine, Epilepsy, Cutaneous Adverse Drug Reactions, Antiepileptic Drugs

# Date of submission: 15 Sep. 2018, Date of acceptance: 12 Dec. 2018

**Citation:** Zamiri A, Amoiyan S, Mostafavi-Toroghi S, Babaei-Hatkehlouei M, Moaddabi A, Ebrahimzadeh-Hassanabadi M, et al. **Cutaneous reactions to carbamazepine in children with epilepsy.** Chron Dis J 2019; 7(4): 240-5.

# Introduction

Anticonvulsants play the main role in controlling and curing seizures. The prevalence of seizures in Iran is about 1% and various anticonvulsants are used in this country. Mostly, the systemic side effects of these medications are considered, e.g., hepatitis and kidney failure; however, they can

**Corresponding Author:** Tahereh Bakhshi Email: tehiiibakhshi94@gmail.com cause mucocutaneous lesions leading to discontinuance or replacement of the the most prevalent medicine. Some of cutaneous side effects are: exanthema, hypersensitivity syndrome, lymphoma-like symptoms, erythema multiforme (EM), erythroderma, toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN), drug-induced lupus erythematosus (DILE), Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS), acneiform eruptions, vasculitis, gingival hyperplasia, hypertrichosis, hair loss, and hair

240 Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019

color changes.<sup>1</sup> Among the anticonvulsants, aromatic compounds such as phenytoin, phenobarbital, and carbamazepine are more likely to cause skin lesions which sometimes may require hospitalization. The pathogenesis of these skin problems looks multifactorial.<sup>2,3</sup>

The side effects of anticonvulsants are the major cause of morbidity and sometimes mortality during the treatment of epilepsy in patients, which would probably affect their quality of life and burden of disease. The exact incidence rate of adverse reactions to these drugs is not available due to the outpatient treatment for both epilepsy and the adverse drug reactions (ADRs) in majority of the cases. Most of these side effects are mild and will not get the patients hospitalized. In outpatient treatment, the side effects are not properly reported or recorded; therefore, it is difficult to estimate the incidence rate of these complications.

Carbamazepine is a common drug used for treating epilepsy. The skin reactions range from maculopapular eruptions to SJS and TEN.<sup>1</sup> The drug-induced skin eruptions are distinguished from the non-drug-related cases, based on the patient's history, the clinical examination, and the features of the eruptions. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the cutaneous reactions to carbamazepine in epileptic patients who were treated with this medicine and were recorded in Taleghani Hospital of Gorgan, Iran, in 2012.

# **Materials and Methods**

This cross-sectional study was carried out on children who were treated with the carbamazepine as a medication for epilepsy and were hospitalized by virtue of skin lesions and had hospital records. The sample size was determined 99 cases, based on 80% power and 95% level of confidence considering the missing information in the records. Data in the records were extracted based on a checklist that included skin problems caused by taking drug-induced rashes, medications, basic

information of the patients, etc. The data were encoded and entered into SPSS software (version 18, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Measures of central tendency and variability and the relationship between cutaneous side effects of the drug and demographic characteristics of these patients were analyzed using the chi-square test.

# Results

During the year 2012, 123 cases were hospitalized in Taleghani Hospital due to cutaneous lesions which were appeared while taking carbamazepine. Of all these patients, 20 were excluded: 5 for lacking proper medication compliance and failure to comply with the right drug consumption as written in their prescriptions, 3 for incomplete hospital records, and 12 for consulting with other health services, e.g., allergy and infection units and accordingly for the probability of being diagnosed with a medical complication other carbamazepine-induced cutaneous than reactions. Finally in this study, of the remaining 103 patients, 99 children aged from 2 months to 11 years were randomly chosen and examined. They were admitted to Taleghani University Hospital of Gorgan and were diagnosed with carbamazepine-induced cutaneous lesions. In terms of age frequency, the average age of the hospitalized patients that participated in this study was 44.49 months and the standard deviation (SD) was 33.22. The minimum age among the patients was 2 months and the maximum was 11 years. 25% were less than 16 months, 25% were 16 to 37 months, and the other 50% were aged between 37 and 67 months.

According to figure 1, while assessing the types of skin reactions caused by carbamazepine in patients, we observed that the most prevalent reactions were erythroderma and mucopapular eruptions with the portion of 37.4% for each. SJS was the most infrequent reaction with the prevalence of 3.0%. The prevalence of papules

and macules was 14.1% and 8.1%, respectively.



### Figure 1. Absolute frequencies of different types of rash in children treated with carbamazepine

In this survey, the number of males who were affected with rashes due to using carbamazepine was higher. In terms of ethnicity, 41 patients (41.4%) were Fars, 18 patients (18.2%) were Turkmen, 26 patients (26.3%) were Sistani, and 14 patients (14.1%) were of other ethnic groups.

Studying the patients, it was found out that the majority of them (77.8%) had no history of allergic reactions to any foreign matter or medicine. Among the types of seizure, generalized seizures were more prevalent happening to 60 patients (60.6%) and partial seizures were less seen with the prevalence of 39.4%. The relationship between the types of skin lesions and the types of seizures are compared in table 1. It should be noted that no meaningful significant relationship was observed between sex and the type of skin reaction after the drug use (P = 0.06).

The average duration of drug use in

patients was  $12.82 \pm 6.56$  days. The minimum and maximum intervals between taking the drug and onset of the reactions were 4 days and 30 days, respectively. Concerning the interval between emergence of skin lesions and going to the hospital, the average time was  $3.25 \pm 3.07$  days; the minimum interval was 1 day (going on the same day that rashes appeared) and the maximum interval was 5 days. The relationship between types of skin lesions and the time each takes to appear is evaluated in figure 2.



# Figure 2. Relationships between types of skin lesions and rash start time

In terms of the relation between types of skin lesions and the daily drug dosage used by the patients, analysis of variance (ANOVA) statistical test showed that there was a significant correlation here; the more the dosage was, the more severe lesions were.

With regard to the possible influence of ethnicity on the occurrence of skin reactions during treatment with this medicine, chi-square analysis was used to assess this hypothesis.

Table 1. Comparison of relations between types of skin lesions and convulsions among the patients	៖ (in
terms of the number of people)	

Type of seizure	Erythroderma	Macules	Papules	Maculopapular	SJS	Р
Generalized	25	5	6	22	2	0.61
Partial	12	3	8	15	1	
CIC: Stavana Johnson a	undromo					

SJS: Stevens-Johnson syndrome

242 Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019

Findings indicated that erythroderma and maculopapular rash were more prevalent in Fars patients and macules were more common in Turkmen ones. Statistically, this difference was not a significant correlation (P = 0.28) (Table 2).

# Table 2. Comparison of relation between typesof skin lesions and the daily drug dosage

Type of skin lesions	Average (mg/day)	SE	Р
Erythroderma	237.84	13.75	0.02
Macules	256.25	22.03	
Papules	321.43	32.61	
Maculopapular	347.57	12.73	
SJS	350.00	76.37	

SJS: Stevens-Johnson syndrome; SE: Standard error

# Discussion

This study was performed on 99 children aged 2 months to 11 years who were referred to Taleghani Hospital of Gorgan, in 2012, and were diagnosed with adverse skin reactions after carbamazepine therapy. In terms of age frequency, the average age of hospitalized patients that participated in this study was  $44.49 \pm 33.22$  months.

The minimum age among the patients was 2 months and the maximum was 11 years. 25% were less than 16 months, 25% were 16 to 37 months, and the other 50% were aged between 37 and 67 months. Mamishi et al. reported 7 Iranian children with severe skin reactions caused by barbiturates. These children were aged 2 to 11 years. Their symptoms began 1-2 weeks after taking the drug. Early prodromal symptoms were fatigue, fever, cough, anorexia, and then the mucocutaneous manifestations started to appear and worsen gradually. The skin reactions ranged from skin rashes to large blisters.<sup>4</sup>

In our study, the majority of patients were male with the frequency of 61.6%. About ethnicities of patients with skin lesions caused by carbamazepine, the majority was Fars, and after that, the number of Sistani and Turkmen patients was respectively higher. In this survey, 77.8% of the patients had no specific history of allergy to any food or drug and only 22.2% of them had histories of allergies. Comparing the relationships between the types of skin lesions and the patients' allergy backgrounds did not indicate any significant correlation. Concerning the family relationship between parents of the children, 37 children had relative parents and the other 62 did not. The statistical analysis showed that there was a correlation about this in the patients. Assessing types of seizure after the initial diagnoses indicated that 60.6% of the seizures were generalized and the other 39.4% were partial. The average time of carbamazepine treatment was 12.82 ± 6.56 days among patients. Garcia et al. reported a patient with severe carbamazepine-induced cutaneous reaction in the treatment of post-herpetic neuralgia patient was treated (PHN). The with carbamazepine and amitriptyline due to neuralgia. After 15 days, she developed malaise, muscle pain, with a mild non-specific cutaneous rash. Carbamazepine was discontinued immediately. One week later, she was hospitalized with urticaria, generalized exanthema, bullae, and maculopapular rashes all over her body. She evolved with progressive worsening of her symptoms, with increase in the number and size of cutaneous lesions besides areas of necrosis and loosening of the epidermis in different parts of her body. Eventually, this worsening evolved to septic shock followed by death.5

The dose of carbamazepine used by patients was also assessed. The average recommended dosage was 15 to 20 mg per kg of body weight. Unfortunately, not every family had effective medication compliance and some failed to live up to the dosage a neurologist had prescribed for them. This resulted in occurrence of cutaneous reactions and hospitalization. These patients were excluded from this study. The prevalence of different types of skin lesions

were as follows: 37.4% erythroderma, 37.4% maculopapular eruptions, 14.1% papules, 8.1% macules, and 3.0% SJS. According to the study of Huang et al.6 maculopapular rash was the onset of symptoms in every patient. The incidence rates of erythroderma and SJS were 35.5% and 28.9%, respectively. 19.7% of the patients had TEN, 10.5% of them had maculopapular eruptions, and 5.0% had both maculopapular eruptions and urticaria. Phenytoin was the most common drug causing skin reactions. About the onset time of the side effects, the minimum time was 10 days and the maximum time was 5 years. The skin lesions were also assessed in hospitalized patients during 5 years. 734 patients showed symptoms for six types of skin lesion during this time. Three common non-serious lesions were urticaria, exanthema, and lesions looking like EM; and the rest were common serious complications such as SJS rash and exfoliative dermatitis. Anticonvulsants were the most common drugs causing serious skin reactions. Among patients with more serious skin reactions, the number of males and the average age were higher. They had been using the drug for a longer time and this prolonged their hospitalization time.<sup>6</sup>

Pharmacokinetics of carbamazepine in children is age- and body weight- dependent and highly variable due to influence of dosing regimen and comedication.7 There is an association of variants of genes that regulate certain isoforms of cytochrome P450 enzymes (CYPs), some sodium channels, and drug transporters with either pharmacokinetics or pharmacodynamics of carbamazepine in children.8 Genetic factors contribute to the high interindividual variability in response to antiepileptic drugs (AEDs). However, most genetic markers identified to date have limited sensitivity and specificity, and the value of genetic testing in guiding AED therapy is limited.9 The use of genetic testing to guide epilepsy treatment is likely to increase in the

future, as better understanding of the function of epilepsy genes will permit the application of precision medicine targeting the biological mechanisms responsible for epilepsy in the specific individual.<sup>10</sup>.

# Conclusion

The results of this study showed that skin reactions were one of the most frequent side effects of carbamazepine. Given the importance of the adverse reactions to this medicine, the appearance of these complications and particularly, the initial symptoms including skin reactions, should be noteworthy to the doctors. The findings also point out to the poor drug compliance in some families. They interfered in the dosage and the proper use of the medicine; thus, they could not live up to their medical prescription and this resulted in misusing of the drug in some children. Families should be perfectly justified about the exact dosage and timing of the drug and should be asked about how they are using the medication every time a doctor visits them. The average duration between the beginning of using the drug and admission of patients to the hospital was 21 ± 16 days. According to this, we could possibly say that generally, families did not pay enough attention to the danger of adverse reactions to carbamazepine and delayed in taking their children to a pediatric neurology center. In this study, the most prevalent skin lesions seen in the patients were erythroderma and maculopapular eruptions. According to this, if someone introduces these two types of skin lesion to the families as the most common ones caused by carbamazepine, it would be helping them get their children admitted to a medical center in a better time. Also according to the relationship between the dosage of medications and the incidence rate of each type of these lesions, increasing the dosage could cause severe and more extensive cutaneous reactions.

# **Conflict of Interests**

Authors have no conflict of interests.

# Acknowledgments

Appreciation and thanks to the Deputy of Research and Technology of Golestan University of Medical Sciences, Gorgan, Iran, and the Health Research Center for Infants and Children of Taleghani Hospital who helped us in this research.

This study has been derived from an MSc thesis (No. 631) approved by Golestan University of Medical Sciences.

# References

- 1. Mustafa SS, Ostrov D, Yerly D. Severe Cutaneous Adverse Drug Reactions: Presentation, Risk Factors, and Management. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2018; 18(4): 26.
- Perucca P, Gilliam FG. Adverse effects of antiepileptic drugs. Lancet Neurol 2012; 11(9): 792-802.
- Balogou AA, Grunitzky EK, Belo M, Sankaredja M, Djagba DD, Tatagan-Agbi K, et al. Management of epilepsy patients in Batamariba district, Togo. Acta Neurol Scand 2007; 116(4): 211-6.

- Zamiri *et al.*
- 4. Mamishi S, Fattahi F, Pourpak Z, Aghaee FM, Moinfar Z, Mohammadi M, et al. Severe cutaneous reactions caused by barbiturates in seven Iranian children. Int J Dermatol 2009; 48(11): 1254-61.
- Garcia JB, Ferro LS, Carvalho AB, da Rocha RM, de Souza LM. Severe carbamazepine-induced cutaneous reaction in the treatment of post-herpetic neuralgia. Case report. Rev Bras Anestesiol 2010; 60(4): 429-37.
- Huang HY, Luo XQ, Chan LS, Cao ZH, Sun XF, Xu JH. Cutaneous adverse drug reactions in a hospitalbased Chinese population. Clin Exp Dermatol 2011; 36(2): 135-41.
- Albsoul-Younes A, Gharaibeh L, Murtaja AA, Masri A, Alabbadi I, Al-Qudah AA. Patterns of antiepileptic drugs use in epileptic pediatric patients in Jordan. Neurosciences (Riyadh) 2016; 21(3): 264-7.
- Emich-Widera E, Likus W, Kazek B, Niemiec P, Balcerzyk A, Sieron AL, et al. CYP3A5\*3 and C3435T MDR1 polymorphisms in prognostication of drug-resistant epilepsy in children and adolescents. Biomed Res Int 2013; 2013: 526837.
- 9. Yun W, Zhang F, Hu C, Luo X, Xue P, Wang J, et al. Effects of EPHX1, SCN1A and CYP3A4 genetic polymorphisms on plasma carbamazepine concentrations and pharmacoresistance in Chinese patients with epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 2013; 107(3): 231-7.
- 10. Franco V, Perucca E. The pharmacogenomics of epilepsy. Expert Rev Neurother 2015; 15(10): 1161-70.

DOI: 10.22122/cdj.v7i4.455

**Published by** Vesnu Publications

chron c

# Hope measurement questionnaire for family members of patients admitted to intensive care units

# Fouad Rahimi<sup>1</sup>, Abbas Ebadi<sup>1</sup>, Fatemeh Oskoie<sup>1</sup>

1 Department of Nursing, Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

# Abstract

# **Original Article**

**BACKGROUND:** Since the concept of hope in the family members of patients admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU) is of particular importance and the role of this concept in the health of this group of people is evident, it seems that a valid and reliable scale for measuring this concept is necessary. The purpose of this study was to design a hope measurement questionnaire for family members of patients admitted to the ICU of Besat Hospital in Sanandaj, Iran.

**METHODS:** The families of patients in the ICUs were selected using the convenience sampling method and completed the "Hope Questionnaire" along with demographic characteristics questionnaire and Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) (criterion scale). The validity of the instrument was determined by construct validity and criterion validity and the reliability was evaluated through calculation of internal correlation coefficient and test-retest. Data were analyzed by factor analysis, correlation coefficients, and Cronbach's alpha.

**RESULTS:** The items having the most factor loading were named based on the nature and size of the variables from which the extracted factors had the most share. First factor, including 15 items alone, represented 14.867% of the total variance and was named "Optimistic Thinking towards the Future" and the second factor, representing 14.666% of the total variance, was named "Pessimistic Thinking towards the Future" which had 7 items. The correlation between the scores of Hope Scale and the BDI, which was performed for assessing the criterion validity of the scale (P < 0.01).

**CONCLUSION:** The Hope Scale helps researchers gauge the different dimensions of hope through a deeper understanding of this concept. The scale had high validity and reliability in all fields. Considering the simplicity of its application and implementation, it can be used in various researches in which hope is considered as one of the studied variables.

KEYWORDS: Questionnaire Design, Hope, Intensive Care, Psychometric, Intensive Care Unit

# Date of submission: 12 July 2018, Date of acceptance: 19 Sep. 2018

**Citation:** Rahimi F, Ebadi A, Oskoie F. **Hope measurement questionnaire for family members of patients** admitted to intensive care units. Chron Dis J 2019; 7(4): 246-51.

# Introduction

Intensive care unit (ICU) is designated as an environment for providing special care to critical and ill patients. Critical illnesses often occur without warning and for a short period of time for patients and their families.<sup>1</sup> ICU is where ill patients are hospitalized and treated by experienced doctors and nurses and with

**Corresponding Author:** Foad Rahimi Email: foadrahimi63@yahoo.com the best treatment.<sup>2</sup> Hospitalization in the ICU potentially has an undesired concept for the patient and family and makes them incur many problems that escaping from their negative effects is inevitable. Fear of losing one of the family members, fear of the future, fear of financial burden of disease on the family, changes in family members' roles, anxiety and distress, depression, loneliness, and frustration are among the threats that affect the integrated family system.<sup>3-5</sup> Having a patient in ICU is accompanied with tensions and special
challenges for family members which can include loss of control, changes in roles, fear of the future and patient's health, and frustration.<sup>6</sup>

The experience of hope in families with a patient admitted to the ICU is significantly different from that of a family with a patient admitted to other units. Because these families face a period of hospitalization in which their patients are in critical condition and between death and life; even if the length of hospitalization in the ICU is short, the life of family members is affected for weeks or months in different aspects.<sup>7-10</sup>

Considering the abovementioned, giving hope by the health care team is essential because giving hope to the patient's family is considered as one of the roles of nursing. In particular, nurses can improve the health outcomes in this group and, consequently, in society, by creating positive impacts on hope in the family members of these patients. Therefore, it is necessary to pay more attention to the phenomenon of hope in the family of patients.<sup>11,12</sup> Hope these is а human phenomenon that asks for more research, and since nurses deal with a wide range of human responses, they need to develop nursing knowledge in relation to the phenomenon of hope for comprehensive care of their patients.13 Families with a patient in the ICU are more likely to experience disappointment than those who have a patient admitted to other units. These conditions require actions that would support and direct family members during their patient hospitalization period at the ICU and improve the hope in them.<sup>14</sup>

Hope is the most basic and important part of life that relates to the meaning and purpose of life. Hope is a fundamental experience based on the circumstances that embrace the individual. Hope is like an emotional, intellectual, behavioral path and life path related to person or one's world. Hope is the human ability to immerse in his/her dreams. Hope exists even in the dream of a consequence that has not yet happened.9,15,16 Though studies such as the study of hope experience in patients with advanced cancer, the experience of hope in women with genital cancer, as well as the study of hope and social support have been done and improved clinical performance, the review of nursing literature suggests that despite the growth of the body of nursing knowledge in relation to hope, complete understanding of the phenomenon of hope has not yet been achieved, and the focus of these researches has been on patients with cancer, and on the other hand, with limitations quantitative research in for answering emotional, intellectual, and intuitive questions and given that the concept of hope can have different meanings in different cultural conditions and backgrounds, and different people experience it differently, it seems that this problem will be better investigated in the light of qualitative research that allows participants to express their experience of hope for having a patient admitted in the ICU.<sup>17,18</sup> Therefore, this research is designed with a qualitative and quantitative approach to design a tool for measuring hope in family members of patients admitted to the ICU.

#### **Materials and Methods**

This was a combined study in which content analysis was used as a type of qualitative research. The samples of this study were composed of family members of the patients admitted to the ICU of Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences hospitals, Iran, who were selected based on purpose.

The main method of data collection was interviewing and recording in the field. During the interview, non-verbal phrases, environment, and reactions of participants were recorded. In order to gain access to credible and real data, the researcher created a close and direct relationship with the participants. Through a deep, extensive, semistructured interview, participants' experiences

were collected and recorded and as quickly as possible were transcribed on paper, coded, and analyzed by content analysis method to provide feedback for subsequent interviews or the adequacy and saturation of the data.

The study participants were the family members of patients hospitalized in ICUs. Data were collected through interviews with questions. The semi-structured research environment was area a real (natural environment) and there was access to samples in health care centers in ICUs. Before conducting interviews, the researcher identified the right people by being present in environment the research and after communicating with each individual, explained to them the method and the objectives of the study and with their opinion and agreement, determined the time of the first interview session and conducted it. Then, in the next sessions, the interview was conducted by asking semistructured questions from the participants.

Since for constructing the questionnaire, the themes obtained from conventional content analysis and review of existing questionnaires were respectively used, the method of instrumentation in this study was inductivedeductive. Based on the concept resulted from the first stage, the main dimensions of the questionnaire were extracted. Then, proper phrases, that each would cover one aspect of the concept of hope, were developed. After extracting the constructive categories of the questionnaire, the items were compiled based on participants' experiences (inductive) and extracted codes from texts and similar questionnaires (deductive). At the design stage, the researcher used a set of items determined for the structure or structures of the instrument and judged to what extent these items could meet the expectations of the instrument structure. The researcher provided a pool of items based on the domains and subdomains formed by the final definition of the concept of hope. From these items, the Hope

Questionnaire was designed for family members of patients. Data analysis was carried out using conventional content analysis.

#### Results

The Hope Scale was divided into two sub-scales. Based on the performed factor analysis, items 4 and 9 were eliminated due to the fact that they were not included in any of the factors.

Items that had the most factors loading were put under the category of that factor. After assigning the items to four factors, these factors were named based on the nature and size of the variables from which the extraction factors have had the highest share and review of the vocabulary and terms, the implications of variables, the existing theories, and previous studies.<sup>5</sup> The first factor including 15 items which alone represented 14.867percent of the total variance was named "Optimistic Thinking towards the Future" and the second factor representing 14.662 percent of the total variance was named "Pessimistic Thinking towards the Future", which had 7 items.

The correlation between the scores of "Hope Scale" and the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), which was performed to assess the criterion validity of the scale, was r = 0.0, which was significant at the level of P < 0.01.

When evaluation of the criterion validity is performed in the short time interval between the implementation of the two instruments, the correlation of 40%-70% is usually acceptable.<sup>14</sup>

The Cronbach's alpha coefficient, which was performed by analyzing the questionnaire, was 0.834. The correlation of all items, except 2 items, with total score of the scale was meaningful and statistically significant, which were not deleted due to the importance of these items.

Cronbach's alpha of the first sub-scale (optimistic thinking towards the future) was calculated 0.795 and the Cronbach's alpha for the second sub-scale (pessimistic thinking towards the future) was calculated 0.721.

Number	Items	Factor 1	Factor 2
18	Everything gets better	0.572	0.374
19	I try to think better	0.552	-
20	I believe that there is a chance for me too	0.550	0.323
21	Good events will happen	0.534	0.342
15	Maybe there is a chance for me	0.530	-
17	I force myself to try harder	0.504	-
14	I think of the chances that may come to me	0.504	-
13	I am sure that my life will be better	0.490	0.459
2	There are still some good things to come across	0.419	
24	I know I am doing right in life	0.407	-
12	I do some things to get rid of bad thoughts	0.390	-
1	I look at a problem from different aspects	0.375	-
6	I can change my future	0.351	-
10	One day, I find someone to love him/her	0.348	-
8	My self-confidence becomes more and more every day	0.339	0.309
9	I do not worry about problems so much	-	-
4	I do not feel sorry all my time	-	-
22	I cannot solve the problems	-	0.675
7	Conditions will not get better for me	-	0.659
11	I am pretty sure that I cannot solve the problems	-	0.631
16	There is no light at the end of this path	-	0.631
23	I am not optimistic that I will have a good life	0.303	0.583
3	I will not be better than I am	-	0.583
5	I always see the bad side	-	0.341

#### Table 1 Faster analysis of Hone Seels

The Pearson correlation coefficient between the scores obtained from the two implementation of the Hope Scale was 0.445 which indicates the average consistency of this scale (Table 1).

#### Discussion

In this research, which was performed with the aim of designing the Hope Measurement Questionnaire for family members of patients admitted to ICUs, the construct validity and the criterion validity of the scale, along with its internal reliability and consistency were studied.

The findings of factor analysis indicated that the structure of this scale was twodimensional. The designers of the "Hope Scale" assessed its construct validity by examining the correlation of the "Hope Scale" with the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ) for adolescents, which indicated a significant positive correlation between the two scales;6 but different dimensions of the concept of hope and consequently, being a one-dimensional or multidimensional scale is not mentioned.

The criterion validity and the concurrent validity of Hope Scale, examined by calculating the correlation coefficient between the hope scores of the research units and their self-efficacy scores, showed that there was an acceptable correlation between these two concepts.

A positive relationship has also been shown between self-efficacy and hope in the performed research.7 Moreover, studies have reported a positive and significant relationship between hope and self-efficacy.8

The results of this study showed that hope in different fields of study was different and this difference in hope scores was significant. Studies have shown that hope leads to higher scores, in other words, hope is an important factor for goal-based behaviors such as getting a grade from homework.8

Hope is considered as one of the most important predictors of academic achievement. People who are more hopeful have higher education goals and more expectations of achieving success.<sup>9</sup>

In this research, the results of the internal consistency of the "Hope Scale" were evaluated by calculating the Cronbach's alpha, which corresponded to the coefficients obtained from the other studies. Calculating the reliability of the scale by a re-test method indicates the moderate consistency of the scale. The re-test method has some drawbacks. One of these problems is that many features change over time without being dependent on the consistency of the instrument.<sup>7</sup>

In examining the consistency of an instrument, estimating the amount of variation of the variable over time determines the time interval between two test runs. Most researchers recommend a minimum of two weeks intervals (to prevent the potential impact of the first test) and a maximum of one month (in order to reduce the likelihood of a change in the intended phenomenon) to conduct a retest.<sup>10</sup>

It is not recommended to check the consistency in cases where the variable under study is changed in short periods of time.<sup>11</sup> In view of these aspects, the concept of hope seems to be one of the concepts that is not constant in individuals at different times and it is volatile.

#### Conclusion

The Hope Scale helps researchers measure the different dimensions of hope through a deeper understanding of this concept. The study of the psychometric properties of "Hope Scale" showed that the scale had high validity and reliability in all fields and considering the simplicity of its application and implementation, it can be used in various researches in which hope is considered as one of the studied variables.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

Authors have no conflict of interests.

#### Acknowledgments

This research was sponsored by research & technology department of Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences with the registration number of 1394/282. The authors express their gratitude to all people who assisted in conducting this research.

#### References

- Abrisham Kar S, Jivad N. Epidemiological analysis of head trauma in patients admitted to Kashani general hospital, Shahrekord, June 2000-May 2001. J Shahrekord Univ Med Sci 2004; 5(4): 27-32. [In Persian].
- 2. Amendolia B. Hope and parents of the critically ill newborn: A concept analysis. Adv Neonatal Care 2010; 10(3): 140-4.
- 3. Bland R, Darlington Y. The nature and sources of hope: Perspectives of family caregivers of people with serious mental illness. Perspect Psychiatr Care 2002; 38(2): 61-8.
- 4. Blanch D'Souza SR, Karkada S, Lewis LE, Mayya S, Guddattu V. Relationship between stress, coping and nursing support of parents of preterm infants admitted to tertiary level neonatal intensive care units of Karnataka, India: A cross-sectional survey. Journal of Neonatal Nursing 2009; 15(5): 152-8.
- Campbell DT, Fiske DW. Convergent and discriminant validation by the multitrait-multimethod matrix. Psychol Bull 1959; 56(2): 81-105.
- Clarke DM, Kissane DW. Demoralization: Its phenomenology and importance. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2002; 36(6): 733-42.
- Chien WT, Chiu YL, Lam LW, Ip WY. Effects of a needs-based education programme for family carers with a relative in an intensive care unit: A quasiexperimental study. Int J Nurs Stud 2006; 43(1): 39-50.
- 8. Miller JF, Powers MJ. Development of an instrument to measure hope. Nurs Res 1988; 37(1): 6-10.
- 9. Fitzgerald MJ. Hope: A construct central to nursing. Nurs Forum 2007; 42(1): 12-9.
- 10. Herth K. Abbreviated instrument to measure hope: Development and psychometric evaluation. J Adv Nurs 1992; 17(10): 1251-9.
- 11. Snyder CR. Coping: The psychology of what works. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 1999.
- 12. Hsieh HF, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005; 15(9): 1277-88.

- 13. Hinds PS, Gattuso JS. Measuring hopefulness in adolescents. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 1991; 8(2): 92-4.
- 14. Kim DS, Kim HS, Schwartz-Barcott D, Zucker D. The nature of hope in hospitalized chronically ill patients. Int J Nurs Stud 2006; 43(5): 547-56.
- 15. Morse JM. Approaches to qualitative-quantitative methodological triangulation. Nurs Res 1991; 40(2): 120-3.
- 16. Elliot D, Schneider Z, LoBiondo-Wood G. Nursing

research: Methods, critical appraisal and utilisation. Philadelphia, PA: Mosby; 2004.

- 17. Farran CJ, Herth KA, Popovich JM. Hope and hopelessness: Critical clinical constructs. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc; 1995.
- Graneheim UH, Lundman B. Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: Concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. Nurse Educ Today 2004; 24(2): 105-12.

Chronic Diseases Journal

**DOI:** 10.22122/cdj.v7i4.456

**Published by** Vesnu Publications

chron o

# The comparison of executive functions between active users of methamphetamine and those in abstinence phase

#### <u>Bijan Pirnia</u><sup>1</sup>, Mona Moradi<sup>2</sup>, Rahman Sheikhi<sup>3</sup>, Parastoo Malekanmehr<sup>4</sup>, Fahimeh Mardan<sup>5</sup>, Paria Sadeghi<sup>6</sup>

1 Department of Psychology, Faculty of Humanities, University of Science and Culture, Tehran, Iran

2 Department of Psychology, Faculty of Psychology, Khomein Branch, Islamic Azad University, Khomein, Iran

3 Department of Industrial-Organizational Psychology, Marvdasht Branch, Islamic Azad University, Marvdasht, Iran

4 Department of Psychology, Faculty of Psychology, Tonekabon Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tonekabon, Iran

5 Department of Psychology, Science and Research Branch of Alborz, Islamic Azad University, Alborz, Iran

6 Department of Psychology, Science and Research Branch of Tehran, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran

#### **Original Article**

#### Abstract

**BACKGROUND:** Addiction to stimuli causes malfunction and morphologic changes in the nervous system. Representation of these changes in exclusive functions is accompanied by contradictory findings. This study was conducted aiming to compare the executive functions of two groups of users and non-users of methamphetamine in Tehran, Iran.

**METHODS:** This study was conducted in the form of a case–control study from October 2014 to March 2014. In this regard, 30 men who were active users of methamphetamine and 35 men who were in abstinence phase in Tehran were selected using respondent-driven sampling (RDS) method and assigned into two groups. The executive functions of the two groups were evaluated using the software version of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) and the data were analyzed using t-test and chi-square test using SPSS software.

**RESULTS:** The exclusive function index in methamphetamine users significantly decreased in comparison with the control group. Also, the preservation errors in consumer group were greater than the control group (P < 0.050).

**CONCLUSION:** The results of this study showed that exclusive functions in stimulant users were associated with significant damage. Considering the importance of executive functions as a mediating factor in the recurrence of consumption, it is desirable to decrease the function of this index in the treatment of dependence to methamphetamine to be on the center of clinical attention.

KEYWORDS: Executive Functions, Methamphetamine, Neuropsychological Tests, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test

#### Date of submission: 18 Sep. 2018, Date of acceptance: 22 Dec. 2018

**Citation:** Pirnia B, Moradi M, Sheikhi R, Malekanmehr P, Mardan F, Sadeghi P. **The comparison of executive functions between active users of methamphetamine and those in abstinence phase.** Chron Dis J 2019; 7(4): 252-7.

#### Introduction

Drug use disorder is a recognized global challenge worldwide and one of the most harmful social damages of the present age, with many social and economic consequences.<sup>1</sup>

Addiction is a brain disease that causes malfunction and morphologic changes in the

**Corresponding Author:** Bijan Pirnia Email: b.pirnia@usc.ac.ir nervous system and the mechanism of response to rewards and pleasure.<sup>2</sup> Methamphetamine is a group of stimulants that increases the mood, consciousness, and stimulation of the central nervous system (CNS).<sup>3</sup> It is estimated that more than seventy-five thousand people in the United States use methamphetamine, cocaine, and ketamine, and this figure is on the rise.

Chronic methamphetamine use is

#### Addiction and impaired executive function

associated with cognitive impairment and syndrome.<sup>4</sup> Methamphetamine psychiatric consumption causes significant disorders in some neuropsychiatric domains, including the creation of some deficiencies in exclusive functions. attention. social cognition, flexibility, and working memory.5 Changes in hormonal and biological functions are the side effects of chronic methamphetamine use.6 The results of the study by Baicy and London7 showed that the use of methamphetamine led to defect in the markers of the dopaminergic and serotonergic system that was associated with cognitive deficits such as disorder in the inhibition control and exclusive functions.

Studies have shown that these hormonal changes are associated with psychological consequences such as anxiety and depression, and methamphetamine users show higher levels of cortisol in facing stressors.<sup>6</sup> The results of the study by Farhadian et al.<sup>8</sup> suggest that chronic use of methamphetamine is associated with damage to executive functions, although these damages can be improved by avoiding consumption. In fact, exclusive functions are mechanisms for modulating the functions of cognitive processes.<sup>8</sup> The exclusive functions are called a set of self-command acts, that their ultimate goal is self-regulation.<sup>3</sup>

Changes in grey matter due to drug use and its relation to cognitive functions indicate that these areas play an important role in the development of depression and addiction disorders.<sup>9</sup> Also, the findings of the study by Zhang et al.<sup>9</sup> showed that biologic changes caused by the use of methamphetamine had a significant association with borderline personality disorder (BPD) and antisocial personality disorder (ASPD).

It is expected that stimuli-dependent patients experience two types of disorder in the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST): the preservation error (inability to stop the sequence of actions) and the shortfall in the number of completed classes that refer to the correct course sequences that represent a frontal lobe disorder in these people.<sup>3</sup>

Anderson et al.<sup>10</sup> and Avants et al.<sup>11</sup> pointed to the deficiencies in the completion of classes by stimuli-consumer subjects in the WCST. On the other hand, there is some inconsistent evidence with these findings that shows that methamphetamine use is not associated with these defects. For example, in the study by Chang et al.,<sup>12</sup> there was no difference in the working memory, expression, reaction time, processing speed, and executive functions between the two methamphetamine and control groups.

In the perspective of prevention, damage to executive functions is the basis for avoiding the patient from the treatment process and increasing the slip in stimulant users. Low flexibility and low restraint ability are components of executive functions that contribute to the recurrence of consumption. Studies show that executive functions in interacting with biological system and biological markers can guide the avoidance and treatment process and ultimately predict therapeutic outcomes.<sup>2</sup> Because the therapeutic effects of cognitive-behavioral interventions are realized due to the development of the neurological system and the role of executive functions, this brain-conceptual structure is worthy of clinical attention. Considering the various and significant cognitive damages of methamphetamine consumption and the wide and increasing range of users of this substance in Iran, the present study was conducted aiming to compare the executive functions of the two groups of users and non-users of methamphetamine.

#### Materials and Methods

This study was conducted in the form of a case-control study from October 2014 to March 2014. The study population consisted of all men dependent to methamphetamine in two active use and abstinence phases in

Tehran, Iran, who were under treatment in the addiction treatment center of Vardij. They were selected using a respondent-driven sampling (RDS) method that is a combination of chain sampling and a mathematical model (Markov chain theory and networks bias) and is being considered today in the world's major health organizations.

Regarding the uncertainty of the size of the society of methamphetamine users and the impossibility of using sample size tables, the average sample size of the three recent studies on the evaluation of the executive functions was used to select the sample size and a sample size consisting of 70 people was selected. In the registration phase, 5 people were excluded from the study for various reasons and 65 patients were entered the study process (30 consumers and 35 normal individuals).

Screening and preliminary assessments were performed 28 days before the assignment of the subjects by a team of two psychiatrists, three clinical psychologists, and two nurses. The inclusion criteria were: 1) age range of 18-60 years, 2) minimum reading and writing ability, 3) years dependence 1-3 on methamphetamine as a single-use pattern, 4) at least three months of abstinence in control participants, the group 5) amount of consumption being between 0.3 to 1 gr per day as inhalation method, and 6) residence in Tehran or suburb with a deviation of 30 km<sup>2</sup>. Exclusion criteria were: 1) co-dependence on other substances, 2) severe psychiatric disorders, and 3) receiving any neuroleptic treatment. The demographic checklist was completed at the baseline stage by the participants. The software version of WCST was used to evaluate exclusive functions. The implementation of WCST was carried out three days a week at 10 am. The test results were sent by e-mail to the participants after a week. Data were analyzed by SPSS software (version 22, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). All stages of the research were carried out after obtaining informed consent and based on the latest version of the Helsinki Declaration. [Clinical Trial Registration Code: Thai Clinical Trials Registry (TCTR)20180402001].

In this study, a demographic checklist, Structured Clinical Interview for DSM (SCID), and WCST were used.

*Demographic checklist:* It was designed and used by the researcher to collect personal information such as education, age, job status, and income.<sup>13</sup>

SCID-4: It is a clinical interview that is used to diagnose dysfunctions of axis 1 based on Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th Edition (DSM-IV). The reliability coefficient between evaluators for SCID is reported to be 0.60.14. The diagnostic agreement of this tool was favorable for Persian language for most of the specific and general diagnosis with reliability greater than 0.60. The kappa coefficient for all of the current diagnoses and life expectancy diagnosis was 0.52 and 0.55, respectively.<sup>15</sup>

WCST: This tool is designed by Grant and Berg for the purpose of examining exclusive functions.<sup>3</sup> In this test, the number of completed classes represents the success of the subject in completing each of the three patterns (color, shape, number). The purpose of preservation is insistence of the subject on the initial false response or previous successful response in spite of the examiner's feedback to change the pattern of the cards. Validity and reliability of the WCST are desirable.<sup>3</sup> The reliability of this tool according to Cronbach's alpha method was estimated equal to 0.77.

For data analysis, independent t-test was used. The demographic characteristics of the two groups were also assessed by chi-square test. Kolmogorov–Smirnov test (K-S test) was used to assess the precondition for the use of independent t-test based on normal distribution of scores. The results indicated that this criterion was acceptable (P < 0.050).

Variable	Active users (n = 30)	Abstinence (n = 35)	Р
	Frequency	Frequency	
Education			NS
Lower than diploma	13	18	
Above diploma	17	17	
Age			0.040
18-25	18	22	
> 25	12	13	
Job status			NS
Employed	16	20	
Unemployed	14	15	
Monthly income			NS
Less than one million tomans	15	18	
More than one million tomans	15	17	

Table 1. Demographic status of the participants in the research in two research groups

NS: Non-significant

The precondition of the similarity of variances was tested by Levene's test (P > 0.050). After the confirmation of the assumption of the equality of variances in the two groups, the combined variance was used. Moreover, in order to identify the outlier data, the Grubbs' test was used in the QuickCalc software environment (version 5.3, GraphPad, La Jolla, CA, USA). For this purpose, after calculating the amount of test statistics and comparing it with the standard value of each individual data, the outlier data were identified and removed from the analysis process (at the significance level of 0.050). The examination of the similarity of variances indicated that WCST index was not significant (P > 0.050); thus, it is possible to use the independent parametric t-test to compare the groups.

#### Results

The demographic status of the participants in the study is presented in table 1.

The results of the chi-square test on the demographic characteristics of the two groups of users and non-users indicated that the two groups showed a significant difference in the age index component and most of the participants who used drugs were in the age range of 18-25 (P < 0.050).

As shown in table 2, there was a significant difference between the two groups of active use and abstinence in the two sub-tests of the completed classes and the preservation errors at the level of 0.050.

#### Discussion

This study was conducted aiming to compare the exclusive functions in users and non-users of methamphetamine. The results showed that individuals dependent to methamphetamine showed significant defects in executive functions compared with control group, which indicates the damage of the precursor region in managing attention and changing the attention and position from one situation to another.

In line with the results of the present study, the results of the study by Pirnia et al.<sup>3</sup> showed that there was a significant difference between the exclusive functions in the users and non-users of methamphetamine.

Table 2. The results of independent t-test in sub-tests of exclusive functions in two groups										
Variable	Users (mean ± SD)	Non-users (mean ± SD)	Т	Р						
Completed classes	$10.83 \pm 1.47^{*}$	$13.94 \pm 1.85$	2.89	$0.039^{*}$						
Preservation errors	$15.71 \pm 1.44$	$13.09 \pm 1.83^*$	3.12	$0.041^{*}$						
$\sim < 0.050$ ; SD: Standard deviation										

#### Addiction and impaired executive function

Also, the findings of Farhadian et al.8 showed that chronic use of methamphetamine was associated with damage to executive functions. In this regard, the results of the study by Mizoguchi and Yamada<sup>5</sup> showed that chronic use of methamphetamine was associated with damage to exclusive functions. Moreover, the results of the meta-analysis by Potvin et al.<sup>16</sup> showed that methamphetamine use was associated with a wide range of cognitive defects, including impairment in exclusive functions. Van der Plas et al.<sup>17</sup> also showed that stimulant users experienced injuries in exclusive functions. High impulsivity and poor exclusive functions are the hallmarks of methamphetamine use disorder.18

The higher rate of preservation errors in the methamphetamine-user group is consistent with previous research findings. Simon et al.,<sup>19</sup> for example, found that the rate of preservation errors in the users group was significantly higher than the control group.

Part of the results of this study showed that methamphetamine users in completing classes showed significant defects in comparison with the control group. These results are consistent with the results of Verdejo-Garcia et al.<sup>20</sup>

In explaining these results, it can be argued the destruction resulted that from methamphetamine generally happens at the frontal lobe of the forehead,<sup>21</sup> and since this area has the task of the exclusive functions. obviously seems that the use of methamphetamine changes this area of the brain and affects the exclusive functions. In this regard, the results of study by Meredith et al.22 showed that methamphetamine users, as compared to heroin users, showed greater damage in the WCST, which suggests damage to the forehead area.

The study of addiction and impulse control disorders has shown that drug use behaviors are associated with neurobiological changes related to brain networks of reward, stress, and executive functions.<sup>23</sup> In addition to

damaging the dopaminergic and serotonergic neural terminals, damage to energy-producing cells in the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) and posterior parietal cortex (PPC) can be responsible for the attention deficit in the methamphetamine users. The results of this study, considering the effectiveness of cognitive and executive processes in the management of avoiding from drugs and the ability to continue the non-consumption process, can be applied and used in designing preventive and therapeutic interventions.

The results of this study were accompanied by several limitations. The main limitations were: (1) according to the small size of the sample due to the existing restrictions, it is necessary to interpret the findings of this study as primary outcomes, and (2) the crosssectional nature of the study prevents the total inference and comprehensive prediction. It is recommended to use a larger sample in future studies, so that, due to statistical error less than one from one hand and the actual significance level on the other hand, it would be possible to be more confident about the characteristics of the society. It is also suggested that a similar study be conducted in the female society.

#### Conclusion

The results of the present study showed that exclusive functions in the form of two components of completed classes and preservation errors in methamphetamine users showed a significant decrease compared to abstinence (non-user) group. These findings reflect the biological and psychological consequences of the use of stimulants and can have clinical applications in the field of therapeutic and rehabilitation interventions.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

Authors have no conflict of interests.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to all the people who

#### Addiction and impaired executive function

participated in this study and helped facilitate the research process. This article resulted from an independent research without financial support.

#### References

- 1. Pirnia B, Moradi AR, Pirnia K, Kolahi P, Roshan R. A Novel Therapy for cocaine dependence during abstinence: A randomized clinical trial. Electron Physician 2017; 9(7): 4862-71.
- 2. Pirnia B, Pirnia K, Mohammadpour S, Malekanmehr P, Soleimani A, Mahmoodi Z, et al. The effectiveness of acupuncture on HPA functional in depressed patients under methadone maintenance treatment, a randomized double-blind sham-controlled trial. Asian J Psychiatr 2018; 36: 62-3.
- 3. Pirnia B, Pirnia K, Aghajanpoor M, Mardan F, Zahiroddin A. Relationship between function of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and executive functions in chronic methamphetamine users: A cross-sectional study. Asian J Psychiatr 2018; 35: 113-4.
- 4. Zhai C, Cui M, Cheng X, Ao X, Zhao T, Wu W, et al. Vitamin B12 Levels in Methamphetamine Addicts. Front Behav Neurosci 2018; 12: 320.
- 5. Mizoguchi H, Yamada K. Methamphetamine use causes cognitive impairment and altered decision-making. Neurochem Int 2019; 124: 106-13.
- 6. Pirnia B, Givi F, Roshan R, Pirnia K, Soleimani AA. The cortisol level and its relationship with depression, stress and anxiety indices in chronic methamphetamine-dependent patients and normal individuals undergoing inguinal hernia surgery. Med J Islam Repub Iran 2016; 30: 395.
- Baicy K, London ED. Corticolimbic dysregulation and chronic methamphetamine abuse. Addiction 2007; 102(Suppl 1): 5-15.
- Farhadian M, Akbarfahimi M, Hassani Abharian P, Hosseini SG, Shokri S. Assessment of executive functions in methamphetamine-addicted individuals: Emphasis on duration of addiction and abstinence. Basic Clin Neurosci 2017; 8(2): 147-53.
- 9. Zhang Z, He L, Huang S, Fan L, Li Y, Li P, et al. Alteration of brain structure with long-term abstinence of methamphetamine by voxel-based morphometry. Front Psychiatry 2018; 9: 722.
- Anderson SW, Damasio H, Jones RD, Tranel D. Wisconsin card sorting test performance as a measure of frontal lobe damage. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 1991; 13(6): 909-22.
- Avants SK, Margolin A, Kosten TR, Cooney NL. Differences between responders and nonresponders to cocaine cues in the laboratory. Addict Behav 1995; 20(2): 215-24.

- Chang L, Cloak C, Patterson K, Grob C, Miller EN, Ernst T. Enlarged striatum in abstinent methamphetamine abusers: A possible compensatory response. Biol Psychiatry 2005; 57(9): 967-74.
- 13. Pirnia B, Pirnia K. Comparison of two mindfulnessbased cognitive therapies and acupuncture on the pain and depression index in a case with lobular carcinoma: A single case experimental study. Int J Cancer Manag 2018; 11(6): 4.
- 14. Haj Sadeghi Z, Yazdi-Ravandi S, Pirnia B. Compassion-focused therapy on levels of anxiety and depression among women with breast cancer: A randomized pilot trial. Int J Cancer Manag 2018; 11(11): e67019.
- 15. Pirnia B, Pirnia K, Teimouri M, Kolahi P. Acupuncture for back pain in colon cancer: A case report. Int J Cancer Manag 2017; 10(12): e15087.
- 16. Potvin S, Pelletier J, Grot S, Hebert C, Barr AM, Lecomte T. Cognitive deficits in individuals with methamphetamine use disorder: A meta-analysis. Addict Behav 2018; 80: 154-60.
- van der Plas EA, Crone EA, van den Wildenberg WP, Tranel D, Bechara A. Executive control deficits in substance-dependent individuals: A comparison of alcohol, cocaine, and methamphetamine and of men and women. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 2009; 31(6): 706-19.
- 18. Rubenis AJ, Fitzpatrick RE, Lubman DI, Verdejo-Garcia A. Working memory predicts methamphetamine hair concentration over the course of treatment: Moderating effect of impulsivity and implications for dual-systems model. Addict Biol 2019; 24(1): 145-53.
- 19. Simon SL, Dean AC, Cordova X, Monterosso JR, London ED. Methamphetamine dependence and neuropsychological functioning: Evaluating change during early abstinence. J Stud Alcohol Drugs 2010; 71(3): 335-44.
- Verdejo-Garcia A, Lopez-Torrecillas F, Gimenez CO, Perez-Garcia M. Clinical implications and methodological challenges in the study of the neuropsychological correlates of cannabis, stimulant, and opioid abuse. Neuropsychol Rev 2004; 14(1): 1-41.
- 21. Roussotte FF, Bramen JE, Nunez SC, Quandt LC, Smith L, O'Connor MJ, et al. Abnormal brain activation during working memory in children with prenatal exposure to drugs of abuse: The effects of methamphetamine, alcohol, and polydrug exposure. Neuroimage 2011; 54(4): 3067-75.
- Meredith CW, Jaffe C, Ang-Lee K, Saxon AJ. Implications of chronic methamphetamine use: A literature review. Harv Rev Psychiatry 2005; 13(3): 141-54.
- Lapenta OM, Marques LM, Rego GG, Comfort WE, Boggio PS. tDCS in Addiction and Impulse Control Disorders. J ECT 2018; 34(3): 182-92

Chronic Diseases Journal

**DOI:** 10.22122/cdj.v7i4.462

**Published by** Vesnu Publications

chron c

# Early maladaptive schema, emotion regulation, and general health in prisoner and non-prisoner men: A comparative study

### Reza Davoodi<sup>1</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, Shahrbanoo Ghahari<sup>2</sup><sup>(0)</sup>

1 Department of Clinical Psychology, School of Psychology, Tonekabon Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tonekabon, Iran

2 Department of Mental Health, School of Behavioral Sciences and Mental Health (Tehran Institute of Psychiatry), Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Abstract

#### **Original Article**

**BACKGROUND:** Early maladaptive schemas (EMSs) and difficulty in emotion regulation are mechanisms leading to dysfunctional behaviors and reduction of mental health; hence, this study aimed to compare EMSs, emotion regulation, and general health in prisoners and non-prisoners.

**METHODS:** The research method was causal-comparative (post-event). Statistical society comprised all of prisoners and non-prisoners in Fuman City in Iran. Of them, 100 prisoners were selected using random sampling and they were compared with 100 matched non-prisoner men based on the inclusion criteria and. Non-prisoners were matched with prisoners in terms of age, job, and education level. Both groups filled out Young Early Maladaptive Schemas Questionnaire (YEMSQ), Persian version of the Cognitive Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (CERQ-P), and 12-item General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12). Data were analyzed using independent t-test and multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA).

**RESULTS:** A significant difference was observed between two groups in total score of EMSs, emotion regulation, and general health (P < 0.001).

**CONCLUSION:** There is a significant difference between two groups in general health, maladaptive schema, and emotion regulation which indicates that EMSs, inability to regulate emotions, and low general health could play a critical role in criminal behaviors.

**KEYWORDS:** Maladaptive Schemas, Emotion Regulation, General Health, Prisoners

#### Date of submission: 15 July 2018, Date of acceptance: 17 Sep. 2018

**Citation:** Davoodi R, Ghahari S. **Early maladaptive schema, emotion regulation, and general health in prisoner and non-prisoner men: A comparative study.** Chron Dis J 2019; 7(4): 258-65.

#### Introduction

Crime is one of the social and psychiatric problems.<sup>1</sup> According to World Health Organization (WHO), about 9 million people across the world are in prisons and at least half of prisoners suffer from psychiatric and personality disorders such as major depression, anxiety, and other psychiatric symptoms.<sup>2</sup>

Young et al. in 2003 extended Beck's model of cognitive schemas by introducing early maladaptive schemas (EMSs), which are

**Corresponding Author:** Shahrbanoo Ghahari Email: ghahhari.sh@iums.ac.ir assumed to be responsible for incidence of psychiatric disorders. Young et al. proposed 18 schemas based on clinical experiences. He cited that these maladaptive schemas resulted from the interaction between the individual's emotional temperament and negative early life experiences and subsequent adult adulthood.3 psychopathology These in schemas influence what we interpret as events, they could bias and distort our perceptions and behaviors. In many cases, we are more likely to remember information that supports our negative schema and core beliefs about the world and ourselves compared to information

that challenges them. They could therefore lead to continuation of schemas. Unmet main emotional needs in children could be considered as the basic factor for development of EMSs.<sup>4</sup>.

EMSs are stable after formation during lifecycle and could form the basis of cognitive structures of individuals and play key role in organization of experiences of individuals.<sup>5</sup> EMSs could affect data processing procedure and distort the reality and experiences. They may be used adaptively, allowing people to function successfully in their environment, or maladaptively, leading to problems in life.<sup>6</sup>.

Young et al. presented 18 maladaptive schemas that could have effect on emotion, behaviours, and interpersonal relationship.3 Committing crime as a social problem could be affected by maladaptive schemes.7 A study showed that these maladaptive schemas, especially in two fields of avoidance-exclusion and autonomy-impaired performance could be vulnerable for people to take criminal behaviours.8 Moreover, Noferesti and Akbari Zardkhane conducted a study on EMSs in sexual criminals (over 18 years old) and normal individuals in Tehran, Iran, and found that 4 schemes including abandonment, mistrust, dependency, and vulnerability were prevalent in prisoners.9

Emotions are most often conceptualized as a set of experiential, physiological, and behavioral responses.<sup>10</sup> Emotion regulation is defined as the attempts people make to maintain, inhibit, and enhance emotional experience and expression of emotions, both positive and negative.<sup>11</sup> Emotion regulation strategies are neither adaptive and healthy nor maladaptive.<sup>11</sup> Cognitive emotion regulation means using cognitive-behavioral strategies to change the type and severity of emotional experience.<sup>12</sup> Difficulties with emotion regulation are associated with mental health disorders as well as problematic behaviors such as substance use and high-risk

sexual behaviors.13

In regard of the significant of identifying and changing maladaptive schemas, promotion of general and mental health and emotion regulation in prisoners can be useful for prevention of criminal behaviors in future. The aim of this study was comparing EMSs, emotion regulation, and general health of prisoner and non-prisoner men.

#### Materials and Methods

In this study, research method was causalcomparative (post-event). Statistical society comprised all of prisoners and non-prisoners in Fuman City in Iran (n = 200). Of them, 100 prisoner men were selected using random sampling based on the inclusion criteria; nonprisoner men were matched with prisoner men in terms of age, job, and educational level.

Inclusion criteria included being male, age range of 20-40 years old, having at least secondary school education, having at least 2 years of conviction, commitment of intentional crimes, and having certificate of mental health. After selection of the cases, 100 prisoner men participated in this study. Exclusion criteria included suffering from schizophrenia and psychotic and bipolar disorders. Both groups filled the 90-item Questionnaire Young EMS (YEMSO), Cognitive Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (CERQ) (long form), and 12-item General Questionnaire (GHQ-12) Health under supervision of a psychologist.

*Instruments:* The data collection instruments in this study were demographic questionnaire, 90-item YEMSQ, CERQ (long form), and GHQ-12.

*Demographic questionnaire:* The questionnaire measures items such as age, background, job, type of crime, education, marital status, and number of children.

*EMSQ:* The self-report questionnaire of EMS contains 90 items that can measure 18 domains of EMS including unrelenting

standards/hypercriticalness, emotional inhibition, negativity/pessimism, punitiveness, self-directedness, subjugation, approvalhypervigilance/ seeking/recognition-seeking, inhibition, entitlement/grandiosity (impaired limits), insufficient-control/self-discipline, dependence/incompetence, vulnerability to harm or illness, enmeshment/undeveloped self, failure, abandonment/instability, defectiveness/ shame, social isolation/alienation, emotional deprivation, and mistrust/abuse. Each scale has 5 items to measure the type of EMSs.<sup>14</sup> Reliability of the questionnaire was reported to be 0.95 and 081 using internal consistency and retest methods, respectively.15 In Iran, this form was normalized by Yoosefi et.al. Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) of the Differentiation of Self (DSI-2) scale showed the that questionnaire had required validity.<sup>16</sup>

**CERQ** (long form): The questionnaire includes 36 items and 9 subscales including selfblame, acceptance, rumination, positive refocusing, focus on planning, positive reappraisal, perspective-taking, catastrophizing, and blaming others. The questionnaire was used by Garnefski et.al to evaluate cognitive strategies used by person after experiencing threatening or stressful events of life. Reliability of the questionnaire was obtained 0.91, 0.87, and 0.93, using Cronbach's alpha.<sup>17</sup>

**GHQ:** The 12-item questionnaire has been prepared with the purpose of screening healthy and abnormal people. Therefore, the aim of the questionnaire is not to achieve to a psychiatric diagnosis. The questionnaire is available in 12, 28, 30, and 60-item forms. 12-item form of the instrument has such feature that healthy people could be screened from abnormal individuals in the shortest time. Short form of the questionnaire is validated in most countries across the world and is used. In Iran, short form of the questionnaire with 12 items was validated by Iran Healthcare Research Center of Scientific Information Database (SID) under supervision of Dr. Montazeri. Validity of internal consistency of the questionnaire was estimated to be 0.87 by Cronbach's alpha after translating instrument and testing it on 748 Iranian students.<sup>18</sup>

#### Results

In this study, 200 prisoner and non-prisoner men were compared with each other. The results showed prevalence of illiteracy among prisoners (89.4%) compared to non-prisoner men (23.4%). In this study, investigating job status in prisoners and non-prisoners was done through placing them in 3 groups of self-employment, governmental employment, and unemployed. The results showed that unemployment rate among prisoners (34.0%) was more than nonprisoner men (23.4%). Married men formed 62.8% of participants and single men formed 37.2% of participants. Prisoner men were mostly addicted to drugs and substances.

*Hypothesis* 1: There is a significant difference between prisoner and non-prisoner men in EMSs.

According to insignificant value of Levene's test in studied variables, assumption of equality of variances was provided. Independent t-test with value of 4.75 and degree of freedom (df) of 198 showed that due to the obtained value in P = 0.005, H1 was confirmed based on the significant difference between two groups in terms of EMS (Table 1).

Table 1. Results of independent t-test to compare total score of early maladaptive schemes (EMSs) within two groups of prisoner and non-prisoner men

	(										
Participants	Ν	Mean difference	SE difference	Т	df	Р					
Prisoners	100	106.60	22.43	4.75	198	0.005					
Non-prisoners	100										
SE: Standard error; df: D	egree of freed	om									
260 Chron Dis J, Vol. 7,	No. 4, Autumn	2019									

Table 2. Results of independent t-test to compare total score of emotion regulation between two
groups of prisoner and non-prisoner men

Participants	Ν	Mean difference	SE difference	Т	df	Р
Prisoners	100	10.47	4.23	2.475	198	0.385
Non-prisoners	100					
GE G. 1 1 10 D	6.6 1					

SE: Standard error; df: Degree of freedom

*Hypothesis* 2: There is a significant difference between prisoner and non-prisoner men in emotion regulation.

Mean differences and standard error (SE) of two groups in terms of total score of emotion regulation were respectively equal to 10.47 and 4.23. Independent t-test with value of 2.475 and df of 198 showed that the difference between two groups was significant statistically in terms of emotion regulation (0.385) (Table 2).

*Hypothesis 3*: There is a significant difference between prisoner and non-prisoner men in general health.

Mean differences and SE of two groups in terms of total score of general health were respectively equal to 1.733 and 2.475. Independent t-test with the value of 2.475 and df of 198 showed that the difference between two groups was significant statistically in terms of general health (P = 0.631) (Table 3).

In order to compare dimensions of EMS in two groups of prisoner and non-prisoner men, multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) test was used. To test the significance of difference between levels of independent variable in linear combination of dependent variables, Pillai's test, Hotelling's trace test, Wilks' lambada test, and Roy's largest root test were applied. Significance levels of all tests showed that there was a significant difference between two groups at least in terms of one dimension of EMS (Table 4).

According to table 5, there was a significant difference between two groups in terms of

abandonment/instability, emotional deprivation, dependence/incompetence, vulnerability to harm or illness, failure, entitlement/grandiosity, negativity/pessimism, overvigilance/inhibition, and punitiveness (P < 0.050). However, there was no significant difference between two groups in terms of defectiveness/shame, social isolation/alienation, mistrust/abuse, enmeshment/undeveloped self, failure, approval-seeking/recognition-seeking, and unrelenting standards/hypocriticalness.

Analysis of each domain associated with EMS using Bonferroni alpha showed that there was a significant difference between two groups in disconnection and rejection [F(1,28) = 13.987, P = 0.001, partial eta = 0.333], impaired autonomy and performance [F(1,28) = 13.705, P = 0.001, partial eta = 0.340], impaired limits [F(1,28) = 14.416, P = 0.001, partial eta = 0.340], other-directedness [F(1,28) = 13.642, P = 0.001, partial eta = 0.328], and overvigilance/inhibition [F(1,28) = 14.427, P = 0.001, partial eta = 0.340]. Therefore, EMSs in prisoner men were significantly higher than non-prisoner men. Square of eta can specify portion of each domain (Table 6).

In order to compare dimensions of emotion regulation between two groups of prisoner and non-prisoner men, MANOVA was used. The results from Wilks' lambda test showed that variances of emotion regulation dimensions were not the same within two groups and were significantly different from each other [F(1,32) = 8.134, P = 0.275, Wilks' lambda = 0.668].

Table 3.	Results of i	ndependent	t-test to	compare	total	score c	of general	health in	n prisoner	and

non-prisoner men								
Participants	Ν	Mean difference	SE difference	Т	df	Р		
Prisoners	100	1.733	0.752	2.303	198	0.631		
Non-prisoners	100							
				Chron Dis J, Vo	l. 7, No. 4, A	utumn <b>2019</b> 26		

maladaptive sch	emes (EMSs) and e	motion reg	gulation ir	i two groups of p	orisoner and	d non-pr	isoner men
Effect		Value	F	Hypothesis df	Error df	Р	Partial eta
							squared
EMS	Pillai's trace	0.472	4.298	5.000	24.000	0.006	0.472
	Wilks' lambda	0.528	4.298	5.000	24.000	0.006	0.472
	Hotelling's trace	0.895	4.298	5.000	24.000	0.006	0.472
	Roy's largest root	0.895	4.298	5.000	24.000	0.006	0.472
Emotion regulation	Pillai's trace	0.332	1.327	9.000	24.000	0.275	
C C	Wilks' lambda	0.668	1.327	9.000	24.000	0.275	
	Hotelling's trace	0.498	1.327	9.000	24.000	0.275	
	Roy's largest root	0.498	1.327	9.000	24.000	0.275	

Table 4. Results of multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) test for mean values of early naladaptive schemes (EMSs) and emotion regulation in two groups of prisoner and non-prisoner men

EMS: Early maladaptive schema; df: Degree of freedom

Measurement of each dimension of emotion regulation using Bonferroni alpha showed that there was a significant difference between two groups only in hypocriticalness [F(1,32) = 8.134, P = 0.275]. Therefore, values of hypocriticalness in criminal men were significantly higher than normal men, although in punitiveness, approval, positive refocus, planning refocus, positive reappraisal, and other-punitiveness, no significant difference was observed between two groups (Table 7).

The results showed that mean values and SE of total scores of EMS, emotion

regulation, and general health of prisoner men were higher than non-prisoner men. Obtained results from Wilks' lambda test showed that variances of 5 dimensions of EMSs were equal between both groups and were not significantly different and this finding could indicate reliability of further results [F(5,24) = 4.298, P = 0.006, Wilks' lambda = 0.528, partial eta = 0.472]. Implementation of Pillai's test showed that variances of EMS dimensions were significantly different between prisoner and non-prisoner men.

Table 5. Results of effects between trails in terms of values for dimensions of early maladaptive
schemes (EMSs) in two groups of prisoner and non-prisoner men using multivariate analysis of
variance (MANOVA)

Dependent varia	hle	Type III sum	df	Mean	F	р	Partial eta
Dependent varia		of squares	uı	square		-	squared
Disconnection	Abandonment-instability	374.533	1	374.533	16.824	< 0.001	0.375
and rejection	Defectiveness-shame	333.333	1	333.333	4.463	0.070	0.113
	Social isolation-alienation	86.700	1	86.700	3.556	0.063	0.118
	Emotional deprivation	464.133	1	464.133	16.779	< 0.001	0.375
	Mistrust-abuse	246.533	1	246.533	0.228	0.008	0.227
Impaired	Dependence/incompetence	374.533	1	374.533	20.935	< 0.001	0.428
autonomy and	Vulnerability to harm or illness	307.200	1	307.200	0.640	0.004	0.256
performance	Enmeshment/undeveloped self	128.133	1	128.133	4.075	0.053	0.127
•	Failure	246.533	1	246.533	13.319	0.001	0.322
Entitlement/grand	iosity (impaired limits)	235.200	1	10.796	6.012	0.003	0.278
Insufficient-contro	ol/self-discipline	258.133	1	12.467	10.334	0.001	0.308
Other-directedness	Self-directedness	235.200	1	235.200	9.189	0.005	0.247
	Subjugation	264.033	1	264.033	10.452	0.003	0.272
	Approval-seeking/recognition-seeking	136.533	1	136.533	0.701	0.065	0.117
Overvigilance/in	Unrelenting standards/hypocriticalness	48.133	1	48.133	1.657	0.209	0.056
hibition	Emotional inhibition	294.533	1	294.533	12.948	0.001	0.316
	Negativity/pessimism	313.633	1	313.633	8.327	0.007	0.229
	Punitiveness	218.700	1	218.700	9.556	0.004	0.254

Df: Degree of freedom

Table	6. Resu	Its of effect	cts betwe	en trails i	n terms	of values f	or dimensio	ns of e	early m	aladaptive	e scheme	S
(EMS)	in two g	groups of	prisoner	and non-	prisoner	men using	g multivariate	e anal	ysis of	variance (	(MANOVA	۱)

Dependent variable	Type III sum of	df	Mean	F	Р	Partial eta
	squares		square			squared
Disconnection and rejection	800.622	1	800.622	13.978	0.001	0.333
Impaired autonomy and performance	500.330	1	500.330	13.705	0.001	0.340
Impaired limits	133.986	1	133.986	14.416	0.001	0.340
Other-directedness	700.383	1	700.383	13.642	0.001	0.328
Overvigilance/inhibition	633.347	1	633.347	14.427	0.001	0.340
Overvigilance/inhibition	633.347	1	633.347	14.427	0.001	0.340

Df: Degree of freedom

#### Discussion

The results of the current study showed that there was a significant difference between prisoner and non-prisoner men in terms of EMS. In other words, mean values of prisoners in EMS were significantly higher than mean values of non-prisoners and the difference was significant statistically (P < 0.050). This result is in consistence with findings of Richardson, indicating that sexual criminals have more EMS than non-prisoners.<sup>19</sup>

The results are in consistence with findings of Najafi and Sattarpour which showed that mean values of EMS including emotional deprivation, failure, emotional inhibition, and overvigilance were different between non prisoners and prisoners.<sup>20</sup> Also, findings of Rezaei et al. showed that addicted people had EMSs.<sup>21</sup> So, they feel that other people are rejective. The study of Reeves and Taylor showed that EMSs correlated to personality disorders such as anti-social disorders.<sup>22</sup>

Moreover, the results are in consistence

with findings of Ball et al.,<sup>23</sup> showing that the most EMSs of homeless addicted people were respectively sacrifice, social isolation, unrelenting standards, entitlement, emotional inhibition, and mistrust/abuse and the lowest schemes included dependence/incompetence and self-inadequacy. The results are also in consistence with findings of Rezaei et al.<sup>21</sup>

The results of the current study about emotion regulation showed that there was a significant difference in significance level of 0.005 in terms of emotion regulation of prisoner and non-prisoner men; prisoners cannot regulate their negative emotions effectively. This finding is in consistence with findings of Suri,24 under the title of EQ variables of the criminals and ordinary people (a comparative study), showing that prisoners had low score in terms of components of emotional intelligence (such as selfawareness, self-control and social skills, selfmotivation, and empathy) and ability to regulate emotions.

Table 7. Results of effects between trails in terms of values for dimensions of emotion regulation in two groups of prisoner and non-prisoner men using multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA)

groups of prisoner and non-prisoner men daing matrivariate analysis of variance (marce (marce var)								
Dependent variable	Type III sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Р	Partial eta squared		
Self-punitiveness	16.941	1	16.941	0.991	0.327	0.030		
Approval	5.765	1	5.765	0.372	0.546	0.011		
Hypocriticalness	76.500	1	76.500	8.134	0.008	0.203		
Positive refocus	19.882	1	19.882	1.665	0.206	0.049		
Planning refocus	0.118	1	0.118	0.024	0.878	0.001		
Positive reappraisal	4.971	1	4.971	0.589	0.448	0.018		
Recognition-seeking	2.941	1	2.941	0.295	0.591	0.009		
Catastrophizing	21.441	1	21.441	2.337	0.136	0.068		
Other-punitiveness	21.441	1	21.441	1.971	0.170	0.058		
Approval Hypocriticalness Positive refocus Planning refocus Positive reappraisal Recognition-seeking Catastrophizing Other-punitiveness	5.765 76.500 19.882 0.118 4.971 2.941 21.441 21.441	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	5.765 76.500 19.882 0.118 4.971 2.941 21.441 21.441	0.372 8.134 1.665 0.024 0.589 0.295 2.337 1.971	0.546 0.008 0.206 0.878 0.448 0.591 0.136 0.170	0.011 0.203 0.049 0.001 0.018 0.009 0.068 0.058		

Df: Degree of freedom

The results of the current study indicated poor general health in prisoners. This finding is in line with findings of Sobhi-Gharamaleki et al.<sup>25</sup> They showed that general health problems in prisoners were high. In this regard, this study showed that prisoner men had lower general health than non-prisoner men due to having EMS and inability to regulate their emotions.

#### Conclusion

EMSs could affect performance of individuals on emotion regulation, so that people cannot express their emotions in a healthy manner and as a result, they may face many interpersonal and legal problems. These problems could affect mental health and trigger for more criminal behaviors.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

Authors have no conflict of interests.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all the persons involved in this study. Also, this project is due to a Master thesis in clinical psychology (code: 15920701942035) in Tonekabon Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tonekabon, Iran.

#### References

- Garnefski N, Kraaij V. Relationships between cognitive emotion regulation strategies and depressive symptoms: A comparative study of five specific samples. Pers Individ Dif 2006; 40(8): 1659-69.
- Enggist S, Møller L, Galea G, Udesen C. Prisons and Health. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2014.
- Young JE, Klosko JS, Weishaar ME. Schema therapy: A practitioner's guide. New York, NY: Guilford Press; 2003.
- Young JE. Cognitive therapy for personality disorders: A schema-focused approach. Sarasota, FL: Professional Resource Exchange; 1990.
- Thimm JC. Personality and early maladaptive schemas: A five-factor model perspective. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 2010; 41(4): 373-80.
- 6. Bridges LJ, Denham SA, Ganiban JM. Definitional

issues in emotion regulation research. Child Dev 2004; 75(2): 340-5.

- Jennings PA, Greenberg MT. The prosocial classroom: Teacher social and emotional competence in relation to student and classroom outcomes. Rev Educ Res 2009; 79(1): 491-525.
- 8. Fazel S, Baillargeon J. The health of prisoners. Lancet 2011; 377(9769): 956-65.
- Noferesti A, Akbari Zardkhane S. Comparison of early maladaptive schemas in sex offenders and ordinary people. Knowledge and Research in Applied Psychology Journal 2013; 2: 120-9.
- 10. Mauss IB, Bunge SA, Gross JJ. Automatic emotion regulation. Social and Personality Psychology Compass 2007; 1(1): 146-467.
- Rottenberg J, Gross JJ. Emotion and emotion regulation: A map for psychotherapy researchers. Clinical Psychology Science and Practice 2007; 14(4): 323-8.
- 12. Gratz KL, Roemer L. Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. J Psychopathol Behav Assess 2004; 26(1): 41-54.
- Tull MT, Barrett HM, McMillan ES, Roemer L. A preliminary investigation of the relationship between emotion regulation difficulties and posttraumatic stress symptoms. Behav Ther 2007; 38(3): 303-13.
- 14. Bosmans G, Braet C, Van Vlierberghe L. Attachment and symptoms of psychopathology: Early maladaptive schemas as a cognitive link? Clin Psychol Psychother 2010; 17(5): 374-85.
- 15. Schmidt NB, Joiner TE, Young JE, Telch MJ. The schema questionnaire: Investigation of psychometric properties and the hierarchical structure of a measure of maladaptive schemas. Cognit Ther Res 1995; 19(3): 295-321.
- 16. Yoosefi N, Etemadi O, Bahrami F, Fatehizade MA, Ahmadi SA. An investigation on early maladaptive schema in marital relationship as predictors of divorce. J Divorce Remarriage 2010; 51(5): 269-92.
- 17. Hasani J. The psychometric properties of the cognitive emotion regulation questionnaire (CERQ). Journal of Clinical Psychology 2010; 2(3): 73-84. [In Persian].
- 18. Ebadi M, Harirchi AM, Shariati M, Garmarudi GR, Fateh A, Montazeri A. Translation, determining the reliability of the questionnaire of 12 general health questions (GHQ-12). Payesh Health Monit 2002; 1(3): 39-46. [In Persian].
- Richardson G. Early maladaptive schemas in a sample of British adolescent sexual abusers: Implications for therapy. J Sex Aggress 2005; 11(3): 259-76.
- 20. Najafi S, Sattarpour F. Comparing the early

maladaptive schemas of dishonored check prisoners and normal people. Shenakht Journal of Psychology and Psychiatry 2014; 1(2): 16-27. [In Persian].

- 21. Rezaei F, Haidaripoor S, Ghadami N. P-81-Early maladaptive schemas in addicts and their association with personality disorders. Eur Psychiatry 2012; 27: 1.
- 22. Reeves M, Taylor J. Specific relationships between core beliefs and personality disorder symptoms in a non? Clinical sample. Clin Psychol Psychother 2007; 14(2): 96-104.
- 23. Ball SA, Cobb-Richardson P, Connolly AJ, Bujosa CT, O'neall TW. Substance abuse and personality

disorders in homeless drop-in center clients: Symptom severity and psychotherapy retention in a randomized clinical trial. Compr Psychiatry 2005; 46(5): 371-9.

- 24. Suri A. EQ variables of the criminals and ordinary people (a Comparative Study). Journal of Criminal and Intelligence Researches 2014; 9(33): 75-90. [In Persian].
- 25. Sobhi-Gharamaleki N, Porzoor P, Aghajani S, Narimani M. Effectiveness of emotion regulation training on reduction of anxiety, stress and depression symptoms among university students. Iran J Health Educ Health Promot 2015; 3(1): 5-13.

Chronic Diseases Journal

DOI: 10.22122/cdj.v7i4.467

**Published by** Vesnu Publications

chron c

### Saphenous vein versus total arterial graft in coronary artery bypass graft

#### Karzan Saieamend Hamad Palani<sup>1</sup><sup>®</sup>, Bashar Hanna Azar<sup>2</sup>, Chalak Abdulsamad Ismael<sup>2</sup>

1 Department of Cardiac Surgery, Surgical Specialty Hospital, Hawler Medical University, Erbil, Iraq

2 Department of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, School of Medicine, Hawler Medical University, Erbil, Iraq

#### **Original Article**

Abstract BACKGROUND: Coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery remains the gold standard treatment for left main coronary artery and multivessel disease. In the last decade, arterial conduit clearly has had superiority over venous conduit. The aim of this study is to report and compare both types of conduit in Erbil Cardiac Center, Iraq. METHODS: A retrospective cohort study was used to compare patients who received total arterial grafts (n = 25) with patients who had saphenous-vein bypass grafts (n = 25), at the point of gender, age, operation duration, postoperative complications, hospital stay, and the 6-month cardiac ejection fraction (EF) improvement. RESULTS: All patients of arterial group were men in comparison to 68% men versus 32% women in venous group; mean age of the patients was 50 years and 61 years for arterial and venous conduits, respectively. Duration of operation was 3.97 hours and 4.27 hours, hospital stay was 5.42 days and 7.20 days, and EF improvement was 11.48% and 4.40% for arterial and venous conduits, respectively. Although the duration of operation was not statistically significant, the total duration of hospital stay and EF improvement were statistically significant. CONCLUSION: Arterial conduit has started in the last decades. Although it technically needs more accuracy and time, it has a better outcome compared to the venous conduit.

**KEYWORDS:** Saphenous Vein, Arterial Graft, Coronary Artery Bypass

#### Date of submission: 15 July 2018, Date of acceptance: 14 Sep. 2018

**Citation:** Hamad Palani KS, Azar BH, Ismael CA. **Saphenous vein versus total arterial graft in coronary artery bypass graft.** Chron Dis J 2019; 7(4): 266-71.

#### Introduction

In severe coronary artery disease (CAD), coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery is indicated to re-establish an adequate blood supply to the ischemic myocardium.<sup>1,2</sup> CABG is a standard surgical procedure for advanced CAD. It is well known for decreasing the symptoms and improving survival.<sup>3-5</sup>

It reduces morbidity and mortality in patients with left main stem (LMS), triple-vessel disease (TVD), and/or proximal stenosis of the left anterior descending coronary artery (LAD) compared to medical therapy,<sup>2,6,7</sup> and decreases coronary repeated revascularization rate in comparison to percutaneous coronary

**Corresponding Author:** Karzan Saieamend Hamad Palani Email: karzansiamend@yahoo.com intervention (PCI).<sup>2,8</sup> Advances in medical therapy for ischemic heart disease (IHD) and heart failure (HF) have improved the outcomes of patients with CAD. The survival advantage of CABG surgery over medical therapy in patients with stable angina has been challenged.<sup>9</sup> Effectiveness of CABG surgery is directly related to graft patency.<sup>2,10</sup>

The efficacy of CABG is dependent on the long-term patency of the selected conduits. The left internal thoracic artery (LITA) is established as the best conduit for CABG, particularly for grafting the LAD.<sup>11</sup> After initially unfavorable outcomes,<sup>12</sup> there has been an emerging and renewed enthusiasm for the radial artery (RA) as an alternative conduit through the use of improved harvesting techniques and antispasmodic medications.<sup>13</sup>

Conduits are divided into two groups: arterial and venous.

#### *Venous conduits* [*saphenous vein grafts* (SVGs)]

Excellent patency can be achieved in the first five years with SVGs. They are unaffected by native coronary artery stenosis (NCAS); however, endothelial and media hyperplasia (5-8 years post-operatively) and subsequent atherothrombosis markedly diminish patency. Attention to harvesting, avoidance of trauma, over-distension, and preservation of vessel wall integrity and vasa vasorum may contribute to longer-term patency, as may the use of statins.

#### Arterial conduits

LITA: Since the publication by Tatoulis et al. in 1986 (and other publications around that time), it has been universally accepted that LITA is the best coronary graft and LITA to LAD is the single most important component of any coronary revascularization in reducing recurrent cardiac events and enhancing survival.14 LITA-LAD improves perioperative mortality and is strongly recommended in all including situations emergency revascularization, older age, and in patients with co-morbid states [diabetes, obesity, renal dysfunction, and chronic obstructive airway disease (COAD)].15

#### The right internal thoracic artery (RITA)

The RITA is biologically identical to the LITA.<sup>16-20</sup> Hence, it is not logical to universally proclaim the LITA as the best conduit. The RITA is usually of greater diameter than the LITA in right-handed people and potentially easier to use.

#### RA

The RA is often considered as the second graft of choice after the ITA, having a high patency rate close to 90% up to 10 years after CABG.<sup>21</sup>

As known well, the LITA is the preferred graft in myocardial revascularization due to high patency in addition to early and late survival rates. The radial and gastroepiploic arteries may also be considered as alternative arterial grafts. SVGs are the most commonlyused venous grafts. Arterial grafts are superior to venous grafts due to their long-term patency rates. According to the literature, 90% of ITAs remain patent 10 years after surgery, while only 50% of saphenous grafts remain patent.<sup>22</sup>

In 1973, Carpentier et al. first performed surgery using an RA. Subsequently, they recommended that RA should not be used due to the 35% incidence of narrowing or stenosis of the conduit.<sup>12</sup> In 1992, Acar et al.<sup>13</sup> reported promising mid-term and long-term patency rates for RA and argued that it had gained widespread acceptance as a conduit for CABG as a result of its suitable inner diameter, good length, minimal donor site discomfort, ease of handling, and excellent early clinical results. Improvements in the harvesting techniques and postoperative administration of calcium channel blockers (CCBs) were also expected to improve the results. Today, RA as an arterial graft is the second preferred graft after LITA for CABG. In our study, we compared the long-term patency rates of arterial and venous grafts by angiography in patients with recurrent ischemic symptoms.

Despite the patency rate difference between different types of grafts, technically they are different during harvesting and grafting on the epicardium. On the other hand, harvesting site may affect the patient's condition at perioperative period and hospitalization in general.

The superiority of the arterial conduit to the venous graft is well studied and mentioned in different literatures and still is discussed. The aim of this study is to evaluate the outcome of patients of both groups and to give patients the greatest possible benefit of CABG.

#### **Materials and Methods**

This retrospective cohort study included candidates for doing bypass graft surgery. Only cases with three graft operations were selected; then patients were divided into two

groups, first those with arterial conduit LITA, RITA, and RA harvested from left forearm and second group were cases whose great saphenous vein (GSV) was used as a conduit. Data were collected carefully from each patient: gender, age, operation duration (duration of bypass and duration of cross clamp), post-operative complications (reopening and infection), day of mobilization, total hospital stay, and the 6-month cardiac ejection fraction (EF) improvement.

Data entry and coding were performed using Microsoft Excel (version 2016). The data were transferred to and analyzed by SPSS software (version 20, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). Descriptive statistics [percentage, mean, and standard deviation (SD)] were used. T-test was used to test statistical significance between two groups. The ethical clearance (R-C-64) was obtained from the Ethical Committee of Surgical Specialty Hospital, Hawler Medical University, Erbil, Iraq.

#### Results

The study included 50 patients, 25 patients for each group. From venous group 17 (68%) were men and 8 (32%) were women, while all patients from arterial group were men (P = 0.002) (Tables 1 and 2).

Table 1.	Association	between	study	groups	and
		aender			

Gender	Gro	Groups		
	Venous conduit	Arterial conduit		
	[n (%)]	[n (%)]		
Male	17 (68.0)	25 (100)	43 (84.3)	
Female	8 (32.0)	0 (0)	8 (15.7)	
Total	25 (100)	25 (100)	51 (100)	

Mean and SD of age of venous group was  $60.92 \pm 6.70$  years and for arterial group, it was  $50.46 \pm 5.03$  years (P = 0.001) (Figure 1). Duration of operation was 4.27 hours for venous group and 3.97 hours for arterial group, which was not statistically significant (P = 0.040) (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Saphenous vein graft (SVG) versus total arterial graft in coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) according to age

Table 2. Comparison between venous and arterial conduits in regard to different variables							
Variables	Groups	Ν	Mean ± SD	Р			
Age (year)	Venous conduit	25	$60.92\pm6.70$	0.001			
	Arterial conduit	25	$50.46 \pm 5.03$				
Hospital stay	Venous conduit	25	$7.20 \pm 1.32$	0.001			
	Arterial conduit	25	$5.42\pm0.75$				
Duration of operation	Venous conduit	25	$4.27 \pm 0.51$	0.040			
	Arterial conduit	25	$3.97\pm0.56$				
Duration of cross clamp	Venous conduit	25	$30.92 \pm 3.95$	0.001			
	Arterial conduit	25	$45.73 \pm 5.22$				
Duration of bypass	Venous conduit	25	$62.08 \pm 7.80$	0.001			
	Arterial conduit	25	$48.31 \pm 5.16$				
EF	Venous conduit	25	$52.72 \pm 7.46$	0.006			
	Arterial conduit	25	$57.23 \pm 2.61$				
Mobilization day	Venous conduit	25	$2.44\pm0.50$	0.001			
	Arterial conduit	25	$1.19\pm0.40$				

EF: Ejection fraction; SD: Standard deviation



#### Figure 2. Saphenous vein graft (SVG) versus total arterial graft in coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) according to duration of operation

Duration of total bypass was 62.08 minutes for venous and 48.31 minutes for arterial conduits (P = 0.001) (Figure 3), while duration of cross clamp was 30.92 minutes and 45.73 minutes, respectively (P = 0.001) (Figure 4).



#### Figure 3. Saphenous vein graft (SVG) versus total arterial graft in coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) according to duration of bypass (minute)

Both of them were statistically significant. Reopening incidence was 3 cases for venous and 5 cases for arterial conduit (P = 0.470) (Table 3). Infection occurred in 5 patients of venous and 2 patients of arterial conduit (P = 0.190) (Table 4). Patients with arterial conduit were mobilized earlier than patients with venous conduit at 1.19 for arterial and 2.44 for venous conduit with statistical significance (P = 0.001) (Table 5).



Figure 4. Saphenous vein graft (SVG) versus total arterial graft in coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) according to duration of cross clamp (minute)

Rate of improvement for EF was 4.40% for venous conduit (48.32% to 52.72%) (Figure 5), while it was 11.48% for arterial conduit (45.68% to 57.16%) which was statistically significant (P = 0.006) (Figure 6).

# Table 3. Association between study groups and reopening of the operation site

Reopening	Gro	Total	
	Venous conduit	Arterial conduit	
No	22 (88.0)	21 (80.8)	43 (84.3)
Yes	3 (12.0)	5 (19.2)	8 (15.7)
Total	25 (100)	26 (100)	51 (100)
P = 0.470			

Overall time for hospital stay was 5.42 days and 7.20 days for arterial and venous conduit groups, respectively, which was statistically significant (P = 0.001) (Figure 7).

#### Table 4. Association between study groups and infection of site of operation

Infection	Gro	Total	
	Venous conduit	Arterial conduit	
	[n (%)]	[n (%)]	
No	20 (80.0)	24 (92.3)	44 (86.3)
Yes	5 (20.0)	2 (7.7)	7 (13.7)
Total	25 (100)	26 (100)	51 (100)
P = 0.190			

#### Discussion

Despite the proven benefits of ITA on long-term outcome,<sup>23,24</sup> the SVG has been widely

Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019 269

Hamad Palani *et al.* 

accepted as the conduit of choice for myocardial revascularization.

Table 5. Comparison between venous and arterial conduits in regard to mobilization day						
Variables	Groups	Ν	Mean ± SD	Р		
Mobilization	Arterial conduit	25	$57.23 \pm 2.61$	0.001		
day	Venous conduit	25	$2.44\pm0.50$			
	Arterial conduit	25	$1.19\pm0.40$			

SD: Standard deviation

Other studies show that SVGs patency is still problematic at 10 years.<sup>16,18</sup> On the other hand, the difference between them during perioperative period also plays a crucial role.



Figure 5. Saphenous vein graft (SVG) versus total arterial graft in coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) according to rate of improvement for ejection fraction (EF) (%)

Harvesting the conduit and using it for grafting also affect the procedure in general, intra, and postoperative period more precisely.



Figure 6. Saphenous vein graft (SVG) versus total arterial graft in coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) according to venous conduit (%)

270 Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019



#### Figure 7. Saphenous vein graft (SVG) versus total arterial graft in coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) according to duration of hospital stay

Accuracy by well-trained hand and more precaution for anastomosis play an important role in intraoperative period. Venous harvesting usually needs a large wound at lower extremity with possibility of more infection which elongates the duration of hospital stay and delays mobilization postoperatively.

Total arterial conduit is more preferably done for young and male candidates for coronary bypass surgery. Cross clamp and bypass time are two important parameters during operation which determine subclinical tissue injury. Although the cross clamp time was longer for arterial group, total bypass time was significantly shorten because there was no proximal anastomosis. More tissue dissection in venous conduit leads to more incidence of infection, delayed mobilization, and prolonged hospital stay.

#### Conclusion

Although it is more difficult technically regarding harvesting and grafting, arterial conduit has better outcome compared to venous conduit at perioperative period with improvement of cardiac contractility later.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

Authors have no conflict of interests.

#### Acknowledgments

Authors express their gratitude to Surgical

Hamad Palani *et al.* 

Specialty Hospital and Department of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Hawler Medical University.

#### References

- 1. Rihal CS, Raco DL, Gersh BJ, Yusuf S. Indications for coronary artery bypass surgery and percutaneous coronary intervention in chronic stable angina: Review of the evidence and methodological considerations. Circulation 2003; 108(20): 2439-45.
- Hillis LD, Smith PK, Anderson JL, Bittl JA, Bridges CR, Byrne JG, et al. 2011 ACCF/AHA guideline for coronary artery bypass graft surgery: Executive summary: A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2011; 124(23): 2610-42.
- Myers WO, Blackstone EH, Davis K, Foster ED, Kaiser GC. CASS Registry long term surgical survival. Coronary Artery Surgery Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999; 33(2): 488-98.
- Graham MM, Ghali WA, Faris PD, Galbraith PD, Norris CM, Knudtson ML. Survival after coronary revascularization in the elderly. Circulation 2002; 105(20): 2378-84.
- Jokinen JJ, Hippelainen MJ, Turpeinen AK, Pitkanen O, Hartikainen JE. Health-related quality of life after coronary artery bypass grafting: A review of randomized controlled trials. J Card Surg 2010; 25(3): 309-17.
- 6. Yusuf S, Zucker D, Peduzzi P, Fisher LD, Takaro T, Kennedy JW, et al. Effect of coronary artery bypass graft surgery on survival: Overview of 10-year results from randomised trials by the Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery Trialists Collaboration. Lancet 1994; 344(8922): 563-70.
- Favarato ME, Hueb W, Boden WE, Lopes N, Nogueira CR, Takiuti M, et al. Quality of life in patients with symptomatic multivessel coronary artery disease: A comparative post hoc analyses of medical, angioplasty or surgical strategies-MASS II trial. Int J Cardiol 2007; 116(3): 364-70.
- Kappetein AP, Feldman TE, Mack MJ, Morice MC, Holmes DR, Stahle E, et al. Comparison of coronary bypass surgery with drug-eluting stenting for the treatment of left main and/or three-vessel disease: 3year follow-up of the SYNTAX trial. Eur Heart J 2011; 32(17): 2125-34.
- 9. Frye RL, August P, Brooks MM, Hardison RM, Kelsey SF, MacGregor JM, et al. A randomized trial of therapies for type 2 diabetes and coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 2009; 360(24): 2503-15.
- 10. Moller CH, Perko MJ, Lund JT, Andersen LW, Kelbaek H, Madsen JK, et al. Graft patency after off-pump

Hamad Palani et al.

versus on-pump coronary artery surgery in high-risk patients. Scand Cardiovasc J 2010; 44(3): 161-7.

- 11. Cameron AA, Green GE, Brogno DA, Thornton J. Internal thoracic artery grafts: 20-year clinical follow-up. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995; 25(1): 188-92.
- 12. Carpentier A, Guermonprez JL, Deloche A, Frechette C, DuBost C. The aorta-to-coronary radial artery bypass graft. A technique avoiding pathological changes in grafts. Ann Thorac Surg 1973; 16(2): 111-21.
- 13. Acar C, Jebara VA, Portoghese M, Beyssen B, Pagny JY, Grare P, et al. Revival of the radial artery for coronary artery bypass grafting. Ann Thorac Surg 1992; 54(4): 652-9.
- 14. Tatoulis J, Buxton BF, Fuller JA. The right internal thoracic artery: The forgotten conduit-5,766 patients and 991 angiograms. Ann Thorac Surg 2011; 92(1): 9-15.
- 15. Barner HB, Swartz MT, Mudd JG, Tyras DH. Late patency of the internal mammary artery as a coronary bypass conduit. Ann Thorac Surg 1982; 34(4): 408-12.
- 16. Leavitt BJ, O'Connor GT, Olmstead EM, Morton JR, Maloney CT, Dacey LJ, et al. Use of the internal mammary artery graft and in-hospital mortality and other adverse outcomes associated with coronary artery bypass surgery. Circulation 2001; 103(4): 507-12.
- 17. Tatoulis J, Buxton BF, Fuller JA. The right internal thoracic artery: Is it underutilized? Curr Opin Cardiol 2011; 26(6): 528-35.
- 18. Buxton BF, Ruengsakulrach P, Fuller J, Rosalion A, Reid CM, Tatoulis J. The right internal thoracic artery graft--benefits of grafting the left coronary system and native vessels with a high grade stenosis. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2000; 18(3): 255-61.
- 19. He GW. Arterial grafts for coronary artery bypass grafting: Biological characteristics, functional classification, and clinical choice. Ann Thorac Surg 1999; 67(1): 277-84.
- 20. Tatoulis J, Buxton BF, Fuller JA. Results of 1,454 free right internal thoracic artery-to-coronary artery grafts. Ann Thorac Surg 1997; 64(5): 1263-8.
- 21. Tatoulis J, Buxton BF, Fuller JA, Meswani M, Theodore S, Powar N, et al. Long-term patency of 1108 radial arterial-coronary angiograms over 10 years. Ann Thorac Surg 2009; 88(1): 23-9.
- 22. van Brussel BL, Voors AA, Ernst JM, Knaepen PJ, Plokker HW. Venous coronary artery bypass surgery: A more than 20-year follow-up study. Eur Heart J 2003; 24(10): 927-36.
- 23. Lytle BW, Blackstone EH, Loop FD, Houghtaling PL, Arnold JH, Akhrass R, et al. Two internal thoracic artery grafts are better than one. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1999; 117(5): 855-72.
- 24. Pick AW, Orszulak TA, Anderson BJ, Schaff HV. Single versus bilateral internal mammary artery grafts: 10-year outcome analysis. Ann Thorac Surg 1997; 64(3): 599-605.

Chronic Diseases Journal

**DOI:** 10.22122/cdj.v7i4.466

**Published by** Vesnu Publications

chron o

# Reducing chronic medical complications due to failure of patient safety using Standardized Plant Analysis Risk-Human Reliability Analysis (SPAR-H) method

#### Mohammad Reza Modabber<sup>1</sup>, <u>Batoul Ahmadi</u><sup>1</sup>, Ali Mohammad Mosadeghrad<sup>1</sup>

1 Department of Health Care Management and Economics, School of Public Health, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

#### Abstract

#### **Original Article**

**BACKGROUND:** Human errors in the medical profession can lead to irreparable errors in people's lives, damage, and heavy costs. Among health care workers, nurses spend more time with patients compared to other personnel; hence, they are more prone to human error. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to identify and evaluate human errors using the Standardized Plant Analysis Risk-Human Reliability Analysis (SPAR-H) method in nursing staff of a general hospital in Qazvin Province, Iran.

**METHODS:** This cross-sectional study was conducted in a general hospital in Qazvin during last 6 months of 2016 and first 6 months of 2017. The target population in the present study was nursing groups based on their highest work experience, from each section in hospital. The SPAR-H method was used to investigate human error in the population and the collected data were analyzed using SPSS software.

**RESULTS:** The highest error related to inappropriate venipuncture with probability of 0.7, and the least probable error related to error in entering the numbers of vital signs with the probability of 0.0045.

**CONCLUSION:** Due to the sensitivity of the role of nurses in hospitals, the need for increased workforce, the use of people with higher work experience in sensitive sectors, reducing overtime even for those who volunteered to work overtime, scientific scheduling of the personnel's work shifts, and providing practical training such as stress control methods in case of emergencies can be effective in reducing the probability of an error. **KEYWORDS:** Medical Error, Risk, Analysis, Nursing, Iran

Date of submission: 12 July 2018, Date of acceptance: 19 Sep. 2018

**Citation:** Modabber MR, Ahmadi B, Mosadeghrad AM. **Reducing chronic medical complications due to failure of patient safety using Standardized Plant Analysis Risk-Human Reliability Analysis (SPAR-H) method.** Chron Dis J 2019; 7(4): 272-8.

#### Introduction

Human errors are one of the topics that in today's theoretical and practical management world account for a considerable part of the time, budget, and attention of the experts and managers. The organizational structure of the staff of an organization is one of the factors that plays an effective role in reducing human error.<sup>1</sup> The damages caused by human error in different

**Corresponding Author:** Batoul Ahmadi Email: ahmadiba@tums.ac.ir professions have different consequences and small mistakes can lead to catastrophic dimensions in important and sensitive jobs.<sup>2,3</sup>

Human error called medical error in the medical profession is the failure to act correctly or to commit a mistake in planning or execution that inactivates or potentially causes an unwanted event that results in death, prolongation of hospitalization, or disability when discharged.

These include diagnostic errors, errors in drug administration and treatment, errors in surgical procedures, errors in the use of

technology and equipment, errors in the interpretation of paraclinical tests, etc.<sup>4</sup>

The review of resources shows that the mistakes of medical professions are less studied than other occupations in Iran and other countries. Various studies globally suggest that human error in these occupations has imposed heavy costs on patients by imposing additional costs of health care due to error, disability, and income reduction. In addition, errors lead to a reduction in patient's trust in the therapeutic care system, as well as a decrease in the patient satisfaction.<sup>5</sup>

According to the Starfield Institute of the American Academy Institute of Medicine (IOM), medical error in the United States (US) hospitals and healthcare institutions (including drug errors, laboratory errors, errors in diagnosis, surgical errors, radiological errors, etc.) after cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) and cancers is the third most common cause of death, and nearly 98000 deaths occur each year due to these errors; in 2008, 17.1 billion dollars were spent on measurable errors in US hospitals.<sup>6,7</sup>

Among the medical staff, nurses spend more time with patients than other personnel; hence, they are more prone to human error.<sup>8</sup> This could be created or increased due to factors such as mental and physical exhaustion, unusual work hours, occupational stress, weakness in personnel communication, information processing deficits, inexperience and deficit in standardization of nursing orders.<sup>9-12</sup>

Since some of these unwanted events are unavoidable and can be repeated under the same conditions, by sharing their experience of errors, they can be prevented from happening again.<sup>13</sup> In this regard, different methods have been proposed to evaluate human error capabilities such as Human Error Assessment and Reduction Technique (HEART), Technique for Human Error Rate Prediction (THERP), A Technique for Human Error Analysis (ATHENA), Standardized Plant Analysis Risk Human Reliability Analysis (SPAR-H), Systematic Human Error Reduction and Prediction Approach (SHERPA), etc. Among these methods, SPAR-H was first proposed by the US Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) and the Idaho National Laboratory (INL) to develop nuclear power plant safety models and then completed by Gertman et al. in 2004 and was published in 2005.<sup>14</sup>

The SPAR-H is based on revisions to the first and second-generation techniques of Human Reliability Assessment (HRA) process, which divides human activities into two types of practical and diagnostic activities, which can be used to classify errors and quantify the contribution of human beings to error. In this affecting method, the factors human performance are divided into eight categories: stress/stressors available time, and environmental factors causing stress, experience/training, work complexity, ergonomics of the work environment including human-machine interfaces, functional procedures, suitability of tasks, and work processes. As a result, managers make decisions easier and with the knowledge of the probability of occurring mistakes.<sup>15,16</sup>

In a study using SPAR-H method, it was concluded that the most probable error was error in injecting blood products with a 78% and the least probable error was in the serum device with a 55% error probability.<sup>17</sup> In the study of Khandan et al., the rate of performance error has been reported 46.8%, inspection 25.6%, recovery 8.5%, communication 12.1%, and selective error 7.0%.<sup>18</sup>

Considering the importance of nurses' role in patient safety and providing safe services to patients, this study was aimed to identify and evaluate human errors using SPAR-H method in nursing staff of one of the general hospitals in Qazvin Province, Iran.

#### Materials and Methods

This cross-sectional study was conducted in a

general hospital in Qazvin during last six months of 2016 and first six months of 2017. The hospital was divided into 10 sections [emergency, women internal, men internal, women surgery, men surgery, urology, hematology, general surgery, intensive care unit (ICU), coronary care unit (CCU)]. The target population in this study was nursing groups based on their highest work experience. In each section, three people (one morning shift, one noon shift, one night shift) were enrolled. The SPAR-H method was used to investigate human error in the population, which was performed in the following steps, respectively:

1- In the first step, task analysis was performed using Hierarchical Task Analysis (HTA)<sup>19</sup> independently for both groups of diagnostic and practical activities related to the nursing profession.

2- In this step, the probability of human error was determined, thus providing an effective diagnostic and practical form for the nursing profession after entering basic erroraffecting information including age, sex, history, education. The worksheets were completed with the presence of the researcher and after providing the required information to the subjects.

This step of the study took the form of the following steps:

A) Evaluation of each Performance Shaping Factors (PSFs) from the diagnostic or performance dimension:

At this stage, each of the factors shaping performance for diagnosis or performance was evaluated. These factors include available time, stress/stressors, complexity, experience/training, operational procedures, ergonomics, task suitability, and work processes.<sup>14,20</sup> Each of these shaping factors has specific coefficients.

B) The calculation of the probability of error in diagnostic or performance errors was calculated as follows:

(1) If all PSF values are sufficient, the

diagnostic and functional failure probability is 1.0E-2 (one to the power of -2) and 1.0E-3 (one to the power of -3), respectively.

(2) Otherwise, the probability of a diagnostic and performance error is:

-The probability of diagnostic error = 1.OE-2 × available time × stress and stressors × work complexity × training and experience × operating methods × ergonomics × fitness with task × working process

-The probability of a performance error = 1.OE-3 × available time × stress and stressors × work complexity × training and experience × operating procedures × ergonomics × fitness with task × working process

C) Calculation of the regulatory factor when there are several (three or more) negative factors for the PSF: When three or more PSFs with a negative effect are present, instead of the above equations, another equation is used in which the regulatory factor is also calculated. Negative PSF means that the coefficient of choice is greater than 1. Nominal human error probability (NHEP) for diagnostic error is 1.OE-2 and for the performance error is 1.0E-3. The PSF score used in this mode is the result of the coefficient of all the specified values of the PSF. Therefore, the regulatory factor is used to calculate HEP in this way:

HEP = NHEP.PSF/NHEP(PSF-1) + 1

Where HEP is a human error.

D) The final HEP is recorded by diagnosis or performance: If the regulatory agent was not used, the final diagnosis HEP would be recorded using section B, and if the regulatory agent was used, the amount of section C would be calculated and recorded.

E) Calculating error occurrence without dependence equation [Task Failure Probability without Formal Dependence (Pw/od)]: The probability of the task failure without the dependence equation is actually the sum of the probability of failure of the diagnosis with the probability of failure of the performance.

(3) Determination of the amount of

dependency share (Pw/d) available between tasks: The table of dependency conditions was used, which includes the change in the person being analyzed, the open or closed time range, the analyzed person's displacement, and the presence or absence of additional indications to guide the individual to make or not to make an error.

In this case, the dependence of the negative effect of a human error on the subsequent errors is calculated as the general error. Dependency can be in full, high, moderate, low, or zero modes. After determining the dependence, the probability of the final probability of the error was calculated.<sup>17</sup>

Pw/od = The probability of failure without the dependence relation (calculated in section E): For a complete dependence, the probability of failure = 1; for a high dependence, the probability of failure equals to 2 (Pw/od + 1); for the average dependence, the probability of error equals to 7 (Pw/od × 6 + 1); for a low dependence, the probability of failure is equal to 20 (Pw/od × 19 + 1); and for zero dependence, the probability of failure is equal to Pw/od.

D) Risk level assessment was performed using the probability and severity of the risk.

#### Results

Analysis of the results of demographic information showed that 64%of the participants in the study were women with an average age of 34 years and 36% of them were men with an average age of 38 years, of which 12% were apprentices, 75% were undergraduates, and 13% were masters. Their work experience was 12 years. Based on the results, there was no significant relationship between the probability of error and sex, age, and educational status (P > 0.05). But there was a meaningful relationship with the average of working experience.

The findings of the study indicate that in the nursing activities, in the diagnostic errors, the most probable error belonged to patient's diagnosis mismatch with record and incorrect injection because of nominal or physical resemblance (0.4%), and the least probable error rate related to the probability of entering the incorrect code in the system and entering the incorrect patient in the system for laboratory and paraclinical services (0.0016%). Among the performance errors, the most probable error rate belonged to the patient bedsore (0.005%) and the least probable error was error in entering vital signs' numbers (0.000125). Among the combined errors, the most probable error belonged to inappropriate venipuncture with probability of 1 and the lowest probable failure belonged to the probability of failure in entering at least one of the drugs because of the nominal similarity with the probability of 0.0045 (Table 1).

Probable errors were ranked as the percentage of error probability in table 2.

The highest probable failure belonged to inappropriate venipuncture with a probability of 0.7, and the lowest probability error related to the probability of mistake in entering numbers related to vital signs with the probability of 0.0045.

#### Discussion

In the present study, the human errors of nurses in a general hospital were identified and evaluated via the SPAR-H method. There was not a significant relationship between gender, age, educational status and the probability of error, which was in line with the results of the study by Shamsaii et al.<sup>21</sup> With increased work experience, stress decreases in emergency situations, and knowing error-prone bottlenecks can overcome the likelihood of an error in such situations and prevent the occurrence of errors and increase patient safety.

In this study, the most probable incidence of errors belonged to inappropriate venipuncture with the probability of 0.7. Therefore, the nurses are trained to do appropriate venipuncture to reduce the chance of such an error.

	Table 1. The probability of human error (nursing)									
Row	Task list	Probable error	The probability of the	The probability of the	Error probability without	Error probability with				
			diagnostic	performance	dependency	coefficient of				
1	Admission	When a registration request	error	0.0002						
1	Admission	Failure to match patient's diagnosis with the record	0.4000	-	0.4000	0.0002				
		Mistake in closing the patient's bracelet and error in identifying the patient	-	0.0025	0.0025	0.0025				
2	Entering the doctor's orders	Probability of not entering at least one order in the card	-	0.0025	0.0025	0.0025				
	at the card	Mistake in entering at least one case of drugs due to nominal similarity	0.0040	0.0005	0.0045	0.0045				
3	Controlling the patient's vital signs	Error in entering numbers related to vital signs	-	0.0001	0.0012	0.0012				
4	Monitoring	Falling from bed	-	0.0025	0.0025	0.0025				
	the patients	Patient's bedsore	-	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050				
5	Attaching the peripheral venous catheter	Inappropriate venipuncture	0.1000	0.6000	0.7000	0.7000				
6	Serving drug to the patient	Wrong injection due to nominal or apparent similarity	0.4000	-	0.4000	0.4000				
		Giving a wrong oral medicine	0.1000	-	0.1000	0.1000				
		Needle stick when injecting medication or sampling	0.0160	0.0010	0.0170	0.0170				
7	Blood injection	Injecting wrong blood products to the patient	0.0500	-	0.0500	0.0975				
8	Entering paraclinical	Probability of entering the wrong code in the system	0.0016	0.0001	0.0017	0.0017				
	tests and services in the system	Probability of entering the wrong patient's name in the system	0.0016	0.0001	0.0017	0.0017				
9	Delivering patients to the next shift	Uncertainty about the correctness of patient connections	0.0080	0.0010	0.0090	0.0090				

In hospitals, one of the most common in the hospitals is the similarity error in the patient's name and the inconsistency of the patient's profile with their records, which are Because of the change of shift and high work pressure on nurses. Color labels on the records and their identification bracelets are used to reduce the likelihood of error due to nominal similarity. Another common mistake in the hospital is giving and injecting a wrong medication due to a mistake in the form or appearance of the drug; the probability of this error in this hospital was 0.4 and 0.1, respectively. In a in hospitals affiliated studv done to Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences, Sari, Iran, incorrect dose administration was one of the major causes of medical errors.<sup>22</sup> The results of some studies indicated that most of the drug failures occurred because of the high workload, drug interactions, delivery

problems, incomplete and inappropriate communication of personnel when delivering shifts, and unreadable prescriptions.<sup>23,24</sup> Hence, the hospital's proposed solution, i.e., using labels for similar drugs and listing these medications and sticking them to the wards in front of the nurses, was done to reduce the chance of error.

Table 2. Prioritizing the error rate	Table	2.	Prioritizina	the	error	rate
--------------------------------------	-------	----	--------------	-----	-------	------

Probable error	Probable
	total error
Inappropriate venipuncture	0.7000
Failure to match patient's diagnosis	0.4000
with the record	
Wrong injection due to nominal or	
apparent similarity	
Giving a wrong oral medicine	0.1000
Injecting wrong blood products to the	0.0975
patient	
Needle stick when injecting	0.0170
medication or sampling	
Uncertainty about the correctness of	0.0090
patient connections	
Patient's bedsore	0.0050
Mistake in entering at least one case of	0.0045
drugs due to nominal similarity	
Probability of not entering at least one	0.0025
order in the card	
Falling of patient from bed	
Probability of entering the wrong code	0.0017
in the system	
Probability of entering the wrong	
patient	
in the system	
Mistake in entering the patient name	0.0002
Mistake in closing the patient's	
bracelet and error in identifying the	
patient	
Error in entering numbers related to vital	0.0001
signs	

Another detected mistake is that errors can occur in the hospital was injecting wrong blood products to the patient prone to error 0.0975. In a study that investigated the human error in emergency department, it was found that the most likely error in the nursing group was blood and blood products transfusion with a probability of 0.78.<sup>17</sup> In a study by Hewitt, one of the common mistakes of nurses was error in blood transfusion,<sup>25</sup> which is matched with this study. The strategy provided by the hospital included double check-ups of blood requests by the two nurses, sending separate samples for wrist application scientific-practical blood products, and empowerment of all new personnel by the blood bank, and assessment of information provided to the personnel by the head nurse, informing signs and symptoms of unhealthy blood products, control of patients' vital signs and clinical status in the first 51 minutes that blood transfusion was started.

#### Conclusion

The probability of error as well as the role of different situations can affect the performance of personnel in their duties; therefore, by using the ergonomic interventions the risk of human errors can be reduced. Also, the findings of this study suggest the need for increased workforce, the use of people with a higher work experience in sensitive wards, reducing overtime even for volunteers who want overtime, scientific scheduling of personnel's working shifts, and providing practical training such as stress control techniques in case of emergencies in high-risk situations.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

Authors have no conflict of interests.

#### Acknowledgments

This article is related to the PhD thesis in health care management in Tehran University of Medical Sciences. The ethical code was IR.TUMS.SPH.REC.1396.292 granted from Tehran University of Medical Sciences. The authors of this paper appreciate the hospital manager and all of the heads and staff of the nursing units of the educational hospital of Qazvin University of Medical Sciences, for their great effort in coordinating with other parts of the hospital to complete the checklists.

We also express our appreciation to the many others who helped us in conducting this study.

#### References

- Haji Hoseini A. Engineering of human error. 1st ed. Tehran, Iran: Fanavaran Publications; 2010. p. 45-66,143-101. [In Persian].
- Kallberg AS, Goransson KE, Ostergren J, Florin J, Ehrenberg A. Medical errors and complaints in emergency department care in Sweden as reported by care providers, healthcare staff, and patients -a national review. Eur J Emerg Med 2013; 20(1): 33-8.
- 3. Guillod O. Medical error disclosure and patient safety: Legal aspects. J Public Health Res 2013; 2(3): e31.
- 4. Soop M, Fryksmark U, Koster M, Haglund B. The incidence of adverse events in Swedish hospitals: A retrospective medical record review study. Int J Qual Health Care 2009; 21(4): 285-91.
- Dhingra KR, Elms A, Hobgood C. Reducing error in the emergency department: A call for standardization of the sign-out process. Ann Emerg Med 2010; 56(6): 637-42.
- Anderson JG, Jay SJ, Anderson M, Hunt TJ. Evaluating the impact of information technology on medication errors: A simulation. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2003; 10(3): 292-3.
- Kalra J, Kalra N, Baniak N. Medical error, disclosure and patient safety: A global view of quality care. Clin Biochem 2013; 46(13-14): 1161-9.
- DeLucia PR, Palmieri PA. Performance in nursing. Reviews of Human Factors and Ergonomics 2009; 5: 1-40.
- 9. Barker LM, Nussbaum MA. The effects of fatigue on performance in simulated nursing work. Ergonomics 2011; 54(9): 815-29.
- Kunert K, King ML, Kolkhorst FW. Fatigue and sleep quality in nurses. J Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv 2007; 45(8): 30-7.
- 11. Newman KM, Doran D. Critical care nurses' information-seeking behaviour during an unfamiliar patient care task. Dynamics 2012; 23(1): 12-7.
- 12. Treiber LA, Jones JH. Devastatingly human: An analysis of registered nurses' medication error accounts. Qual Health Res 2010; 20(10): 1327-42.
- 13. Davis RE, Sevdalis N, Neale G, Massey R, Vincent CA. Hospital patients' reports of medical errors and undesirable events in their health care. J Eval Clin Pract 2013; 19(5): 875-81.

- 14. Gertman DI, Blackman HS, Marble JL, Byers JC, SmithIdaho CL. The SPAR-H Human Reliability
- Analysis Method (NUREG/CR-6883, INL/EXT-05-00509). Idaho Falls, Idaho: Idaho National Laboratory; 2005. 15. Institute of Medicine, Committee on Quality of
- 15. Institute of Medicine, Committee on Quality of Health Care in America. To Err is human: Building a safer health system. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2000.
- 16. Baker GR, Norton PG, Flintoft V, Blais R, Brown A, Cox J, et al. The Canadian adverse events study: The incidence of adverse events among hospital patients in Canada. CMAJ 2004; 170(11): 1678-86.
- 17. Tanha F, Mazloumi A, Faraji V, Kazemi Z, Shoghi M. Evaluation of human errors using standardized plant analysis risk human reliability analysis technique among delivery emergency nurses in a hospital affiliated to Tehran University of Medical Sciences. Hospital 2015; 14(3): 57-66.
- 18. Khandan M, Yusefi S, Sahranavard R, Koohpaei A. SHERPA technique as an approach to healthcare error management and patient safety improvement: A case study among nurses. Health Scope 2017; 6(2): e37463.
- 19. Shepherd A. HTA as a framework for task analysis. Ergonomics 1998; 41(11): 1537-52.
- Bell J, Holroyd J. Review of human reliability assessment methods. Harpur Hill, UK: Health & Safety Laboratory; 2009.
- Shamsaii M, Faraji O, Ramazani A, Hedaiati P. The viewpoints of Zabol's general practitioners about medical errors in 2010. Hospital 2012; 10(4): 31-6.
- 22. Malekzadeh R, Araghian Mojarrad F, Amirkhanlu A, Sarafraz S, Abedini E. Incidence of medical errors in voluntary reporting system in hospitals of Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences in 2014. Manage Strat Health Syst 2016; 1(1): 61-9. [In Persian].
- 23. Desai RJ, Williams CE, Greene SB, Pierson S, Caprio AJ, Hansen RA. Exploratory evaluation of medication classes most commonly involved in nursing home errors. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2013; 14(6): 403-8.
- 24. Manias E, Kinney S, Cranswick N, Williams A. Medication errors in hospitalised children. J Paediatr Child Health 2014; 50(1): 71-7.
- 25. Hewitt P. Nurses perceptions of the causes of medication errors: An integrative literature review. Medsurg Nursing 2010; 19(3): 159-67.

Chronic Diseases Journal

DOI: 10.22122/cdj.v7i4.481

Abstract

**Published by** Vesnu Publications

chron o

# The approach of futures studies based on scenario planning: A case study of health services in Sanandaj City, Iran

#### Kumars Ahmadi<sup>1</sup>, <u>Farid Yousefinejad</u><sup>1</sup>, Rozhin Mehrabani<sup>2</sup>, Mehran Amini<sup>3</sup>

1 Department of Management, School of Management, Sanandaj Branch, Islamic Azad University, Sanandaj, Iran 2 Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Research Institute for Health Development, Kurdistan

2 Social Determinants of Health Research Cen University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

3 Multidisciplinary Doctoral School of Engineering Sciences, Szechenyi Istvan University, Gyor, Hungary

#### **Original Article**

**BACKGROUND:** Futures studies is a managerial tool which is also regarded as a soft knowledge to gather the information on what may happen in the future or what is more likely to happen mainly to reduce risk factors. This study aims to identify the favorable future and the most probable occurring scenarios concerning the demands in the healthcare services and medical treatments in Sanandaj City, Iran.

**METHODS:** In this study, environmental monitoring, Delphi method, and scenario planning were utilized. To determine the drivers of content and the periphery, we used a non-structured questionnaire. A total of 12 experts in the field of medicine, management, sociology, psychology, and economics as well as health care management participated in the study.

**RESULTS:** In the present study, in order to calculate the scenario planning and relative data analysis, we reflected on the morphology between the key factors that influenced the health care. Two important uncertainties were identified: the quality of service by suppliers and the level of attitudinal knowledge of the clients. In addition, using a cross (matrix) method, we were able to identify four passable future scenarios.

**CONCLUSION:** Based on the findings and results of this study, Apple Health Scenario, where two uncertainties of suppliers' services of a qualitative increase status, and the increasing level of knowledge and attitude of health applicants, have the best conditions. Consequently, a favorable future will be required for health services, health and medical treatment and other future prospects will not be desirable for this matter. **KEYWORDS:** Future, Planning Techniques, Health Services

Date of submission: 12 July 2018, Date of acceptance: 19 Sep. 2018

**Citation:** Ahmadi K, Yousefinejad F, Mehrabani R, Amini M. **The approach of futures studies based on scenario planning: A case study of health services in Sanandaj City, Iran.** Chron Dis J 2019; 7(4): 279-87.

#### Introduction

Since the human has tried to maintain his health and cure his diseases, health system has existed. The health system is all activities which their main purpose is to promote, restore, or maintain health.<sup>1</sup> This system requires proper equipment, financial resources, communication and coordination, and sound management so as to get and

**Corresponding Author:** Farid Yousefinejad Email: faridrozhin@yahoo.com present the services which is responsible for them.  $^{\rm 2}$ 

Futurology is the illustration of future with a distinct and scientific methodology and is widely used in the field of health.<sup>3</sup> Futurology is an applied field, the speed in future research is of great importance and significance. If the organizations do not create the future, their competitorswill make the future fast and there will no longer be an opportunity for us in the future. According to Hermann Kahn, there will not be any free future.<sup>4</sup> Futurology is a process enabling an organization to create its suitable

and preferable future by innovation.<sup>5</sup> Foresight and futurology do not foresee, but introduce future.6 Futurology believable enables managers to link their clear outlook with the current day's issues and topics.7 According to Slaughter, futurology is among those disciplines transforming conventional laws.8 The power of futurology is that it can link diversities and uncertainties and point to the opportunities and damages.9 Nowadays, any organization or institution that does not plan for itself will be planned by others and the planning will not take place in the favor of our interests, benefits, and values, yet it will be a future in the direction and favor of the planners' interests.10 The complexities of today's world and its dynamism have led to the ineffectiveness of previous planning methods.8 Having a plan and strategy to implement them is of the needs and necessities of guaranteeing the survival and development of organizations; success in this direction requires the cooperation of all internal and external factors of the organizations that, given the precise and practical recognition of the internal, regional, and global situation, must be done and achieved.<sup>11</sup> Today, strategic and long-term planning of organizations without the use of futurology science is not effective enough and does not meet all future conditions.12 Various factors affecting request and demand for health treatment services include: demographic characteristics, disease outbreaks, health policies, gender distribution, age pyramid, population growth rate, health insurance expansion, gross domestic product (GDP) and per capita income (PCI), knowledge and medical technology development process, cultural characteristics society.13 and of According to United Nations (UN) human development reports, the share of health and treatment costs in GDP of developed countries is often higher than developing countries.

On the other hand, in Iran, increasing population and demand for health care and

inadequate income resources of the country's healthcare sector to meet the increasing costs of health care have caused serious problems and crises for Iran's healthcare management. Governmental resources are limited, and there is no possibility to increase them in the short run, regarding the issued reports by the Central Bank of Iran, the price index of the health sector in the 1991s had the most increase.<sup>14</sup> The purpose of this study was to present a futuristic approach to the health care sector of Sanandaj City, Iran, and to present and introduce the possible scenarios or future prospects of this focal issue. The health department can illustrate its strategic planning so that if any of the scenarios occur, they will suffer the least damage and can have the best use with the least damage in any probable event or maybe misfortune of the future.

#### **Materials and Methods**

In this research, the environmental monitoring method, inspired by documentary studies was used to collect theoretical foundations and the Delphi method was used along with interviews and non-structural questionnaires to collect information, or the same influential factors, and drivers of these influential factors from the experts, and the scenario method and the Schwartz model were used to introduce and presentfour credible and probable scenarios in which 15 experts in the fields of medicine, management, sociology, psychology, and economics, and experienced managers in the health and treatment center of Sanandaj were tested in three rounds of Delphi accompaniment. Finally, experts 12 participated fully in all three rounds.

Sampling was non-probabilistic, definite, and judgmental. The research was qualitative regarding the strategy, in terms of the purpose it was applied, in terms of method it was descriptive and from the exploratory and survey branch, and regarding the time of data collection it was multi-sectional. In order to

#### Futures studies in health services

create a scenario, it is necessary to identify and designate key uncertainties by observing with high impact and factors high unpredictability so that we can create a matrix,15 and based on steps 4 and 5 of the Schwartz model, a two-by-two matrix will be formed to introduce four scenarios in four houses. The Schwartz model encompasses eight main steps: 1) clarifying the main focus of the scenarios (the main question), 2) reviewing past changes to identify driving trends and forces in progress, 3) identifying future changes and driving forces of known changes, 4) identifying key uncertainties, 5) creating a logical framework based on identified uncertainties, 6) fertilizing main features and developing narratives for each scenario, 7) identifying the themes for each of the scenarios of the organization, and 8) defining indicators and guidance signs.<sup>16</sup> According to the Schwartz eight-step approach, we collected information using expert opinions. We determined key agents by using ideas of certified and expert people with sufficient information about health, medical, and treatment servicesIn terms of literature in this research, expert is someone with at least 10 years of continuous work of experience in the subject.

#### **Results**

Based on above-mentioned methodology along with environmental monitoring, 4 subsets were obtained: the way of influencing of driving factors (Table 1), interactive impacts analysis (Table 2), factors with high impact and unpredictability (Table 3), and recognizing uncertainty factors (Table 4). These features led the research to the following fining and 4 scenarios (Figure 1). Identified factors which Ahmadi et al.

eventually reached 51 factors were asked from professionals according to the Delphi method and the views were passed to other members. Then the opinions of the experts collected and turned into a single list, once again were given to all the members and the next step started. This method was used for all stages and the output of each stage was the result of consensus among all the members. After identifying the key factors, a list of their stimuli or their influential forces was prepared and after identifying the best ones regarding uncertainty and comprehensive effects, an inclusive matrix was formed. In the matrix, members by regarding the 10-year horizon of scenarios, tried to set it up and their final opinions turned into a single form accepted by all of the members and was inserted into Excel software. Then the software by processing, wrote down the abstract of the results gotten through main idea and the paradigm of the interviewee members.

For valuing, the Likert spectrum with a scale of 1 up to 9 was used, but in terms of categorization based on the severity, this was done in a predetermined way.

20 out of identified 51 factors affecting demand for services were of high impact, accounting for about 39% of the factors and can be prioritized, preferred, and regarded in sectorial decision-making and policy-making, so that the decisions can be effective and efficient enough. 23 out of the 51 identified factors affecting demand for services were of high influence, accounting for about 45% of the factors, and can be applied in decisionmaking, policy-making, and efforts to increase productivity and improve the qualitative and quantitative level of offered services, so that the decisions are more realistic and logical.8

The driving factor empowers and boosts another driving factor		The driving factor has no effect on the other one	The drivi	ng factor weake driving factor	ns another	
Strong boost	Great boost	Low boost	Not related	Low weakening	Great weakening	Strong weakening
+3	+2	+1	0	-1	-2	-3
				Chron Dis J	, Vol. 7, No. 4, Aut	umn 2019 281

http://cdjournal.muk.ac.ir, 07 October

Table 2. Interactive impact analysis															
Variables		Healthcare		Life		The quality of the		Prioritizing		Security		Supervising of		IT capacity	
		tariffs		expectancy		infrastructure		individual		attitude to the		relevant			
		Much	Low	Much	Low	Ontimal	Undesirable	Low	Much		<u>ovince</u> Much	Enough	Not enough	Annronriate	Inannronriate
Healthcare tariffs	Much	WIUCH	Low	-2.	+2.	0 0	0	+3	-3	-1	+1	-2	+2	-1	+1
	Low			+2	-2	0	0 0	-3	+3	+1	-1	+2	-2	+1	-1
Life expectancy	Much	-1	+1		-	+2	-2	-3	+3	0	0	+1	-1	0	0
1	Low	+1	-1			-2	+2	+3	-3	0	0	-1	+1	0	0
The quality of the	Optimal	0	0	0	0			0	0	+3	-3	0	0	+1	-1
infrastructure	Undesirable	0	0	0	0			0	0	-3	+3	0	0	-1	+1
Prioritizing	Low	+3	-3	-3	+3	0	0			0	0	0	0	-1	+1
individual health	Much	-3	+3	+3	-3	0	0			0	0	0	0	+1	-1
Security attitude to	Low	0	0	0	0	+1	-1	0	0			0	0	0	0
the province	Much	0	0	0	0	-1	+1	0	0			0	0	0	0
Supervising of	Enough	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	+1	-1			+2	-2
relevant institutions	Not enough	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-1	+1			-2	+2
IT capacity	Appropriate	+2	-2	0	0	+2	-2	0	0	+3	-3	+1	-1		
	Inappropriate	-2	+2	0	0	-2	+2	0	0	-3	+3	-1	+1		

IT: Information technology

#### Table 3. Factors with high impact and unpredictability

The degree of affinity between factors	Factors with high impact and unpredictability
51.40.39.37.31.27.16.13.9.7.2.1	Costs and tariffs for health services for the general public and citizens
50.46.45.31.28.27.24.23.18.17.14.11.6.2.1	Life expectancy and the number of elderly people in Sanandaj
37.36.34.27.26.22.18.15.8.2	Quality of transportation infrastructure in Sanandaj city
46.41.37.28.21.18.14.13.12.7.6.4.3.2.1	A culture of personal health priority in the families of Sanandaj
35.30.29.27.23.20.19.17.14.10.2.1	A security attitude to the province as an investment rejection factor in private sector in the health part
51.43.42.29.17.13.11.2.1	Supervision of relevant institutions in the context of health services
41.27.26.25.16.11.10.9.4	IT capacity for providing health services and treatment

IT: Information technology
l able 4. Uncertainty table				
The name of the key uncertainties	Factors with high impact and unpredictability	Number		
Key uncertainty 1:	Costs and tariffs for health services for the general public and citizens	1		
Qualitative status of service providers	Imagination of security attitude to the province as an investment			
	rejection of private sector in the health sector			
	Quality of transportation infrastructure in Sanandaj City			
	Use of IT capabilities to provide health services and treatment			
	Reduction of suitable monitoring in health sector			
Key uncertainty 2:	Life expectancy and the number of elderly people in Sanandaj	2		
The status of the level of knowledge	Spreading the culture of priority to personal health in			
and attitude of the applicants	Sanandaj households			

IT: Information technology

Out of the 51 identified factors affecting

demand for services were moderate in intensity, accounting for about 16% of the factors and can be used in decision-making and policy management of the sector, covering the various dimensions of the phenomenon and focal research question. 2 out of the 51 identified factors had a high degree of unpredictability, namely the inability to detect whether or not the agents are done, accounting for about 4% of all the factors and can be the focal point of attention in decision-making and policy management in the sector having a large share in future shuffling of the focal point. 12 out of the 51 identified factors affecting demand for services were highly unpredictable, accounting for about 24% of

factors, and can be used in decision-making and policy-making to make and adopt more realistic decisions. 22 out of 51 identified factors influencing demand for services had a moderate unpredictability rate, accounting for about 43% of the factors that can be considered for increasing productivity in this section, and the various dimensions of the phenomenon and the focal point of the research can be covered.

To create scenarios, it was necessary to identify, introduce, and designate key uncertainties by observing and contemplating factors with high impact and unpredictability in order to create a matrix, and regarding the Schwartz model, a two-by-two matrix for introducing four scenarios in four houses should be shaped and formed.



The status of boosting qualitative level of providers

http://cdjournal.muk.ac.ir, 07 October

Three types of connections may exist between driving factors:

1. A driving factor boosts another driving factor

2. A driving factor weakens another driving factor.

3. A driving factor has no effect on the other one.

Considering the plurality and multiplicity of identified factors, each of them can be valid in decision-making, but because the purpose would be scenario planning and formulating, so distinguishing and highlighting factors with impact severity and unpredictability is of high importance.

At this stage, a conceptual belt must be elegantly made so that one can find similarities between the factors with a lot of impact and very high unpredictability in the terms of value, usage, etc., so that a key category can be attained.

In scenario-writing or scenario-making as an art, one should be able to make a sort of collage and pair-matching in the creation of the alignment and aggregation of the identified, yet unpredictable, factors, so that through aggregation and combination, one can attain two to three vital key uncertainties. As can be seen in table 4, some uncertainties will turn the future of the focal issue into a few segments.

#### Discussion

As it can be observed in figure 1, in scenario 1 (Sib Salamat): Sanandaj in 2025, with the support of the public sector and private sector investment, is supposed to be able to improve and upgrade its transportation infrastructure. Aviation development can also attract health tourist especially from the Kurdistan region, the development of information technology (IT) infrastructure can make it easier to receive services and there may be an increasing tendency of domestic and foreign applicants to receive services in Sanandaj. Improvement of infrastructure, especially adding the rail transport, can result in some kind of improved PCI and an increase in the welfare level of households. resulting in more budget allocations from the household basket to health and treatment; more community attention to oral health has caused an increase in demand and development of dental services, especially 24-hour (overnight) services.<sup>11</sup> The good functioning of the health sector, government support policies, the development of public and private insurance, the government's attention to reducing legal barriers and service matching and coordination, changing the way of look and idea toward this province, and government investment in the province has attracted private sector investment in all areas especially the healthcare sector. The conditions in the past ten years can increase the population over 65 in the city of Sanandaj, demanding their own unique health services.<sup>13</sup> A fair hearing and people's understanding about the fairness of this investigation in medical misdiagnosis can give the community more confidence and trust in this section. The charity, given the government supportive and persuasive policies and advent of the culture of charity people for building hospitals, can do better in making service centers and providing services to less-privileged classes. Choosing the name of the scenario is also based on the desired situation and is, with regard to the key uncertainties associated with a healthy diet (apple), a symbol of community health and the suitability of the service provision.<sup>10</sup>

Scenario 2 (curettage/abortion): It is 2025. In the past ten years, due to changing attitudes towards the province, good investment can be made in the health sector. Communicational infrastructures are supposed to be developed and road transport is easier and less costly. Adding the rail transportation to Sanandaj transport infrastructure improves conditions .By developing IT infrastructure, a good basis for providing health services can be created. By providing adequate supervision and a

perceived sense of justice in issues and problems caused by medical errors, community assurance, trust, and confidence to service providers in this sector has been increased. Reducing costs and tariffs of this section helps poor people in the community use cheap services significantly.9,10However, due to the lack of prioritization of health and health issues in Sanandaj households, the opportunities and facilities are left unused; although facilities and health centers are available to the general public at low cost and kind of cheap price, because of the lack of attention to the issue of health, fewer people try to use these facilities. Failure to do so reduces the life expectancy and number of elderly people which has lowered this group's demand for services. Although there are good conditions in the field of health, but due to the lack of importance of this issue for the community, this section of health provision is not used suitably and the incentive for families to receive oral care, especially for their children may be diminished. Although in recent years PCI may be increased in citizens of Sanandaj, this may not change much in terms of household spending on health issues; due to the lack of promotion of community health awareness, there is lack of proper use of appropriate conditions. This status quo is as an embryo gone because of ignoring the opportunity and lack of awareness.<sup>10</sup>

Scenario 3 (red code): In 2025, over the past 10 years, the attention is supposed to be drawn to the health issues among the various strata and layers of society significantly. Families attach great importance to health and treatment issues, especially in the health of infants and children. This attention of public to health issues increases life expectancy and the number of people over 65 years. The prevalence of a culture of prioritizing to individual health in households of Sanandaj may increase the demand for health care. Periodic check-ups may become a common custom and the level of health knowledge in households may increase and improve significantly in the past decade. In general, this upgrading of the cultural and informational level of the community regarding the health issues can lead to a significant increase in health services demand comparing to past years, yet lack of legal protection by the government has caused a lot of problems for the individuals in this sector. The lack of infrastructure development may seriously damage the provision of services in this sector. Regarding reducing the health care costs and providing insurance services, the government may not provide good services as a trustee. In the past decade, the inappropriate distribution of services and the lack of establishment of hospital facilities and equipment that should be accountable and responsive to the needs of the province, can send patients to neighboring provinces or the center of the country; the lack of change in attitude towards the province can reduce the attraction of investors in various especially and health areas, treatment. Inadequate supervision in this area can reduce the sense of perceived fair hearing by the Regarding establishing public. nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) and utilizing the capacity of the charities, there is not a decent performance, and the hospitality's benefactor might not be paid much attention. Despite the proper demand in the health sector market, these factors may cause the opportunities created be wasted one by one, imposing double costs on households of Sanandaj and missing the opportunities, as the scenario name suggests this concept.17

Scenario 4 (code 99): It is 2025. Provincial infrastructure, especially in transportation, might not be well-developed. Road transport is not well developed, it is not possible to transport by railways, and air transportation is also facing ups and downs. IT infrastructure is not well developed, and the lack of change in attitude towards the province reduces

investment. And by the lack of investment in the public sector in infrastructure, the private sector might not be willing to invest in Sanandaj healthcare sector. Due to the lack of development in the transport infrastructure debate, the willingness of physicians and specialists to attend and work in Sanandaj can be diminished, and in terms of attracting tourism therapy, opportunities might also be lost, and even demand for health services in the province may be overflowed into other cities of the country. Opportunities might also be lost in the field of dental and oral health services and psychological and counseling services, and the demand for this section may not be adequately addressed and met. Despite the rising life expectancy of the elderly, special attention might not be paid to meeting the needs of this group. In the upcoming years, due to population aging resulted by an increase in the population of the 1980s, we may face a torrent of elderly and middle-aged healthcare recipients which by considering present situations, we may not be able to meet the needs of this generation in the future.<sup>18</sup> There are also many problems in the area of perceived justice in medical misdiagnosis cases. Insurance might not be effective over the past few years, and the penetration rate of insurance, especially supplementary insurance, might not have a growing and increasing trend. Considering the abovementioned issues, to solve the problem in the coming years, by taking short-term measures to solve the current problems and long-term conditions planning, for meeting and responding to health and treatment demands shall be provided. The latent and potential demand due to lack of awareness and underdevelopment of infrastructure and facilities can be considered as a threat to the future of the health market and, as it is derived from the title of the scenario, the referenced situation is similar to the ill patient in urgent need of help maintaining his vital signs.<sup>19</sup>

# Conclusion

The results of the scenario portfolio and the statuses fixed by our experts have been brought into four main scenarios under specific names. These scenarios include a complete explanation of the four possible future scenarios and product of all the information and scenarios derived from the cross-scenario method. Based on the aggregation and collage of factors with rankings of the most effective and the most unpredictable, we provided introduction and formulation opportunity of two important uncertainties as axes of scenario including key uncertainty 1: the status of qualitative level of service providers and key uncertainty 2: the status of the level of knowledge and attitude of the applicants. Finally, based on the analysis of the relationships and interactions between the identified drivers and factors as well as the key uncertainties extracted from the story and narrative of each scenario as a possible future for the health services, health and treatment demand in Sanandaj City was investigated. The health department can illustrate its strategic planning so that if any of the scenarios occur, they will suffer the least damage and can use it best and most with the least possible harm in any probable event of future.

# **Conflict of Interests**

Authors have no conflict of interests.

# Acknowledgments

This article is taken from a master's dissertation by Farid Yousefinejad (number: 11021215951069) by Sanandaj Branch, Islamic Azad University. The authors would like to thank Dr. Vahid Yousefinejad and everyone who helped.

# References

- Bishop P, Hines A, Collins T. The current state of scenario development: An overview of techniques. Foresight 2007; 9(1): 5-25.
- 2. Bell W. Foundations of Futures Studies: History, purposes, and knowledge. Piscataway, NJ:

- Barton H, Grant M, Guise R. Shaping neighbourhoods: A guide for health, sustainability and vitality. New York, NY: Spon; 2003.
- 4. Fink A, Schlake O. Scenario management-An approach for strategic foresight. Competitive Intelligence Review 2000; 11(1): 37-45
- Chermack TJ, Lynham SA, Ruona WE. A review of scenario planning literature. Futures Research Quarterly 2001; 17(2): 7-32.
- 6. Groff L, Shaffer R. Complex Adaptive systems and futures thinking: Theories, applications, and methods'. Special Issue Futures Research Quarterly 2008; (Special Issue): 5-6.
- 7. Morgan MT, Barnett DB. Environmental health. Belmont, CA: Thomson/Wadsworth; 2003.
- Paliokaite A. Networking as a route for corporate foresight in SMES [Online]. [cited 2010]; Available from: URL: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/4061/527bb6001346 508f7c5a3ec38307d7396fe6.pdf
- 9. Payne J. Researching health needs: A communitybased approach. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE; 1999.
- 10. Pilkington P. Social capital and health: measuring and understanding social capital at a local level could help to tackle health inequalities more effectively. J Public Health Med 2002; 24(3): 156-9.
- 11. Spear HJ, Kulbok PA. Adolescent health behaviors and related factors: A review. Public Health Nurs 2001; 18(2): 82-93.

- 12. Day GE, Leggat SG. Leading and Managing in Health Services. Cambridge, United Kingdom Cambridge University Press; 2015.
- 13. Strobino DM, Grason H, Minkovitz C. Charting a course for the future of women's health in the United States: Concepts, findings and recommendations. Soc Sci Med 2002; 54(5): 839-48.
- 14. Voros J. A primer on futures studies, foresight and the use of scenarios [Online]. [cited 2001]; Available from: URL: https://static1.squarespace.com/static/580c492820099 e7e75b9c3b4/t/58abbe7c29687fbaf4a03324/1487650 430788/A+Primer+on+Futures+Studies.pdf
- 15. Postma TJ, Liebl F. How to improve scenario analysis as a strategic management tool? Technol Forecast Soc Change 2005; 72(2): 161-73.
- 16. Slaughter RA. New thinking for a new millennium: The knowledge base of futures studies. London, Routledge; 2002.
- 17. Pilkington P. Social capital and health: measuring and understanding social capital at a local level could help to tackle health inequalities more effectively. J Public Health Med 2002; 24(3): 156-9.
- El Kerdini S, Hooge S. Can strategic foresight and creativity tools be combined? Structuring a conceptual framework for collective exploration of the unknown [Online]. [cited 2013]; Available from: URL: https://ideas.repec.org/p/hal/journl/hal-00824348.html
- 19. Naidoo J, Wills J. Health promotion: foundations for practice. London, UK: Bailliere Tindall; 2000.

Chronic Diseases Journal

**DOI:** 10.22122/cdj.v7i4.476

**Published by** Vesnu Publications

chron c

# The relationship between handedness and academic achievement in high school students of Sanandaj City, Iran

# Boshra Vahabi<sup>1</sup>, <u>Ahmad Vahabi<sup>2</sup></u>, Masoud Moradi<sup>3</sup>, Sirvan Sayyad<sup>4</sup>, Mahin Ahmadian<sup>5</sup>, Abdolvahed Narmashiri<sup>1</sup>

1 Student Research Committee, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

2 Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Research Institute for Health Development, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

3 Vice Chancellor for Research and Technology, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

4 School of Medicine, Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Kermanshah, Iran

5 Mohammad Kermanshahi Hospital, Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Kermanshah, Iran

# **Short Communication**

# Abstract

**BACKGROUND:** Academic achievement is considered as one of the main results of the educational system and focusing on factors affecting it is of great importance. The present study was performed with the aim to determine the relationship between handedness and academic achievement in high school students in Sanandaj City, Iran, in 2016. **METHODS:** This was a cross-sectional study the population of which included the high school students of Sanandaj and 2630 pupils were selected from among them. The study tool was the Annette's questionnaire. To measure the academic achievement, the average score of the first semester of the 2016-2017 school year of the students was used. The collected data were analyzed using the SPSS software and descriptive and statistical tests such as the Mann-Whitney and Kruskal-Wallis tests.

**RESULTS:** Among the samples, 7.7%, 87.4%, 4.9% were left handed, right handed, and of no handedness, respectively. The average score of handedness in the school children was  $16.75 \pm 11.99$  out of 24. There was no relationship between academic achievement and handedness (P = 0.105).

**CONCLUSION:** The results suggested that other factors than handedness affect the success and academic achievement of the students.

KEYWORDS: Handedness, Students, Academic Achievement

#### Date of submission: 17 July 2018, Date of acceptance: 19 Sep. 2018

**Citation:** Vahabi B, Vahabi A, Moradi M, Sayyad S, Ahmadian M, Narmashiri A. **The relationship between** handedness and academic achievement in high school students of Sanandaj City, Iran. Chron Dis J 2019; 7(4): 288-92.

# Introduction

Handedness is defined as the dominant preference of one hand for performing functional assignments that can be accomplished with one hand.<sup>1</sup> About 90% of people are right handed.<sup>2</sup> Despite this fact, only in 70% of the left-handed individuals, the right hemisphere is dominant for language.<sup>3</sup>

Corresponding Author: Ahmad Vahabi Email: vahabiahmad@gmail.com Structural and functional cerebral hemispheres have differences, and each of them has been specially trained for certain cognitive functions.<sup>4</sup> Human beings and their natural abilities may be described as superior to the right or superior to the left.<sup>5</sup> There are three different, even contradictory approaches, most of them try to justify the relationship between superiority and mental abilities of the people.<sup>6</sup>

The rate of the right-handedness and lefthandedness was 24.3% and 27.3%, respectively in the study by Noroozian et al.<sup>7</sup> The findings

288 Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019

of the study by Solgi and Alipour indicated that the right-handed students had a higher level of self-awareness, alertness, and social skills compared to the left-handed ones.<sup>4</sup> In another study, the level of emotional reactivity and anxiety was higher respectively in the lefthandedness and the right-handedness, and the difference was statistically significant, but there was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of stress and depression.8 This study was carried out with the aim of determining the relationship between handedness and academic achievement in high school students of Sanandaj City, Iran, in 2016.

# Materials and Methods

This was a cross-sectional study and the population of which consisted of high school students in Sanandaj. Using the following sample size formula, based on previous studies<sup>6</sup> and with  $\alpha = 0.05$  and  $\beta = 0.2$ , the sample size was obtained as 2630.

$$n = \frac{(Z_{1-\frac{\alpha}{2}} + Z_{1-\beta})^2 (S_1^2 + S_2^2)^2}{(\bar{x}_1 - \bar{x}_2)^2}$$
$$n = \frac{(1.96 + 0.86)^2 (12.39 + 9.98)^2}{(15.87 - 16.11)^2} \approx 2630$$

The data collected using the Annette's handedness questionnaire. The questionnaire was developed by Annette in 1967 and its was more than 0.80.9 reliability This questionnaire has been used in the studies by Bayrami et al.,<sup>10</sup> Taghizadeh et al.,<sup>11</sup> Azami et al.,12 and Jahangiri and Rouhi13 and its validity and reliability have been verified. The questionnaire included 12 items scored on a 5-point Likert scale. For each item, the subjects were asked about the preference in using the right or left hand and the scoring was based on the subject's response. The scores of +2, +1, and 0 indicated the options of the right hand

preference at all times, the right hand preference in most cases, and the lack of a preference for hand utilization, respectively. In addition, the scores -2 and -1 indicated the left hand preference in all cases and the left hand preference in most cases, respectively. The overall range of scores varied from -24 to +24 respectively for the left handedness and right handedness. Individuals who obtained a score of +9 or higher, -9 to +8, and -9 or lower in the test were regarded as the right-handed individuals, individuals without a preference, and the left-handed individuals, respectively.<sup>9</sup>

The data were analyzed using the SPSS software (version 20, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). To describe the collected data, descriptive statistics including frequency and mean and standard deviation (SD) were used. The Kolmogorov Smirnov (K-S) test was used to examine the normal distribution of the data. Regarding the non-normal distribution of the data, the Mann-Whitney, Kruskal-Wallis, and Spearman correlation coefficient tests were utilized.

# Results

The rate of response to the questionnaire was 94.4% and the mean handedness score in the students was  $16.75 \pm 11.99$ . Moreover, the mean age of the subjects was  $14.46 \pm 1.42$  years old, with the minimum and maximum age of 10 and 18 years old, respectively. Among the subjects, 190 (7.7%) and 2170 (87.4%) cases were respectively left-handed and right-handed and the others did not have a preference in using their hands.

The results of the study showed that there was a statistically significant difference between the educational grade and the academic achievement (P < 0.001). Other results and statistical analyses of this study are presented in tables 1 through 4.

Table 1. Mean age, grade, and academic achievement in high school students in

Sanandaj City, Iran, in 2016				
Variables	Mean ± SD	95% confidence interval		
Age	$14.60 \pm 1.42$	(14.55-14.66)		
GPA	$17.00 \pm 1.98$	(16.92-17.08)		
Academic achievement	$16.49 \pm 2.33$	(16.40-16.58)		
GPA: Grade point average				

**Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019** 289

Table 2. Relationship between handedness and academic achievement in high school students in
Sanandaj City, Iran, in 2016

Handedness	Mean academic achievement	Mean grade of academic achievement	$\mathbf{X}^2$	df	Р
Left-handed	16.31	1220.16	4.503	2	0.105
Right-handed	16.48	1238.32			
Non handedness	16.90	1359.27			

Findings of table 2 showed that there was no significant statistical relationship between handedness and academic achievement in the studied students.

#### Table 3. Relationship between academic achievement and gender in high school students in Sanandai City. Iran. in 2016

in Cananaaj Orty, nan, in 2010				
Gender	Mean academic achievement	Mean grade of academic achievement	Z	Р
Male	16.61	1282.65	-2.397	0.017
Female	16.41	1212.60		

The results presented in table 3 revealed that there was a significant statistical relationship between gender and academic achievement in the students studied (z = -2.397, P = 0.017).

# Table 4. Relationship between age and academic grade with academic achievement in high school students in Sanandaj City, Iran, in 2016

Variables	Spearman correlation coefficient	Р
Age	0.029	0.149
GPA	0.90	< 0.001
an		

GPA: Grade point average

The results of table 4 showed that there was a significant relationship between GPA (grade point average) and academic achievement (r = 0.90, P < 0.001), but there was no significant relationship between the students' age and their academic achievement (P > 0.050).

# Discussion

This study, performed to examine the relationship between handedness and academic achievement among high school students in Sanandaj City in 2016, indicated

that the amount of left-handedness among the studied students in this study was 7.7%. This rate has been reported to be between 6% and 20% in other studies.<sup>14,15</sup> The results of this study are consistent with the findings of the studies in Rajasthan<sup>14</sup> and Kenya.<sup>15</sup> The findings of this study indicated that academic achievement in the right-handed, left-handed, and double-handed students (without the preference of hand use) was not statistically significant. This finding is consistent with the findings of the study by Heydari et al.<sup>2</sup>

Vahabi et al.

There are some points in examining the causes of differences, including the location of study, age of the subjects, and their educational levels. Other factors influencing the study results in most studies are cultural factors that can have a significant impact on the use of the tools. In some cultures, lefthanded people are seen as people with disabilities, so they have to reluctantly use their right hand and be introduced as the individuals with right-handedness.

On the other hand, according to studies, the distribution and proportion of the leftvary in different countries, handedness regions, and times. This can be indicative of the impact of the mental development conditions, cultural factors, and changes in educational management.<sup>2</sup> The findings of this study showed that there was no significant difference between the scores of the male and female students and their handedness. This finding is consistent with the findings of the study by Alipour and Kalantarian.<sup>6</sup> The results of the study showed that there was a significant difference between the academic achievement and grade, the birth rate, the

290 Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019

education level, the household parents' economic status, and the presence of a person with genetic disorders in the family. These findings are as follows; the tenth grade had higher scores than the other grades, the students who were the first babies of the family also had higher academic achievement compared to others. This difference can be attributed to the fact that the first-born children have more opportunities and facilities, and most of them may be the only child of the family who are provided with more facilities and their parents spend more money on their success.

One of the most striking findings in this study was that the students living in a family with a member with a genetic disorder had a lower level of educational achievement compared to others. This finding, beside a genetic effect, could have other causes, including the negative impact of the people with disabilities in the family on other members, including students.

# Conclusion

The results of the study indicated that there was no significant statistical relationship between academic achievement and handedness. This valuable finding revealed that handedness do not play an important role in academic achievement of the students, however other factors contribute to the students' achievement as well.

# **Conflict of Interests**

Authors have no conflict of interests.

# Acknowledgments

The authors would like to appreciate all students and the general directorate of department of education in Kurdistan Province and the education offices of districts 1 and 2 of Sanandaj, as well as the school principals and teachers for their undisputed cooperation. The financial support of this study was provided by the vice chancellor for research and technology of Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences with the number 173/1395. The researchers also appreciate the student research committee of Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences for their cooperation in approving this project.

# References

- 1. Cavill S, Bryden P. Development of handedness: Comparison of questionnaire and performance-based measures of preference. Brain Cogn 2003; 53(2): 149-51.
- Heydari S, Heydari M, Ahmari Tehran H, Seyedfarajollah A, Khoshkdahan M, Mojahedi Z. The relationship between handedness and academic achievement of students in Governmental Universities of Qom. Iran J Med Educ 2015; 15(3): 475-80. [In Persian].
- Kirveskari E, Salmelin R, Hari R. Neuromagnetic responses to vowels vs. tones reveal hemispheric lateralization. Clin Neurophysiol 2006; 117(3): 643-8.
- 4. Solgi Z, Alipour A. Comparison of social intelligence and emotional intelligence in university students according to their handedness. Journal of Applied Psychology 2013; 6(4): 103-19.
- Ghayas S, Adil A. Effect of handedness on intelligence level of students. J Indian Acad Appl Psychol 2007; 33(1): 85-91.
- 6. Alipour A, Kalantarian S. The study of the relationship between handedness and academic achievement in secondary school students. Journal of School Psychology 2012; 1(1): 7-26. [In Persian].
- Noroozian M, Lotfi J, Gassemzadeh H, Emami H, Mehrabi Y. Academic achievement and learning abilities in left-handers: Guilt or gift? Cortex 2002; 38(5): 779-85.
- 8. Alipour A, Abaspour P, Ghorbani T, Komasi S. The comparison of empathy, stress, anxiety, and depression in left-handed and right-handed medical and paramedical students. J Clin Res Paramed Sci 2015; 4(3): 195-203. [In Persian].
- 9. Annett M. A classification of hand preference by association analysis. Br J Psychol 1970; 61(3): 303-21.
- Bayrami M, Bakhshipour A, Hadavandkhani F. Schizotypy and handedness in nonclinical individuals: A study of an Iranian sample population. J Arak Uni Med Sci 2010; 13(3): 21-7. [In Persian].
- 11. Taghizadeh F, Daneshfar A, Shojaei M. Effects of lateral preference of eye and hand pattern, task and skill level on performance of table tennis players.

Chron Dis J, Vol. 7, No. 4, Autumn 2019 291

Motor Behavior 2014; 6(15): 127-40. [In Persian].

- Azami S, Makvand Hosseini S, Dokani M, Zamirinejad S. Brain cortical activity change patterns under positive and negative affective induction with consideration of extraversion and neuroticism. J North Khorasan Univ Med Sci 2014; 5(4): 687-96. [In Persian].
- Jahangiri N, Rouhi Z. The comparison of laterality pattern of language perception in Down syndrome and typical children. Journal of Language and Literature Faculty of Letters and Humanities 2008;

40(4): 135-52. [In Persian].

- 14. Kandpal DC, Kandpal M. A comparative study of left handed adolescent and right handed adolescent student with regards to socio psychological variable and their academic achievements. Scholarly Research Journal for Interdisciplinary Studies 2016; 4(25): 2422-6.
- 15. Malusi BM. Challenges left-handed students face in Kenyan girls' secondary school science laboratories. Afr J Chem Edu 2014; 4(3): 150-81.

**Chronic Diseases Journal** 

DOI: 10.22122/cdj.v7i4.477

**Published by** Vesnu Publications

Chron

# Gastric varices: Endoscopic view

# Mohsen Rajabnia<sup>1</sup>, Jalal Naghshbandi<sup>1</sup>

1 Liver and Digestive Research Center, Research Institute for Health Development, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

# **Images in Clinical Medicine**

Date of submission: 17 Sep. 2018, Date of acceptance: 22 Dec. 2018

A 60-year-old man was referred to our clinic with new-onset dyspepsia. Our patient was a known case of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), hypertension, diabetes mellitus type II, and coronary artery disease (CAD). On physical examination, vital signs were normal, but mild splenomegaly was noted that was confirmed by abdominal ultrasound.

Due to unexplained dyspepsia and age over 40 years, the patient underwent upper gastrointestinal endoscopy. No abnormality was seen in the esophagus, but large gastric fundic varices were seen (Figure 1). Biopsy urease test was performed as diagnostic test



Figure 1. Large gastric fundic varices

for Helicobacter pylori, which was positive.<sup>1,2</sup>

Finally, the patient was discharged with propranolol (nonselective beta blocker) as a primary prophylaxis against variceal hemorrhage, and antibiotic regimen to treat Helicobacter pylori.<sup>1,2</sup>

NAFLD is a sinusoidal cause of noncirrhotic portal hypertension; therefor, if these patients present with upper gastrointestinal symptoms such as dyspepsia or bleeding, gastric or esophageal varices should be considered.

# **Conflict of Interests**

Authors have no conflict of interests.

# References

- 1. Suzuki S, Esaki M, Kusano C, Ikehara H, Gotoda T. Development of Helicobacter pylori treatment: How do we manage a ntimicrobial resistance? World J Gastroenterol 2019; 25(16): 1907-12.
- Vine LJ, Subhani M, Acevedo JG. Update on management of gastric varices. World J Hepatol 2019; 11(3): 250-60.

Citation: Rajabnia M, Naghshbandi J. Gastric Varices: Endoscopic View. Chron Dis J 2019; 7(4): 293.

**Corresponding Author:** Mohsen Rajabnia Email: dr.rajabnia@outlook.com